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1introde introduction

One of 17 area health services in NSW, Central Sydney Area Health Service manages all public

healthcare within its geographic boundaries, incorporating 71 suburbs.

Its committed staff provided more than 134,000 inpatient and 1,989,000 outpatient treatments

during 1998/99, and delivered 5,393 babies.

CSAHS has an intricate system of specialty Statewide referral services offering needs-specific

healthcare from more than 90 sites. They include 10 hospitals, one nursing home, a family care

centre, an institute of forensic medicine, and an extensive network of community health centres.

CSAHS is uniquely positioned to welcome the new millennium. Through the $360 million

Resource Transition Program, a massive construction and remodelling of hospitals and facilities,

CSAHS is building today, caring for tomorrow.
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CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE IS COMMITTED TO

working with the people of central Sydney to promote, protect and maintain

their level of wellbeing 

fulfilling Statewide and national responsibilities to provide a high level of

quality specialist services 

providing, in conjunction with the tertiary education sector, professional

health education and training, and

encouraging and fostering research.

CSAHS is primarily funded by NSW Health. It was formed on August 1 1988 and charged with full responsibility 

for the effective management of the health service. CSAHS operates under the Health Services Act, 1997.

v isiworking as a healthcare
organisation which,
through its
achievements, sets
standards that are
emulated by others

mission
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csahsCSAHS IS DEDICATED TO PROTECTING, PROMOTING AND

MAINTAINING THE HEALTH AND INDEPENDENCE OF THE

RESIDENTS IN THE AREA AND THE WIDER COMMUNITY

on
commitment of service

GUARANTEE OF SERVICE

CSAHS aims to offer the best quality services to all
patients by providing:

• information about their health condition and services  

• world-class standards in healthcare and technology

• a friendly and cooperative approach to service delivery 

• access to the range of hospital and community-based health 
services

• staff who care 

• training for the future generations of healthcare 
professionals, and

• a sound research base to extend our knowledge of illness, 
its treatment and prevention.

CSAHS offers a wide range of health services in
different care settings and which require different
skills, resources and management.

These cover:

• community services and domiciliary care 

• ambulatory care 

• inpatient care 

• convalescent support care 

• long-term care 

• health promotion and illness prevention activities, and

• public health activities.

Each setting has staff especially selected for their expertise to

assist in every way.

CSAHS ensures that staff are competent, confident and
well trained to provide care and services in a secure
and safe environment.

CSAHS’s commitment is to:

• recognise individuals and include where appropriate family, 
friends and carers in programs 

• respect cultures, religious beliefs and conscientious convictions 

• provide services in a non-discriminatory manner regardless 
of race, age, gender, sexual preference, marital status, 
intellectual or physical impairment 

• discuss with patients options for treatment, indicating 
benefits and risks, enabling informed decisions

• include patients in all aspects of their care by ensuring 
ongoing communication

• respect patients’ privacy and maintain all information as

confidential, and

• arrange interpreter services to assist if needed.

Staff at CSAHS welcome comments and suggestions that would

help improve the care and services provided.
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4highlihighlights

ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE YEAR

4

• During 1998/99 there was a focus on improving systems to

ensure that those patients most urgently requiring care in

emergency departments or booked elective surgery received

prompt access to hospital services. In CSAHS’s emergency

departments the Statewide benchmarks for the time taken to

see the most urgent patients were bettered, with 100 per cent

of patients requiring resuscitation treated within two minutes

and 84 per cent of patients requiring emergency care treated

within 10 minutes. These results represented a significant

improvement over the 1997/98 performance (98 per cent and

73 per cent respectively). Prompt access to booked elective

surgery was maintained, with the average waiting time at

June 1999 of 0.8 months being the lowest reported by area

health services in NSW and well below the State average of

1.3 months. 

• Stage I of CSAHS’s community health master plan will be

implemented at the Inner West Health Centre. The site

provides the opportunity for the complementary and

compatible private sector developments integrated with a

substantial and comprehensive community health centre

together with a special care nursing home.

• As part of Concord Hospital’s $61.8 million Resource

Transition Program (RTP), this year saw the approval of the

hospital’s project definition plan. In line for major works will

be the main clinical services building, completion of

schematic design, commencement of the supply warehouse

and installation of the major airconditioning plant.

• Seven facilities were surveyed by the Australian Council on

Healthcare Standards, and to June 30 1999, six had received

notification of accreditation.

• The first phase of the NSW Cervical Screening Program was

completed. This saw a 10 per cent increase in the screening

rates in the Canterbury, Marrickville and Ashfield areas.

• The $80 million redeveloped Canterbury Hospital was

officially opened by the Premier of NSW Bob Carr and the

Minister for Health Dr Andrew Refshauge. 

Attended by more than 1,500 people the community was

entertained by local schools, dancers, singing troupes and the

NSW Ambulance Brass Band. A major attraction was a

performance by the popular Wiggles group.

• Minister for Health Dr Andrew Refshauge introduced a

medical emergency team (MET) system to anticipate and

respond to patients whose health may be unstable prior to

their requiring resuscitation. The initiative was implemented

following best practice guidelines developed under the

National Demonstration Hospitals Program. Canterbury

Hospital is the first in the world to develop paediatric criteria

as part of this system.

• A smoke free workplace policy was developed for

implementation throughout CSAHS, as part of a NSW Health

objective. The policy will support attempts by patients and

staff to quit smoking because there will be fewer

opportunities to smoke.

• The Neonatal Medicine Department at King George V Hospital

topped the clinical, teaching and research performance review

of NSW neonatal intensive care units. It is the most efficient

and effective in clinical care, and has an innovative

community integrated post discharge care program. It cares

for more rural mothers and their sick newborns than any other

metropolitan unit, and is the only department of neonatology

with National Health and Medical Research Council support.

• A clinical school was established at Concord Hospital for its

Department of Physiotherapy in collaboration with the

University of Sydney. This model of clinical education for

undergraduate physiotherapists has been adopted by other

area health services in NSW.
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• The Australian National Liver Transplantation Unit’s bioartificial

liver support program was selected as one of 10 for Federal

Government support in an Australia-China initiative.

• The rebuilding program began for the Joint Replacement and

Rheumatology Unit, with the structural works well-advanced.

Orthopaedic and rheumatology facilities will be relocated

from Rachel Forster Hospital to the Queen Elizabeth II building

at Camperdown. The unit will accommodate 64 beds, day care

facilities, diagnostic services, non-inpatient clinics and three

operating theatres.

• Totalling more than $238 million, redevelopment works

progressed at RPA, the largest component of the RTP. Design

development was completed and major construction contracts

awarded.

• Reconstruction works were completed at the United Dental

Hospital of Sydney, including general dentistry, laboratories and

faculty administration as well as a lift refurbishment and the

relocation of staff facilities in preparation for redevelopment.

• A strategic plan for sexual health services was launched in

April. Developed after extensive consultation with health

professionals and key community groups, the plan outlines

strategies for providing clinical, health promotion and

education services to identified priority populations. The

target groups for sexual health services include men who

have sex with men, people living with HIV/AIDS, some

members of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

communities, injecting drug users and sex workers.

CSAHS PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Bed Capacity

Total beds at June 30 2,337 2,189 1,955

Average available beds 2,265 2,099 1,973

Inpatients

Admissions during the year 137,338 136,512 132,181

Total patients treated 139,136 138,415 134,008

Number in hospital at June 30 1,903 1,827 1,661

Number of operations 39,133 38,239 38,511

Bed days of inpatients treated 711,842 681,973 633,340

Babies

Number of live births 5,022 4,751 5,390

Bed days of newborn babies 16,115 15,591 17,154

Outpatients

Total occasions of service 2,067,411 2,128,134 1,989,314

Averages

Daily average of inpatients 1,906 1,826 1,688

Adjustment for outpatients 589 604 568
and babies

Adjusted daily average 2,495 2,430 2,256

Average stay of inpatients (days) 5.2 5.0 4.8

Bed occupancy rate (%) 84.2 87.0 85.6

Staff Details

Staff employed at June 30 (EFT)

Nursing 3,382.4 3,416.8 3,294.5

Medical 1,499.6 1,165.5 956.9

Other 3,875.1 4,686.8 4,679.7

Total 8,757.1 9,269.1 8,931.1

* the reduction in medical EFT at June 30 1999 compared to 1998 is due to a

reclassifiaction of certain support services from medical to other during the 1998/99 year

** includes overtime components

** **

*
*
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chair
By any account 1998/99 was a most successful year for Central

Sydney Area Health Service.

Our Resource Transition Program started to take real shape

(although many of those shapes were holes in the ground) and it

remains on track as the foundation for our massive capital works

redevelopment agenda. Ministerial approval was secured for the

redevelopments at Concord Hospital to start, our wonderful new

hospital at Canterbury was opened and the planning for the Inner

West Health Centre commences the implementation of our

community health master plan.

Patient care remains our fundamental touchstone and during this

year we made important gains in improving our services to

patients in need of urgent treatment placing them well above the

Statewide benchmarks. Access to booked elective surgery

showed CSAHS with the lowest average waiting times of any

area health service in NSW.

I am especially proud of our record of financial management,

which allowed us to finish this year with a small accrued surplus

in funds within a budget that now exceeds 3/4 of a billion dollars.

When one considers the pressures on State and area health

service budgets, this is a remarkable achievement. Everybody has

contributed to this result and the board is most appreciative.

Our various facilities continue to provide national and

international leadership and standards of excellence. The

Neonatal Medicine Department at King George V Hospital topped

the clinical, teaching and research performance review of the

State’s neonatal intensive care units. The Australian National

Liver Transplantation Unit, based in CSAHS, was selected as one

of 10 initiatives advanced by the Federal Government in support

of its Australia-China links program. Royal Prince Alfred

Hospital’s IVF clinic was confirmed as having the highest success

rates for any public health access unit in NSW.

CSAHS is well placed to take advantage of major future

advantages in health and medicine. A recent Federal Government

report The Unstoppable Rise of E-Health draws attention to

fascinating and challenging developments in the provision of

health services through enhanced electronic technologies. We

have been pioneers in many of these early developments with

initiatives such as the mental health call centre operating out of

RPA and the telecardiology program at Concord Hospital.

I would like to thank my fellow board members, the chief

executive officer and her immediate leadership team and all the

staff, volunteers and supporters of CSAHS for their ongoing

commitment to excellence in health provision and for their role in

producing such an outstanding year of achievements which are

well reflected in this year’s annual report.

CHRISTOPHER PUPLICK

chairman’s report6
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7structorganisational structure

NSW MINISTER FOR HEALTH

Affiliated Entities

• Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home

• Central Sydney Scarba Service 

• Tresillian Family Care Centres

Internal Audit Manager

Director of
Health

Services

Deputy Chief
Executive

Officer

Director of
Corporate
Services

Director of
Finance

Director of
Health

Services
Planning and
Development

Director of
Nursing
Services

Clinical Directors

• Bone, Joint and Connective Tissue Service

• Cancer Service

• Cardiovascular Services

• Central Sydney Laboratory Service

• Dental Services

• Gastroenterology and Liver Services

• General, Geriatric and Rehabilitation

Medicine

• General Practice

• Imaging Services

• Mental Health Services

• Neurosciences

• Population Health and Drug & 

Alcohol Services

• Respiratory and Critical Care Services

• Women’s and Children’s Health 

Facility General Managers

• Balmain Hospital

• Canterbury Hospital

• Centre for Education and Information 

on Drugs and Alcohol

• Concord Repatriation General Hospital

• Division of General Practice

• Division of Population Health

• Drug & Alcohol Services

• HealthQuest

• NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine

• Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

• Rozelle Hospital

• United Dental Hospital 

CSAHS Executive 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dr Diana G Horvath AO, MB, BS (Hons),
MHP, FRACMA, FAFPHM, FCHSE

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Michael P Wallace MSc (Soc)

DIRECTOR OF HEALTH SERVICES

Dr Gregory Stewart MB, BS, MHP (Syd),
FRACMA, FAFPHM

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

Candy Cheng FCPA 

DIRECTOR OF HEALTH SERVICES PLANNING

AND DEVELOPMENT

Richard Gilbert BSc 

DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES

Jan Whalan BPharm, MPH, MBA 

DIRECTOR OF NURSING SERVICES

Joan Englert AM, RN, CM, MSc (Soc), BHA,
DipNAdmin, COTM, FCN (NSW), FCNA,
MINA, FAIM

NSW Health Director-General Chief Executive Officer Board of Directors
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districour district

CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE

8

One of 17 area health services in NSW, CSAHS is made 

up of the local government areas of Ashfield, Burwood,

Canterbury, Concord, Drummoyne, Leichhardt,

Marrickville, Strathfield, and parts of Sydney and 

South Sydney.

According to the 1996 Census there were 457,147 residents

within CSAHS boundaries. Of those, 4,378 identified themselves

as Aborigines or Torres Strait Islanders. CSAHS is culturally

diverse with 41.1 per cent of residents born overseas, compared

to 23 per cent of the population of NSW. Of the overseas-born

residents, 83.4 per cent were from non-English speaking

countries, most commonly China, Italy, Greece, Lebanon and

Vietnam, and require culturally appropriate health promotion

programs.

Of people older than five years in the CSAHS population, 46 per

cent speak a language other than English at home, compared to

21.4 per cent in NSW. About 10 per cent of residents have poor

language skills, needing professional interpreters.

Community health facilities 

a. Canterbury Community Health Centre

b. Canterbury Multicultural Youth Health Service

c. Bridgewater Centre

d. Aged and Extended Care Services, Concord

e. Child, Adolescent and Family Health Centre, Burwood

f. Living Skills Centre, Croydon

g. Ashfield Community Health Centre

h. Marrickville Child, Adolescent and Family Health Centre

i. Marrickville Living Skills Centre

j. The Jane Evans Centre, Newtown

k. Redfern Community Health Centre

l. Glebe Community Health Centre

m. Broadway Child, Adolescent and Family Health Centre

n. 491 Centre, Leichhardt

o. Cellblock Youth Health Centre, Camperdown

Early childhood health centres

Major sites  

1. Balmain Hospital

2. Canterbury Hospital

3. Concord Repatriation General Hospital

4. NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine

5. Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

a. Dame Eadith Walker Hospital

b. King George V Hospital

c. Rachel Forster Hospital

d. Thomas Walker Hospital, incorporating Rivendell Child,

Adolescent and Family Psychiatric Services

6. Rozelle Hospital

7. United Dental Hospital

Other sites

8. Centre for Education and Information on Drugs and Alcohol

9. HealthQuest

10. Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home

11. Tresillian Family Care Centres

12. Gladstone Hall

Ashfield

Balmain

Belmore

Burwood

Campsie

Concord

Drummoyne

Dulwich Hill

Earlwood

Five Dock

Glebe

Homebush West

Lakemba

Leichhardt

Marrickville South

Newtown

Redfern

Riverwood

Summer Hill

Ultimo

▲
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board
The NSW Government is committed to ensuring membership of

health service boards reflects the broader community. In filling

vacancies, clear priority is given to Aboriginal people, women

and people of non-English speaking backgrounds.

In accordance with this commitment, appointments based purely

on geographical zoning are no longer appropriate. Applications

for board vacancies are considered on a case-by-case basis with

due regard for the position of responsibilities of the respective

board.

Applications are sought and received by public advertisement by

the NSW Minister for Health, who makes recommendations to

Cabinet for approval. Cabinet has the power to reject an

application.

CSAHS board members serve up to a four-year term and board

meetings are held on the first Wednesday of every month.

CHRISTOPHER PUPLICK

Chairman BA (Hons) (Syd), MA (Syd) 

A member of the board since 1993

Chris Puplick is president of the Anti-Discrimination Board of

NSW and Privacy Commissioner of NSW. He chairs the Australian

National Council on AIDS and Related Diseases (ANCARD), the

AIDS Trust of Australia and the National Task Force on Whaling.

He is also a board member of the Griffin Theatre Company.

He is a former Senator for NSW; Shadow Minister for the

Environment, Arts, Heritage, Sport and Bicentenary; and Manager

of Opposition Business in the Senate.

CHARLES LINSELL

BA, DipEd, GradDipBusStudies (IR), RN

The staff-elected board member since 1992

Charles Linsell is the CSAHS Mental Health Services staff

education manager, council member of the NSW Nurses’ 

Association, member of the Nurses’ Registration Board and a

delegate to Central Sydney’s Industrial Consultative Committee.

He has worked in psychiatric nursing since 1974.

DR DIANA HORVATH AO

MB, BS (Hons), MHP, FRACMA, FAFPHM, FCHSE

Chief Executive Officer since 1992 

Dr Diana Horvath has been chairman of the National Health and

Medical Research Council, president of the Australian Hospital

Association and served a five-year term as a commissioner with

the Health Insurance Commission. She is currently a member of

the Trade Policy Advisory Council.

PETER FERNANDO

A member of the board since 1998

Peter Fernando is the deputy chief executive officer of Redfern’s

Aboriginal Medical Service. He began his career in Aboriginal

health as a liaison officer with Walgett Aboriginal Medical

Service, and at 31 is CSAHS’s youngest board member. Peter is

an active member of key organisations for youth and Aboriginal

health.

NEA GOODMAN

LLB (Hons Class I)

A member of the board since 1998

Nea Goodman is a lawyer with GIO Australia. She is a past

president of the Women Lawyers’ Association of NSW, and a

member of the 1980s Australian Law Reform Commission

Steering Committee that was formed to recommend government

action on equity for women. She is also a member of The

Administrative Decisions Tribunal for the State of NSW.

CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE

board10
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d JOHN LUTMAN OAM

BPharm

A member of the board since 1988. Term ended July 1998. 

John Lutman has been a community pharmacist for more than 30

years in the Strathfield area and is a former district mayor. He is

a Paul Harris Rotary Fellow.

PROFESSOR JOHN YOUNG AO

Deputy Chairman DSc, MD, FAA, FRACP 

A member of the board since 1989

Professor John Young served as the board’s chairman from

January to July 1993. He was Dean of the Faculty of Medicine at

the University of Sydney from 1989 until March 1996 when he

resigned to take up a full-time appointment as Pro-Vice

Chancellor of the University’s College of Health Sciences which

encompasses the faculties of Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing,

Health Sciences and the Department of Pharmacy.

FRANCES CAROLAN

A member of the board since 1996

Frances Carolan has worked extensively as a clinical nurse

specialist, primarily at Canterbury Hospital, for 31 years. The past

16 years have been concentrated in the hospital’s administration,

most recently as operations nurse manager. Mrs Carolan has held

various representative positions including staff-elected

representative of the Lang Area Health board 1986-88 and

occupied the position of vice-chairman from 1987-88. She is a

member of the NSW College of Nursing and the NSW Justices’

Association and is Lady Mayoress of Canterbury.  

OLWYN MACKENZIE

BA (Hons) (Syd)

A member of the board since 1996

Olwyn Mackenzie has been active for many years in several

community organisations concerned with health, women’s

welfare and indigenous issues. She is a member of the

Consumer’s Health Forum, the Commercial Tribunal of NSW, and

the Kings Cross Towards 2000 Committee. Mrs Mackenzie served

for many years as an elected member in local government on

Ryde and Bellingen councils and was formerly a member of the

Bellinger River District Hospital board.

DR JOHN MEADTH

MB, BS

A member of the board since 1997

Dr John Meadth is a general practitioner in Concord. He is

chairman of the Medical Panel for Cricket NSW and of the

Department of General Practice at Strathfield Private Hospital.

Dr Meadth is also a board member of the Leukaemia Foundation

of New South Wales.

MARIA PETHARD

Treasurer BSc (Hons), DipCompSc, FASCT, AIBF (Aff), ASIA

A member of the board since 1997

Maria Pethard is Banca Commerciale Italiana’s chief

representative for Australia, New Zealand and the South Pacific.

She is a former physics lecturer at the University of Sydney and

has worked for the CSIRO and as a visiting Fellow at the

Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Boston, US. Ms Pethard

is a member of the Executive Committee and the National

Congress Committee of the Australian Society of Corporate

Treasurers and has been president of the Overseas Bankers’

Association of Australia.  

NADA ROUDE

BA (Hons) (Syd)

A member of the board since 1996

Nada Roude is a senior liaison officer with the Ethnic Affairs

Commission of NSW. She trained as a bilingual health educator

and has worked with many community organisations, including

Arabic-speaking and Muslim groups. Ms Roude is an experienced

welfare and community development worker. 

GWYNN BOYD

A member of the board since 1997

Gwynn Boyd is an associate director with the Corporate Finance

Group of Macquarie Bank. He is a former regular soldier who saw

active service in South Vietnam and he is active in affairs relating

to the veteran community, particularly as chairman of the Legacy

Foundation and as a director of Sydney Legacy Appeals Fund.

11
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The Corporate Plan provides the framework for CSAHS’s vision,

mission, goals and objectives. The CSAHS/NSW Health

Performance Agreement, which is developed, reviewed and

agreed annually, includes CSAHS’s objectives and reflects

national health priorities, NSW Health goals, and local targets.

CSAHS’s objectives and achievements for the year are

summarised in the following table. Details of achievements can

be found in the CSAHS 1998/99 Performance Agreement Annual

Report. A complete list of future objectives is documented in the

1999/2000 CSAHS/NSW Health Performance Agreement.

OBJECTIVES TARGETS 1998/99 OUTCOMES FUTURE GOALS

IMPROVE HEALTH

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health

• Increase the participation of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people in the development, planning
and delivery of health services

• Improve the environmental health
infrastructure in Aboriginal
communities

Mental Health

• Adopt the spirit of the national
standards for rights, consumer and
carer protection, integration and
delivery of care

• Develop a metro regional partnership
agreement with Aboriginal Medical
Service (AMS) 

• Implement services across priority
areas 

• Continue implementation of the EQuIP
program through the establishment of
working groups, completion of the
EQuIP cycle, participation in quality
improvement processes, and focus on
continuum of care  

• Maintain accreditation status for
hospital services and attain
accreditation status of community
services

• CSAHS-wide client registration
capability for mental health services

• Partnership Agreement is being
drafted

• An Indigenous Sexual Health Sexually
Transmissible Infection Strategy has
been developed by CSAHS Sexual
Health Service and implementation is
under discussion with AMS through a
joint working group

• A project has commenced examining
options to improve Aboriginal
women’s access to the birthing
services in CSAHS

• Working groups established for
information management, human
resources management, safe practice
and environment. Continuum of care is
addressed through existing committee
framework

• 3-year accreditation status achieved
for Rozelle Hospital, Rivendell Unit
and Missenden Unit, RPA

• All service components participate in
quality improvement processes

• Continuum of Care function actively
reviewed in conjunction with National
Mental Health Standards

• Further develop partnership
agreements

• Establish number of clients who have
a GP actively involved in their care

• Continue to implement quality
framework based on the EQuIP
program that reflects the national
standards for mental healthcare

CORPORATE AND FUTURE OBJECTIVES
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OBJECTIVES TARGETS 1998/99 OUTCOMES FUTURE GOALS

Cancer Services

• Improve compliance with Section 59
of the Public Health Act 1991 and
Tobacco Advertising Prohibition Act
(TAPA) 1991

• Increase sun protection measures with
organisations, including schools and
sports groups

• Increase the number of cancer
services treating in accordance with
evidence-based clinical guidelines

Coronary Heart Disease (CHD)

• Improve effectiveness of cardiac
rehabilitation and secondary
prevention interventions

Infectious Diseases

• Achieve 90% immunisation rate for 
children 1-6 years

• Reduce the incidence and disease
progression among people with HIV

Drug & Alcohol Services

• Improve prevention and treatment
services for youth with, or at risk of,
drug problems

• Ensure 70% of retailers comply with
Section 59 of the Public Health Act
1991 and TAPA 

• Approach organisations and schools to
implement guidelines for sun
protection 

• Report on clinical guidelines
developed/implemented for optimal
cancer care

• Proportion of CSAHS inpatients with 
a discharge diagnosis of acute
myocardial infarction (AMI) or
unstable angina pectoris (UAP), 
who receive inpatient rehabilitation
assessment and advice regarding
follow-up care (excluding tertiary
referrals) to increase by 2% 

• Decrease the percentage of children
who are 90 days overdue from follow-
up, from the current rate of 27.5%

• Maintain appropriate access to
services through provision of after-
hours clinics

• Conduct focus groups with at risk
young people (awaiting findings from
NSW Health Alcohol Strategy)

• In 1998, 76% of retailers complied
with the legislation

• Policy and implementation strategies
being developed in association with
Canterbury/Inner West Junior Cricket
Association for Sunsmart Sport

• 3 primary schools developed written
policies and 3 revised policies for sun
protection

• Policy development workshops held
for CSAHS primary schools

• Clinical pathways developed or
guidelines implemented in medical,
radiation and surgical oncology,
melanoma, haematology, breast
surgery and urology  

• Meetings held with relevant parties to
establish database

• Review of CSAHS cardiac
rehabilitation planned for late 1999

• CSAHS cardiac rehabilitation staff
involved in shared care program with
GPs. A resource manual is being
developed by CSAHS and Division 
of General Practice for GPs

• A survey by CSAHS and the
Canterbury Division of GPs
documented at least 85%
immunisation rate

• HIV after-hours clinics and
haemophilia clinic maintained

• Inclusion of strategies to target youth
in CSAHS Hepatitis C Plan

• Initiatives in Health Gain for Children and
Youth of Central Sydney are being
implemented

• Extend strategies to reduce exposure
to environmental tobacco smoke,
including the first phase of CSAHS’s
smoke free workplace policy

• Continue implementing skin cancer
prevention strategies

• Develop sun protection policies with
local schools, sporting organisations
and venues

• Reduce CHD mortality for people 
aged 25-74

• Increase community physical activity

• Per capita, increase consumption of
breads, cereals, fruit and vegetables

• Undertake a follow-up pilot survey in
Canterbury area of immunised children

• Develop and implement local
strategies to improve immunisation
certificate documentation at school
entry

• Develop long term durg and alcohol
plan consistent with the NSW Drug
Summit - Government Plan of Action
1999
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OBJECTIVES TARGETS 1998/99 OUTCOMES FUTURE GOALS

IMPROVE ACCESS AND EQUITY

Waiting lists and Critical Care Management

• Improve overall emergency
department management

• Improve service delivery processes,
particularly for elective surgery and
bed management

Day Surgery

• Increase use of day surgery for
selected procedures

Aged Care Services

• Improve continuity of care for older
people

• Improve staff awareness of the needs
of people with dementia

Multicultural Health

• Improve health services for non-
English speaking background (NESB)
people in identified priority areas

• Provide people from NESB with
access to a professional healthcare
interpreter

• Percentage of patients presenting that
meet the triage category benchmark
(target to be changed annually). For
1998/99, Ctg 1: 98%, Ctg 2: 83%, 
Ctg 3: 72%, Ctg 4: 75%, Ctg 5: 85%

• Continuous improvement in the
management of patients waiting for
elective procedures and bed
management

• 41% of elective surgery performed on
same-day basis

• Average waiting time for aged care
assessment to be 8 working days

• Target training initiated and evaluated

• Promote physical activity in 6 NESB
groups

• Interpreter occasions of service at
target of 52,106

• Improved documentation and
managerial processes resulting in
benchmark being met in most months
for most categories

• Continual review of operations,
policies and procedures in place to
maintain high levels of achievement

• An Integrated Bed Management
Committee has been established and
is reviewing practices across facilities
in line with the Patient Management
Benchmarking Project

• 1998/99 average of 44%

• All assessments less than 8 working
days

• Orientation programs to specialty
clinical areas conducted for nursing
staff, 2 programs implemented for
multidisciplinary staff

• Classes for gentle exercises, walking,
learn-to-swim and Tai Chi

• 50,870 occasions of interpreter
service. Target not met due to
reduction in overall activities in
CSAHS facilities

• Language specific antenatal clinics
conducted weekly for Korean,
Vietnamese, Arabic and Chinese
women

• Increase percentage of all elective
surgery performed on a same-day
basis and patients admitted on the
day of their surgery

• Meet emergency department targets
for triage category benchmarks and
reduction in access block

• Work towards 60% by June 2001

• Reduce waiting time for aged care
assessment

• Identify new priority areas of need
and address information and service
availability, barriers to access and
appropriate models of service
provision

• Determine activity targets for
language services to optimise NESB
access to health services
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OBJECTIVES TARGETS 1998/99 OUTCOMES FUTURE GOALS

Maternal Child & Youth Health

• Focus on prevention and early
intervention in key areas of youth
need

• Increase identification and notification
of children at risk

Women’s Health

• Encourage and ensure women’s
participation in the planning, design
and implementation of initiatives
impacting on women’s health

Community Participation

• Ensure community participation in
health service decision making

• Plan assets to conform to service
delivery strategies within the health
service

• Manage capital projects within
approved criteria, meet service needs
to appropriate quality standards

Information Systems

• Ensure that CSAHS’s exposure to the
year 2000 problem is minimised
across critical information systems,
plant, equipment and other technology

• Establish interagency collaboration
through joint projects

• 200 staff trained in child protection
and/or recognition of child abuse

• Ongoing evidence of consultation,
averaging 3 meetings per year

• Continued appropriate inclusion of
community

• Demonstrated participation

• Implementation of CSAHS RTP (asset
strategic plans) by agreed target dates

• CSAHS develop, implement and
review risk management strategy

• Critical information systems, plant,
equipment and other technology are
able to continue to operate correctly
through and beyond 2000

• Consultations held between Drug &
Alcohol Services and other relevant
services about involvement in the
Health Promoting Schools project

• 1006 staff trained in child protection
and/or recognition of child abuse

• Ongoing consultations on domestic
violence, physical activity and
alternative birthing services for
Aboriginal women

• A CSAHS health plan draft was
completed

• Community representation on many
committees CSAHS-wide

• Projects proceeding in accordance
with NSW Health approvals 

• Contingency plan developed for
critical items, CSAHS and facility
contingency plans developed and
reviewed

• Year 2000 project teams have been
established to progress
rectification/replacement of critical
systems. Progress is being tracked
monthly and contingency plans
reviewed and modified as necessary

• Continue child protection training for
targeted staff

• Continue implementing strategies

• Establish percentage of CSAHS needs
assessments and plans conducted
during 1999/2000 that incorporate
community consultation

• Continue construction works within
approved budgets and time milestones

• Achieve deliverables as required by
Office of Information Technology

IMPROVE RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY

Financial and Asset Management
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PROVIDING THE BEST PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT IN WHICH TO

DELIVER PATIENT CARE

capital works

Director: Carol-Lynne Chard

BUILDING TODAY

The Resource Transition Program (RTP) is the largest project

under way at CSAHS, impacting on all clinical groups, facilities

and staff. 

The RTP represents:

• the fair and equitable distribution of health resources –

money, people and facilities

• a period of transition and change in preparation for the 

future, and

• a program of capital works which will provide the best

physical environment in which to deliver patient care.

An integrated program of works with a total forecast cost of

$360 million, the RTP is in its third year and is progressing on

time and within budget. 

It includes the following developments:

• Royal Prince Alfred Hospital including the Joint Replacement

and Rheumatology Unit

• Concord Hospital mental health projects including the

Dementia Care Nursing Home

• Community Health, and

• special projects and infrastructure work.

CARING FOR TOMORROW

The RTP will ensure that CSAHS’s model of care will be reflected

across all hospitals and healthcare facilities within its

administration. This model acknowledges that patient care does

not end with the period of treatment, nor does it begin with the

first symptoms. Rather, it sets out to provide population health

information and advice, encouraging the central Sydney

community to take control of their wellbeing through healthier

lifestyles. It acknowledges that with lower lengths of stay in

hospitals patients may need assistance following their discharge.

The RTP will ensure that comfortable, flexible and patient-

friendly environments are provided with diagnostic groups

practising in close proximity.

Community health

Stage 1 of CSAHS’s community health master plan will be

implemented at the Inner West Health Centre. The site provides

the opportunity for the complementary and compatible private

sector developments integrated with a substantial and

comprehensive community health centre together with a special

care nursing home.

Other community health projects include the redevelopment of

the Marrickville Community Centre, the establishment of

additional health services at Concord Hospital, and the

consolidation and enhancement of the eastern sector services at

Redfern and Camperdown.  
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Concord Repatriation General Hospital

This year has seen the approval of the project definition plan for

the main clinical services building, completion of schematic

design, commencement of the supply warehouse and installation

of the major airconditioning plant.

Development at Concord Hospital will see the refurbishment of

wards and patient areas including the extension of the multi-

block to accommodate all services within the main building.

Other works include the demolition of outmoded buildings to

allow for the construction of the ANZAC Health and Medical

Research Institute.

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

During the year the design development was completed and

major construction contracts were awarded for the east campus.

The total redevelopment of the campus will include a new

clinical services building to complement the existing Edinburgh

block and replace many of the outmoded ward and service

structures.

The redevelopment program began for the Joint Replacement

and Rheumatology Unit, with the structural works reaching a

well-advanced stage. Orthopaedic and rheumatology facilities

will be relocated from Rachel Forster Hospital to the Queen

Elizabeth II building at Camperdown. This unit will accommodate

64 beds, day care facilities, diagnostic services, non-inpatient

clinics and three operating theatres.

Thomas Walker Hospital

The heritage estate, which contains Thomas Walker and Dame

Eadith Walker hospitals, will undergo conservation,

refurbishment and essential maintenance works.

United Dental Hospital

UDH is being fully refurbished in keeping with the needs of

modern dentistry. The Faculty of Dentistry will be collocated

within the hospital, creating a model for patient-focused research

and education.

Areas completed this year included general dentistry,

laboratories and faculty administration as well as a lift

refurbishment contract and the relocation of staff facilities 

in preparation for their redevelopment.

17
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B A L M A I N H O S P I T A L

Booth Street Balmain NSW 2041

Phone: (02) 9395 2111

Facsimile: (02) 9395 2020

Email: zoe@bal.cs.nsw.gov.au

General Manager: Ken Cahill

Established in 1885, Balmain Hospital specialises in aged care

and rehabilitation as well as general medicine.  It operates a

unique general practice casualty department in conjunction with

local doctors and the Division of General Practice.

The hospital is the administrative centre for community-based

aged care services.  

During the year, the Strength Training Rehabilitation and

Outreach Needs in Geriatric Medicine clinic was established. 

It uses resistance training exercise in the treatment of conditions

common in ageing such as arthritis, gait and balance disorders,

frailty, depression and diabetes.

A new enteral feeding system was introduced. The closed system

reduces risk of contamination, enabling feeds to hang for longer

periods in the ward. Eight enteral feeding pumps were purchased

with funds raised at the hospital’s annual fete.

The hospital was accredited by the Australian Council on

Healthcare Standards for three years.

A joint new graduate rotation scheme between Balmain and

Royal Prince Alfred hospitals has proved to be a successful

recruitment and retention strategy for Balmain.

The hospital scored 64.1 per cent in the NSW Health

Occupational Health, Safety and Rehabilitation Numerical Profile,

which reflected the continuing commitment of staff to safety in

the workplace. This was one of the highest scores in CSAHS.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 256.6 253.82 251.4

Average Available Beds 91 96 93

Inpatient Bed Days 29,518 30,036 29,826

Total Admissions 2,527 2,558 2,526

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 88.6 86.4 87.2

Average Length of Stay (days) 11.7 11.8 12.3

ENIOOS 75,118 80,927 82,133

C A N T E R B U R Y H O S P I T A L

Canterbury Road Campsie NSW 2194    

Phone:  (02) 9787 0000

Facsimile: (02) 9787 0031

Email: gensec@crgmail.crg.cs.nsw.gov.au

General Manager: Peter Clout

The newly redeveloped $80 million Canterbury Hospital was

officially opened by NSW Premier Bob Carr and Minister for

Health Dr Andrew Refshauge in November 1998.

The opening of this 208-bed hospital followed two years of

demolition and rebuilding into one of the most modern facilities

in the State.

Surgical and maternity units returned to the redeveloped hospital

in July 1998 which ensured that a full range of services could be

offered to the community of the Canterbury local government

area and parts of Ashfield and Marrickville.

Services at Canterbury Hospital include a 24-hour emergency

department, medical and surgical, aged care and rehabilitation,

paediatrics, obstetrics, neonatal, maternity, gynaecology,

orthopaedics, inpatient, intensive care/coronary care, operating

theatres, day procedures and ambulatory care.

Formal recognition of three-year accreditation status was received

in May 1999 from the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards.

18
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During the year the 22-bed paediatric unit was opened to patients.

This is the first paediatric ward at Canterbury Hospital in 25 years. 

The hospital continues to gain a reputation as an educational

facility for students of all health disciplines, with the demands

made upon its excellent teaching facilities: 100-seat lecture

theatre, new library and computer training room and the Problem

Based Learning Room, an annexe of the University of Sydney

Faculty of Medicine.

A ball was held to celebrate the return of services and staff to

the rebuilt hospital. With 360 people attending it brought

together former chief executive officers, heads of departments,

community leaders and staff.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99#

Staff EFT 368.5 379.7 400.82

Average Available Beds 141 117* 173

Inpatient Bed Days 36,236 39,580 53,628

Total Admissions 7,533 7,643 13,029

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 68.6 90.2 95.5

Average Length of Stay (days) 4.8 5.2 5.0

Births 313 306 1,276

ENIOOS 151,415 152,474 142,940

* average available beds for obstetrics (based at KGV) represents average
number of beds occupied

# significant increases in 1998/99 reflect the opening of the fully functional 
new hospital

C O N C O R D R E P AT R I AT I O N G E N E R A L H O S P I T A L

Hospital Road Concord NSW 2139

Phone: (02) 9767 5000

Facsimile: (02) 9767 6991

Email: stations@crgmail.crg.cs.nsw.gov.au

Group General Manager: Dr Peter Kennedy

Executive Director: Matthew Daly

Concord Hospital was established in 1941 as the 113th

Australian General Hospital. 

It is a major tertiary referral centre servicing Sydney's inner west

and provides a wide range of medical, surgical and diagnostic

services. Specialties include burns, colorectal, cardiology, cancer
and geriatrics.

Planning for the hospital’s $61.8 million redevelopment continued,

with construction due to begin in the coming financial year.   

Concord Hospital's strong commitment to and link with the

veteran and war widow community has been further augmented

by the establishment of a veteran liaison service to provide

personal contact on matters relating to new and enhanced

services on campus.

During this year, an innovative centre opened at Concord Hospital

for sufferers of dementia and Parkinson's disease. The

Neurodegenerative Disorders Education and Management

Service provides specialist multidisciplinary diagnosis,

management, education and support through the Parkinson's

Disease Clinic and the Cognitive Disorders Clinic.    

The newly established Prostate Centre gives veterans access to 

a specialised team providing a comprehensive one-stop clinic,

and recognises the importance of prostate health in the ageing

population.

r  facil
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Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 2,331 2,289 2,140.75

Average Available Beds 576 616 550

Inpatient Bed Days 186,135 184,634 176,140

Total Admissions 50,413 50,787 47,093

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 88.6 83.52 88.18

Average Length of Stay (days) 3.7 3.6 3.7

ENIOOS 337,404 337,013 329,362

N S W I N S T I T U T E O F F O R E N S I C M E D I C I N E

42-50 Parramatta Road Glebe NSW 2037

Phone: (02) 9660 5977

Facsimile: (02) 9552 1613

Email: acamer@iofm.cs.nsw.gov.au

Director: Associate Professor John Hilton

The NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine is the State forensic

medical facility. Its forensic pathology activities are conducted on

behalf of the State Coroner. It provides an autopsy service for high-

risk cadavers with disease processes such as HIV and hepatitis C. 

There are currently three counsellors offering support to families

of the deceased, one on a temporary basis. 

During 1998/99, staff members attended relevant educational

meetings in molecular biology, pathology and administration. 

Dr Christopher Lawrence visited Bosnia as part of the United

Nations war crimes investigation, Associate Professor 

John Hilton spent a week at the University of Papua New Guinea

sponsored by the PNG Medical Officer Nursing and Allied Health

Science Training Project (MONAHP) and Dr Johan Duflou left for

a sabbatical at the Medical Examiners Facility in Albequerque,

New Mexico.

The institute continued to be actively involved in the final phase

of the undergraduate medical program at the University of

Sydney, and with the early intakes into the graduate program. 

A broad spectrum of other groups were taught at the institute,

ranging from Australian Defence Force personnel to psychology

students.

Preparation for potential problems arising out of major

forthcoming sporting events continued.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 43.8 46.4 45.56

Admissions 2,572 2,832 2,698

Post-mortems 2,203 2,362 2,288

High-risk autopsies

(HIV, CJD, hep C) 35 173* 182

* reflects the introduction of hep C screening

R O Y A L P R I N C E A L F R E D H O S P I T A L

Missenden Road Camperdown NSW 2050

Phone: (02) 9515 6111

Facsimile: (02) 9515 6133

Email: gmsec@gmu.rpa.cs.nsw.gov.au

Group General Manager: Dr Peter Kennedy

Executive Director: Mary Sullivan (to April 1999)

Dr Philip Hoyle (Acting from May 1999)

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, the principal teaching hospital of

the University of Sydney, is one of Australia’s leading referral

hospitals. It offers advanced inpatient, non-inpatient, critical

care, diagnostic facilities, teaching and research to the

communities of central Sydney and NSW. A wide range of highly

specialised services is provided, giving the hospital a unique

capacity to deal with patients with complex care needs. Major

specialties include cardiology, cardiothoracic medicine, vascular
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21r facilsurgery, liver and kidney transplantation, renal medicine, cancer

care, obstetrics, neonatal medicine, gastrointestinal surgery,

head and neck surgery, plastic surgery, neurosurgery, neurology,

diagnostic imaging, interventional radiology, intensive care,

emergency medicine and respiratory medicine.

The hospital’s specialty services are provided from several sites:

King George V Memorial Hospital for Mothers and Babies

(Camperdown); Rachel Forster Hospital (Redfern); Dame Eadith

Walker Hospital (Concord West) and a variety of community

settings.

The major highlight of the year was the commencement of RPA’s

$238 million redevelopment. New facilities will include the Joint

Replacement and Rheumatology Unit to be located in the former

Queen Elizabeth II building, and the new clinical services block

being built on the eastern campus. The entire site is being re-

designed to allow integrated inpatient and ambulatory care, and

will allow RPA to maintain its leading role in healthcare, teaching

and research within NSW. 

In late 1998, the hospital was successfully surveyed by the

Australian Council on Healthcare Standards. The care given,

research and quality activities attracted strong positive comment.

RPA Series 4 aired from July 30 to November 19 1998 and rated

well nationally. It was the 28th most watched program in

Australia during 1998 with an average of 1.6 million viewers

each week.

RPA

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 3,249.2 3,425.2 3,428

Average Available Beds 797 672 737

Inpatient Bed Days 270,860 217,852 254,539

Total Admissions 66,621 63,296 60,335

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 87.9 90.91 89.6

Average Length of Stay (days) 4.1 3.7 4.2

ENIOOS 517,540 540,748 481,208

Births 4,709 4,599 4,117

Rachel Forster

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 127 138.3 133.9

Average Available Beds 68 68 56

Inpatient Bed Days 16,295 15,330 14,239

Total Admissions 2,489 2,448 2,462

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 62.2 63.32 70

Average Length of Stay (days) 6.6 6.3 5.8

ENIOOS 26,157 26,093 26,231

R O Z E L L E H O S P I T A L

Cnr of Church and Glover Streets Leichhardt NSW 2040

Phone: (02) 9556 9100

Facsimile: (02) 9818 5712

Email: robinsonl@rpamail.cs.nsw.gov.au

General Manager: Glenda Cleaver 

Established in 1876, Rozelle Hospital has 240 beds and provides

a comprehensive range of public mental health and drug and

alcohol services. It has specialised units including services for

war veterans, acute adult psychiatric and psychogeriatric

patients, as well as psychiatric rehabilitation. It was the first

NSW public psychiatric hospital to be accredited by the

Australian Council on Health Care Standards (ACHS) and is 

the leading psychiatric hospital in NSW. 

During 1998/99, Rozelle Hospital was accredited by ACHS as 

part of the hospital’s commitment to the ongoing improvement 

of services. Public education workshops were held for service

providers throughout the year on understanding mental illness.

Education for health professionals in prevention and intervention

of early psychosis was also conducted. Clinical practice guidelines

were introduced for acute adult psychiatric patients to improve

continuity of care between hospital and community settings.
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The Psychosis and Substance Use Project continued with its

efforts to improve service delivery to people with a psychotic

illness and problematic substance use. Key outcomes to date

include developing and implementing an educational workshop

for consumers and staff, establishing a special interest group of

key stakeholders and compiling and distributing health

promotional material for consumers, as well as developing

consumer support groups. 

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 732.4 682.1 655.4

Average Available Beds 288 277 250

Inpatient Bed Days 84,631 80,320 72,725

Total Admissions 2,948 2,695 2,648

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 80.6 79.5 82.4

Average Length of Stay (days) 28.4 29.5 29.5

ENIOOS 280,191 254,508 211,805

All figures include 10 beds at Burwood Respite Care Centre

U N I T E D D E N T A L H O S P I T A L O F S Y D N E Y

2 Chalmers Street Surry Hills NSW 2010

Phone: (02) 9293 3200

Facsimile: (02) 9293 3488

Email: margaret@udh3.udh.cs.nsw.gov.au

General Manager: Geoff Neems

The refurbishment of the United Dental Hospital (UDH) under the

CSAHS Resource Transition Program continued this year with the

completion of three major building and refurbishment projects:

oral surgery; hospital and university prosthetic laboratories; and

the upgrading of lifts.

UDH was established in 1904 and supplies dental care to

members of the community unable to afford private dental

treatment. Its staff, including 78 dentists, offer an extensive

range of services and outreach programs. General care is

available for refugees and individuals from outside CSAHS.

Specialist services cover a wide range of treatments, including

intra and extra-oral dental work, and are delivered Statewide.

UDH provides clinical teaching for undergraduate and

postgraduate dental students of the University of Sydney, as well

as TAFE students in prosthetics and dental assisting.

The Community Dental Health Department provides treatment for

intellectually and physically disabled patients and homeless

youth. The department also operates three mobile dental units

that visit homebound individuals in nursing homes, boarding

houses and private residences throughout Central and South

Eastern Sydney area health services. The Community Dental

Health Department has extramural clinics located at Concord, 

St George and Sutherland hospitals, as well as Peakhurst

Community Centre.

UDH runs five school dental clinics located at Clemton Park,

Homebush West, Marrickville, Newtown and Rozelle. An

integrated child and adult clinic operates at Canterbury Hospital.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 386.1 340.3 360

ENIOOS 254,791 168,569 195,580

P O P U L A T I O N H E A L T H

Level 6 Queen Mary building 

Grose Street Camperdown NSW 2050

Phone: (02) 9515 3270

Facsimile: (02) 9515 3282

Email: sainsburyp@phu.rpa.cs.nsw.gov.au

Director: Dr Peter Sainsbury 

The Division of Population Health is made up of eight specialties.

They are Aboriginal Health, Community Health Services, Health

Promotion Unit, Needs Assessment and Health Outcomes Unit,

Multicultural Health, Public Health Unit, Social Health Research

Unit and Women’s Health.

22
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23r faciliThe division has adopted a population-based approach to health.

This means staff:

• recognise that a range of social, environmental and

biomedical factors work together to influence health

• acknowledge that a wide range of coordinated services are

required to improve the health of individuals and population

groups

• give priority to population groups which have the poorest

health and the most social disadvantages 

• promote the generation, dissemination and application of

evidence in all health services; and

• encourage the involvement of community groups in the

planning, management and delivery of health services.

During the year, the new Canterbury Community Health Centre

was opened as part of the Resource Transition Program, and a

section of the former Sydney Home Nursing Service was

integrated into the existing Community Nursing Service.

Commonwealth funded projects were completed, including a

video and resources package on HIV/AIDS and hepatitis C for

non-English speaking background communities entitled

Everybody’s Business, and the development of models of care for

home visiting in early childhood health services. 

The Public Health Unit coordinated local action related to the

Sydney Water alerts, managed an outbreak of adenovirus

infection in a developmental disability facility, investigated a

cluster of tuberculosis in a Pacific Islander community and

coordinated local measles control as well as influenza

vaccination campaigns. 

Two awards were received for the Health Promotion Unit’s

projects: But There’s No Word for Scalds in Korean; and the

Domestic Violence campaign which was a joint initiative

between Central and South Western Sydney area health

services.

The Health Promotion Unit launched the smoke free homes

project with celebrity medico Dr Kerryn Phelps and star of The

Wiggles Dorothy the Dinosaur, as well as the falls prevention

strategic plan.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 253.5 263 329*

Occasions of Service 204,697 243,820 316,014*

New Registrations 15,937 14,713 22,501*

Notification of Disease 2,301 2,608 2,713

Health promotion projects 85 86 85

* incorporates new staff and services previously part of Sydney 
Home Nursing Service
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C E I D A

( C E N T R E  F O R  E D U C AT I O N  A N D  I N F O R M AT I O N  O N  D R U G S  

A N D  A L C O H O L )

Rozelle Hospital grounds

Balmain Road Rozelle NSW 2039

Phone: (02) 9818 0444

Facsimile: (02) 9818 0441

Email: ceida@ceida.cs.nsw.gov.au

Director: Helen Polkinghorne (to October 1998)

Lyn Stoker (from October 1998)

CEIDA was established in 1983. It is a prescribed organisation

under the Drug Offensive Act 1987 and functions within a health

promotion framework and harm minimisation philosophy. CEIDA

works with the alcohol and other drug (AOD) field to increase the

adoption of effective strategies that reduce AOD-related harm

within NSW. 

CEIDA does this by:

• coordinating and advising on training and development

programs that will assist organisations and agencies develop

knowledge of, and skills in, effective strategies

• ensuring the field is aware of tools, resources, processes and

policies

• coordinating the participation of organisations and individual

workers in Statewide programs, and 

• producing and disseminating drug-related information and

resources Statewide through a range of media including the

www.ceida.net.au website and Connexions magazine.

During the year, CEIDA won a Commonwealth-funded Australian

Drug Information Network contract to provide a national one-stop

shop on drug information via a telephone service and website as

part of a consortium of agencies. CEIDA played a key role in the

organisation of the NSW Parliament Drug Summit held in May

1999, and launched a series of low literacy drug information 

resources as well as coordinated a quarterly seminar series with

the National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre.

Other activities included the coordination of a seminar and

information resources on the NSW Drug Court, and production of

naltrexone information pamphlets for the Commonwealth

Department of Health and Aged Care.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 44.6 42.3 33.4

G E N E R A L P R A C T I C E

37 Booth Street Balmain NSW 2041

Phone: (02) 9555 9266

Facsimile: (02) 9555 8221

Email: general@dgp.bal.cs.nsw.gov.au

Director: Professor Michael Mira

During the past year the Division of General Practice has

consolidated the existing activities including antenatal shared

care, diabetes shared care, the diabetes recall and reminder

system and consumer liaison. The division has also embarked on

several new program areas. 

It developed the concept of advanced care directives (living wills)

for central Sydney residents. These allow people to determine in

advance how they would like to be treated should they suffer

from a stroke for example, when they might not be fit to make

such decisions. A pilot program investigated the feasibility of GPs

working with their patients to complete an advanced care

directive. This program has included investigation of legal

aspects of advanced care directives and the significant amount of

education of staff at Concord Hospital.

Activities commenced in adolescent health, with a multi-faceted

project being implemented which aims to improve access for

adolescents in CSAHS, particularly to general practitioner

services. 
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Immunisation rates in CSAHS were determined through a

population survey. The results are encouraging with more than 87

per cent of central Sydney children appropriately immunised. 

The Division of General Practice looks ahead next year to

consolidate these activities and to continue working to enhance

integration of general practice and area health service care.  

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

GPs 496 590 520

Active Major Projects 15 10* 17

* reflects a change in funding

H E A L T H Q U E S T

Workforce Health Management

Level 2 187 Thomas Street Haymarket NSW 2000

Phone: (02) 9281 0811

Facsimile: (02) 9211 1060

Email: gapper@healthquest.gov.au

Director: Dr Helia Gapper

HealthQuest was established in 1963. It provides occupational

health management, including periodic and pre-placement health

assessments, fitness tests, medicolegal and second opinions,

occupational health and safety training, health promotion as well

as consultation. HealthQuest is a self-funded unit and

contractible to government or private sector employers.

HealthQuest provides a holistic approach to assessment with

consideration given to the environmental demands of the

employee’s job, their physical capabilities and the psychosocial

requirements that may impact on effective work performance.

Key indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 16.3 17.13 19.96

ENIOOS 14,460 19,489 18,901

O U R L A D Y O F L O R E T O N U R S I N G H O M E

Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home was established in 1936 and

managed by the Society of St Vincent de Paul from 1964.

The facility provided 135 residential aged care beds for long-term

accommodation and 30 beds for short-term respite/rehabilitation.

During the year, the Society of St Vincent de Paul made a decision

to redirect its aged care services to more needy areas and as a

result the nursing home was gradually downsized and closed on

March 31 1999.

Facility management worked with Central Sydney Area Health

Service to ensure a smooth transition for residents to facilities of

their choice and the transfer of staff to other areas within CSAHS.

T R E S I L L I A N F A M I L Y C A R E C E N T R E S

McKenzie Street Belmore NSW 2192

Phone: (02) 9787 0800

Facsimile: (02) 9787 0880

Email: justyna@tres.cant.cs.nsw.gov.au

President of Council: Bob Elmslie OAM

General Manager: David Hannaford

Tresillian has four centres where parents experiencing difficulties

with their baby or toddler can visit for professional help. They are

located in Belmore, Willoughby, Wollstonecraft and Penrith.
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As the largest organisation of its kind in Australia, Tresillian

offers a variety of services for parents, including a 24-hour

parents’ help line, a Statewide tertiary residential facility,

outreach programs and day-stay care. Tresillian’s education unit

worked with the University of Western Sydney in holding a

Graduate Certificate in Primary Health Care (Tresillian). The unit

developed a workshop program for parents with young babies in

conjunction with the Mater Misericordiae Hospital, North

Sydney.

Tresillian’s newest family care centre in Belmore was officially

opened by NSW Minister for Health Dr Andrew Refshauge in

December, along with radio personality Kaylee Harris and her 

son John.

More than 63,250 families used Tresillian Family Care Centres

this year.

A strategic plan was developed in close consultation with health

professionals and representatives of the community.

Changes to management included the resignation of two council

members, Frank Honan and Professor Mavis Bickerton. Three

new members were welcomed: former Wentworth Area Health

Service chief executive Tom Hamilton, accountant Warren Porter

and psychologist Beulah Warren.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 92 86.8 85.1

Average Available Beds 34 34.5 33.9

Inpatient Bed Days 11,166 10,897 10,683

Admissions 2,308 2,307 2,277

Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 89.3 86.1 86.3

Average Length of Stay (days) 4.9 4.7 4.7

26 other facilities continued
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BONE, JOINT AND CONNECTIVE TISSUE SERVICE

Clinical Director: Dr Peter Holman MB, BS (Syd), FRACS,

FAOrthA

CSAHS’s Bone, Joint and Connective Tissue Service encompasses

the departments of orthopaedics, rheumatology,

immunology/AIDS, faciomaxillary and dental surgery, trauma,

endocrinology, sports medicine, as well as plastic and

reconstructive surgery including burns. The services are spread

across RPA, Concord, Rachel Forster and Canterbury hospitals.

A combined degenerative joint diseases clinic was established

with the departments of rheumatology, orthopaedics and

rehabilitation at Concord Hospital for veterans and war widows.

Funded by a grant from the Department of Veterans’ Affairs, it

provides a one-stop clinic for the assessment and management

of degenerative joint diseases of the hip and knee.

Highlights included:

• Introducing new microsurgical equipment and techniques such

as microvascular stapling. These devices have seen the

average operating time for certain microsurgical procedures

decrease significantly, allowing more efficient use of

operating theatres

• Introducing a database that records viral load and HIV

antibody results in the laboratory. This facility ensures easy

retrieval of results, avoids duplication, and maintains patient

confidentiality

• Expanding services in clinical immunology in the State’s

central west to eight clinics per year at Orange Base Hospital

• Expanding services for HIV/AIDS patients by increasing the

evening clinic to weekly

• Introducing a test to detect antibodies to tissue

transglutaminase. This test offers cost and efficiency gains in

the diagnosis and monitoring of patients with coeliac disease,

and contributes to the multidisciplinary approach within the

department for management of this condition

• Expanding the bone densitometry service in the Department of

Rheumatology at Rachel Forster Hospital. The department has

scanned more than 1,000 patients. This is an essential

diagnostic test for osteoporosis, a major problem in

rheumatology patients

• Developing a nationwide accreditation process for

densitometry sites and introducing a community education

course, Osteoporosis Prevention and Self Management

• Upgrading the technology that measures HIV in blood. 

The new technique permits a tenfold increase in sensitivity,

allowing more accurate monitoring of patients with HIV and 

a more rational use of available antiretroviral agents.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 335.68 338.91 360.17

Admissions 10,073 10,264 10,166

Same-Day Admissions 3,025 3,225 3,225

Occasions of Service 64,591 65,290 64,706

CSAHS Bone, Joint and Connective Tissue Service

Orthopaedics • • • •

Rheumatology • • • •

Plastic & Reconstructive • •
Surgery

Burns •

Faciomaxillary Surgery •

Trauma • •

Dentistry •

Endocrine • •

Immunology •

NSW Institute of •
Sports Medicine
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Clinical Director: Professor James Bishop MD, MMed,

MB, BS, FRACP, FRCPA 

Cancer services in CSAHS are united under the banner of the

Sydney Cancer Centre (SCC) which is Australia’s largest cancer

treatment facility, running programs at Royal Prince Alfred,

Concord, Rachel Forster, King George V and Canterbury hospitals.

SCC stands for excellence and innovation with patient orientated

cancer care, cancer research to international standards and

teaching throughout the group.

Highlights included:

• Completing building works on Gloucester House at RPA as

part of the Resource Transition Program (RTP), which has

provided a sophisticated, integrated cancer Ambulatory Care

Centre. It has brought together part of the ambulatory clinical

activity of breast screen, Sydney Melanoma Unit, palliative

care, medical oncology, radiation oncology and dermatology,

with a plan to include gynae-oncology, urology, Sydney Breast

Cancer Institute, head and neck and clinical haematology.

Similar concepts are being used in planning the Concord

Hospital redevelopment

• Opening of the state-of-the-art radiotherapy centre,

incorporating a CT-based planning system for RPA

• Introducing new brachytherapy treatment for restenosis of

blocked coronary arteries 

• Providing matched unrelated bone marrow transplants for

patients without a compatible sibling

• Developing a coordinated clinical research program to

introduce and study new anti-cancer therapies to improve

outcomes for patients

• Developing international research collaboration with the

National University of Singapore and John Hopkins Oncology

Centre in the United States

• Providing training for oncology fellows from Thailand as well

as overseas teaching workshops

• Attracting successful grants for the cancer research program

of more than $3 million

• Developing laboratory-based research programs in gene

therapy and cancer pharmacology in collaboration with the

Centenary Institute of Cancer Medicine and Cell Biology and

the University of Sydney

• Increasing activity, lowering length of stay and providing more

outpatient treatments while remaining on budget.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 390.8 361.7 363.0

Admissions 22,748 22,195 18,890

Same-Day Admissions 13,765 13,029 10,592

Outpatient Occasions of Service 68,806 67,800 95,000

CSAHS Cancer Services

Medical Oncology • • •

Surgical Oncology • • •

Radiation Oncology • •

Urology • •

Sydney Breast Cancer Institute • • •

BreastScreen Central & Eastern Sydney •

Gynaecological Oncology •

Clinical Haematology • •

Head and Neck Surgery • •

Sydney Melanoma Unit •

Palliative Care • • •

Dermatology • •

Bone and Soft Tissue Sarcoma Service •
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Clinical Director: Associate Professor Brian McCaughan

MB, BS (Hon 1), FRACS

Cardiovascular Services, based at Royal Prince Alfred and

Concord hospitals, provides for patients living in the CSAHS

boundaries, other parts of NSW and overseas. Clinicians attend

centres in rural NSW to maximise care to patients out of Sydney

needing CSAHS expertise.

The specialities in the service are cardiology, renal,

endocrinology, vascular, clinical pharmacology, cardiothoracic

surgery and toxicology (National Poisons Register).  A close

working relationship exists between these specialties within the

facilities and across CSAHS to benefit patients.   

The Resource Transition Program has continued to be a major

focus for all of Cardiovascular Services.  It is providing a forum to

evaluate work practices with a view to enhancing efficiency and

patient care, now and in the future.  

Highlights included:

• Statewide Renal Services achieving 100 per cent graft and

patient survival in its integrated renal transplant program

• Ongoing research, including drug trials such as renal medicine

being involved in four multi-national transplant

immunosuppressant drug trials

• Continuing the exploration of innovative ways to deliver

patient services with the emphasis, where appropriate, on

non-inpatient care, such as extensive liaison with general

practitioners via the Diabetes Centre at RPA, continued use of

case managers in cardiothoracic surgery and the introduction

of case management in renal medicine

• The Concord vascular and cardiology departments expanding

the range of services offered to patients. An endoluminal

surgery service was established in the Vascular Department

after a successful trial, and urgent angioplasty commenced in

cardiology

• Adding rural experience to the program for medical trainees in

nephrology to ensure they are exposed to the range of

services provided by Statewide Renal Services, based at RPA

• Continuing the provision of a number of highly specialised

services, some being unique in NSW and/or Australia, such

as the Prader-Willi syndrome clinic for morbidly obese people

and the andrology service for male fertility

• Establishing an ambulatory care unit in the RPA Page Chest

Pavilion.  This unit provides high quality care to patients

requiring a range of services on a day-only basis

• Continuing the international leadership role of the Vascular

Department at RPA in endoluminal surgery. The expertise of

the department is being shared with colleagues in Asia

through workshops in Singapore, Kuala Lumpur, Bangkok,

Seoul, Manila, Hong Kong and Shanghai

• Receiving a commendation from the Australian Council on

Healthcare Standards surveyors in 1998. The commitment 

to quality that exists in the service, such as peer review

mechanisms in the cardiothoracic surgery department 

was recognised.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 540.83 528.61 509.72

Admissions 26,891 25,488 27,227

Same-Day Admissions 16,417 16,773 17,514

Occasions of Service 33,721 27,929 29,942

CSAHS Cardiovascular Services

Renal • •

Cardiology • •

Cardiothoracic Surgery • •

Endocrinology •

National Poisons Register •

Vascular Surgery • •

Clinical Pharmacology •

CARDIOVASCULAR SERVICES
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Clinical Director: Associate Professor Geoff Duggin MB,

BS (Hons), PhC, FRACP, FAFPHM

Central Sydney Laboratory Service (CSLS) is one of five pathology

hubs in NSW, and provides highly efficient specialised testing for

public and private healthcare facilities.

The NSW Health Department has issued key performance

indicators for pathology services across the State. The figures

showed CSLS as the most efficient.

CSLS was successful in attracting ACT Pathology as a NetWork

Partner as well as retaining agreements with the New Children’s

Hospital and the Southern Health Service’s laboratories in

Queanbeyan.

In the private sector CSLS has signed memoranda of understanding

with several private laboratories, including one of the largest in

NSW, Douglass Hanly Moir.

Highlights included:

• Integrating the departments of clinical immunology into one,

located at RPA

• Consolidating and relocating the Electron Microscopy

Department to Concord Hospital

• Integrating diagnostic endocrinology into RPA and

establishing an immunoassay unit

• Relocating the drug unit to hospital premises in Brodie Street,

Camperdown

• Introducing the CSLS Handbook of Laboratory Medicine,

including an Internet site for the handbook

• Implementing Cerner Millennium, a PC-based laboratory

computer system at Concord Hospital

• Establishing an immunoassay unit at Concord Hospital

• Opening a new pathology laboratory within Canterbury Hospital

• Test turnaround times being among the best in the State.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 462 463 444

Occasions of Service 701,022 1,129,426 1,248,000

CSAHS Laboratory Service

Anatomical Pathology • •

Biochemistry ◗ • ◗ • •

Blood Bank ◗ • ◗ • •

Electron Microscopy •

Endocrinology • •

Fertility Laboratory •

Gastroenterology •

Haematology ◗ • ◗ • •

Immunology •

Kanematsu Research •

Laboratory Information Services •

Microbiology • •

Molecular Genetics/Medicine • •

Renal •

◗ not a full range of specialised services

* Concord and RPA laboratories provide a wide range of specialised tests 
for external health facilities
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Clinical Director: Dr John Wilkinson BDS, FICD, AFCHSE

At the heart of oral health services is United Dental Hospital

(UDH). A State referral centre and major teaching hospital, it is

responsible for providing primary oral healthcare for residents

living within the geographic boundaries of Central (CSAHS) and

South Eastern (SESAHS) Sydney area health services, and

Statewide tertiary services. About 35 per cent of patients are

from outside CSAHS and SESAHS. In addition to providing in-

house general and specialist care, UDH integrates and networks

a wide range of adult and child outreach services. These are

provided through three mobile units, five adult clinics, five

school-based clinics and an integrated child and adult clinic at

Canterbury Hospital.

UDH provides modern teaching facilities for undergraduate and

postgraduate students from the University of Sydney and TAFE.

Additionally, professional development education is provided for

the wider dental and professional community.  As an outcome of

the Resource Transition Program (RTP), UDH is now regarded as

one of the most modern dental teaching facilities in Australia.

As part of the RTP, UDH is undergoing comprehensive

refurbishment on every floor including the installation of state-of-

the-art dental equipment and teaching facilities with modern

electronic technology.

Highlights included:

• Ongoing RTP progress such as the completion of the new

general dentistry and oral surgery departments with a

centralised sterilising area, and rebuilding of the prosthetics

laboratories for the university and the hospital. It will provide

a modern facility that meets infection control and

occupational health and safety guidelines

• The NSW Minister for Health Dr Andrew Refshauge opening

Dental Health Week at Marrickville School in association with

the school dental clinic

• Responding to the Sydney Water alert and implementing

systems to enable the continuation of services in the event of

a future crisis

• Integrating adult and child services, involving the

development of a general anaesthetic service for children at

Canterbury Hospital

• Continuing and expanding the outreach programs for boarding

house residents, homeless youths and Kosovar refugees as

part of Operation Safe Haven

• Expanding education programs with the implementation of the

Master of Dental Science (Paediatric Dentistry), development

of an exchange program for final-year students with Adelaide

University, and providing a program of professional

development in oral health for preschool teachers.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 365.3 373.6 360

Occasions of Service

Adults 112,406 176,103 164,166

Children 11,016 32,593 31,261

CSAHS Dental Services

UDH • • •

RPA ◗ •

Canterbury Hospital ◗ •

Concord Hospital ◗ •

Rozelle Hospital •

St George Hospital •

Peakhurst Community Centre •

Sutherland Hospital •

Clemton Park School •

Marrickville School •

Newtown School •

Rozelle School •

Homebush West School •

Kirkton Road Centre X

Cellblock Youth Centre X

3 x Mobile Domiciliary Vans •

◗ Not a full range of specialist services
X Patient assessment with referral to UDH for treatment

DENTAL SERVICES
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Clinical Director: Professor Les Bokey MB, BS, MS, FRACS

Gastroenterology and Liver Services consists of colorectal surgery,

transplantation including the Australian National Liver Transplantation

Unit (ANTLU), gastroenterology, general surgery, upper gastrointestinal

surgery and the Total Parenteral Nutrition Service.

The group brings together nationally and internationally recognised

physicians and surgeons within tertiary referral centres at Royal

Prince Alfred and Concord hospitals. These services are equipped

with sophisticated state-of-the-art technology for diagnosis and

treatment using a multi-disciplinary approach.

The Resource Transition Program is providing a more efficient

model of care for Gastroenterology and Liver Services. The units

at Concord Hospital and RPA will undergo a transition through

the relocation of surgical, ambulatory care, medical facilities and

endoscopic services.

Highlights included:

• Integrating cross-accredited specialist surgeons operating for

colorectal and upper GIT services at RPA and Concord hospitals

• A national laparascopic trial for colorectal cancer including

RPA and Concord hospitals, ensuring the pioneering and

leading role in this field

• Continuing development of upper GIT services recognised

expertise in fundoplication techniques for gastro-oesophageal

reflux disease and advanced biliary surgery for gallstones

• Introducing day-only laparascopic surgery

• Using the harmonic scalpel which reduced fundoplication

haemorrhage from 2 per cent to nil

• The multi-departmental assessing of the robotic assistant

AESOP, evaluating its role and use in the operating theatre 

• Continuing the 13C urea breath testing. This service is provided

to practitioners in CSAHS through Concord Hospital and RPA

medical centres. Additional breath testing is also carried out

for some pathology providers

• Introducing endoscopic ultrasound to assess the operability 

of oesophageal cancers, decreasing the rate of unnecessary

surgery

• Appointing staff specialist Dr Simone Strasser, skilled in

hepatology and the GIT manifestation of bone marrow

transplant. Dr Strasser is developing a GI/liver consultative

service for patients

• Developing community clinics for the diagnosis and

management of individuals with chronic hepatitis C viral

infections

• Examining the role of enteroscopy in the diagnosis of GIT

disease

• Relocating a paediatric liver transplantation from RPA to the

New Children’s Hospital (NCH), Westmead. This will allow the

ANTLU at RPA to split some adult livers, treating a child at

NCH and an adult at RPA at the same time.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 267.7 279.2 290.4*

Admissions 15,480 15,575 16,625

Same-Day Admissions 6,947 7,101 6,600

Occasions of Service 9,710 13,400 11,200

* the increase in EFT is due to the opening and full operational capacity 
of Canterbury Hospital 

CSAHS Gastroenterology and Liver Services

Liver Transplant •

Gastroenterology • •

Colorectal Surgery • •

Upper GIT Surgery • •

General Surgery • • •

GASTROENTEROLOGY AND LIVER SERVICES
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Clinical Director: Dr John Cullen MB, BS, FRACP

CSAHS General, Geriatric and Rehabilitation Medicine (GGRM)

services operates across hospital and community settings. The

general medicine services offer acute medical care for people of

all ages. The geriatric medicine units provide inpatient acute care

and rehabilitation, outpatient and day hospital services, a range

of community health services and carer supports. Rehabilitation

medicine includes inpatient care as well as consultative,

outpatient and community assistance for people with disabilities.

Specialist multidisciplinary outpatient services include those 

for Parkinson's disease, cognitive disorders, continence

management, amputee, chronic pain and burns rehabilitation.

GGRM has worked with other clinical groups to provide

assistance for people whose needs extend beyond the

boundaries of a single clinical directorate, such as stroke, burns

and orthogeriatrics. A focus of GGRM is the management of

transitions of settings of care such as hospital discharge.

Highlights included:

• Commissioning services at the new Canterbury Hospital.

Activity at Canterbury has increased greatly during the year

with GGRM admissions rising by 28 per cent. Clinical

activities have been supported by an expanded and well

maintained education program

• Establishing the Neurodegenerative Disorders Education and

Management Service (NDEMS), at Concord Hospital. NDEMS

is funded by the Department of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA), the

Parkinson's Society of NSW and Concord Hospital. It provides

multidisciplinary assessment and management for people with

Parkinson's disease or cognitive disorders and their carers

• Establishing the Strength, Training Rehabilitation and

Outreach Needs in Geriatric Medicine clinic at Balmain

Hospital. Funded by DVA, it provides strength training 

for older people with a variety of health problems. This form

of exercise has shown to be of benefit in some chronic

conditions

• Transferring Kindilan Frail Aged Day Centre to Concord

Hospital under the management of GGRM. The transfer

proceeded smoothly following the closure of Our Lady of

Loreto Nursing Home. Client services and satisfaction have

been maintained. A reorganisation of GGRM respite services

in the western sector of CSAHS has ensued

• Consolidating eastern sector GGRM community services at

the renovated Glebe Annexe. This has enhanced

communication and clinical care provided by the previously

dispersed staff, and has improved efficiency

• The Centre for Education and Research on Ageing

investigation of community attitudes to, and issues relating to

the implementation of, advanced care directives.

Key Indicators 1996/1997 1997/1998 1998/1999

Staff EFT 510.45 478.59 473.29

Admissions 13,530 14,606 13,454

Same-Day Admissions 3,367 6,337 3,268

Occasions of Service 99,550 113,061 107,027

CSAHS General, Geriatric and 

Rehabilitation Medicine

Acute Inpatient Services • • • •

Rehabilitation Inpatient Services • • •

Day Hospital Services • •

Outpatient Services • • • •

Community Assessment •

Psychogeriatric Services •

Home Therapy Service • •

Respite and Carer Support • •

Community Options • •

PADP •

Community Podiatry • • •

Residential Information Service •

Transcultural Aged Care Services •

Day Centres • • •

GENERAL, GERIATRIC & REHABILITATION
MEDICINE
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Clinical Director: Professor Michael Mira BSc(Med), 

MB, BS, PhD

The most exciting development for General Practice in CSAHS

this year was preparation for the introduction of a one-year trial

of a telephone triage and integrated after hours care program,

funded by the Commonwealth Government. This $1.2 million trial

is managed by a consortium of external organisations as well as

the Canterbury Division of General Practice and Division of

General Practice, CSAHS.

The trial integrates three components:

• a protocol based telephone triage service

• GP staffed ambulatory care services at Canterbury and

Balmain hospitals, and

• a home visit service.

The General Practice clinical group was formed in 1997 as a

central administration for the division of General Practice,

CSAHS; Canterbury Division of General Practice; and General

Practice casualty (GPC) at Balmain Hospital. It provides a more

integrated service to residents and general practitioners in the

central Sydney area.

Highlights included:

• Participating in a NSW Health funded trial of a telephone

information line.  Calling a single 1-800 number allows GPs

and health service staff to obtain information about

community and hospital-based care that may be of benefit to

particular patients

• Developing systems to support the integrated management of

patients with chronic disease and/or who are pregnant. Staff

from specialist hospital departments and GPs worked together

to develop these systems.  A high proportion of women

attending clinics at both obstetric services are managed using

a shared care model, as are the majority of patients attending

the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital Diabetes Centre

• Collaboration between GPs, local private pathology providers

and the Diabetes Centre at RPA allowed the introduction of a

disease management support system that included patients

referred to specialist services and those managed entirely by

their GP

• Information management and technology support for local GPs

becoming a major focus of both divisions. The increased

uptake of computers in general practice will provide exciting

opportunities for a more integrated approach to patient care. 

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

GPs 496* 590 520

Active major projects 15 10** 17

* figures for 1996/97 reflect only those for the Division of GP, CSAHS

** reflects a change in funding

CSAHS General Practice

Division of GP, CSAHS • •

Canterbury Division of GP • •

General Practice Casualty •

GENERAL PRACTICE
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Clinical Director: Dr Max Schieb MB, BS, DDR, 

FRACP, FRACR 

CSAHS Imaging Services combines the departments of radiology

and nuclear medicine. The services are located in the facilities 

as set out in the table. 

Highlights included: 

• Opening the new Canterbury Hospital with a state-of-the-art

Department of Radiology featuring spiral computed

tomography (CT) and colour ultrasound surrounding a central

processing area. The workload has doubled compared with

the activity in the old hospital

• An additional spiral CT scanner for the main Radiology

Department at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

• Installing modern teleradiology systems linking Balmain and

RPA hospitals, and Canterbury and Concord hospitals. This

technology allows for improved efficiency in providing prompt

reports on medical images by bringing the images to the

radiologist 

• NSW Health endorsing the radiology information system,

developed in-house at RPA, as a product of excellence. It is in

the process of being extended to replace the systems at

Concord and Canterbury hospitals

• An increase in demand on RPA’s positron emission tomography

(PET) scanner due to its sensitivity in the detection and

management of many common malignancies and in the

functional assessment of diseases of the brain and heart

• Continuing to work closely with CSAHS Information Systems

Division to ensure there are no outstanding year 2000

compliance issues. 

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98        1998/99

Staff  EFT 134 139 242.83*

Occasions of Service 284,221 215,800** 205,000**

*  includes Canterbury Hospital 

**  excludes United Dental Hospital 

CSAHS Imaging Services 

General Radiology • • • • •

Interventional Radiology • •

MRI •

CT • • •

Ultrasound • • • •

CVE •

Nuclear Medicine • •

PET •

Mammography • • •

IMAGING SERVICES

RP
A

B
al

m
ai

n

RF Co
nc

or
d

Ca
nt

er
bu

ry

CSAHS Report 1999 new  11/29/99  4:14 PM  Page 35



clinicclinical groups continued36

Clinical Director: Professor Marie Bashir AO, MB, 

BS, FRANZCP

Mental Health Services provides comprehensive, integrated and

diverse mental healthcare to a highly multicultural population. It

includes acute care, community crisis intervention, assertive

community follow-up and rehabilitation for all stages of life.

Teams situated in the western and Canterbury sectors link with

the inpatient unit at Concord Hospital, and the eastern sector

from Glebe and Marrickville link with Royal Prince Alfred

Hospital’s Missenden Unit.

Rozelle Hospital supports both general teaching hospitals in the

provision of additional acute inpatient services, which include an

intensive psychiatric care unit for the severely ill. A post-acute

program is provided from the community-based living skills

centre and respite house.

Rozelle Hospital’s education unit offers an extensive continuing

education program and is renowned for its teaching on

aggression control.

Rivendell Child, Adolescent and Family Psychiatric Services is

located at Thomas Walker Hospital Concord, and provides mental

health services to the young people of central Sydney, including

treatment for a range of severe psychiatric conditions. It offers

tertiary consultancy to rural areas of NSW, as well as holding

regular consultations for youth refuges and Population Health

child and family clinics within CSAHS.

Highlights included:

• Installing Telehealth equipment which will further extend 

the role of child and adolescent services to rural areas

• Establishing partnerships with the Department of Housing 

and NSW Police. These relationships offer great benefits 

to the severely mentally ill and homeless in their passage 

to better health

• Extending mental health shared care between local general

practitioners and Mental Health Services through the funding

of a GP liaison officer under the Second National Mental

Health Strategy

• Promoting a lifestyle program addressing areas of high risk to

mentally ill persons such as nutrition, exercise, cigarette,

alcohol and substance use as well as safe sex

• Contributing to the 1999 International Year of Older Persons,

providing educational and research initiatives including

studies relating to suicide in old age

• Expanding the Aboriginal Mental Health Service in response

to demand for clinical work and continuing education

• Being presented with a Premier’s Award for innovative service

delivery in Telehealth

• Establishing a partnership in mental health program and

service development with the Greater Murray Area Health

Service

• Appointing two World Health Organisation scholars from The

National Institute of Mental Health and Hanoi Medical

School, Vietnam, to study with the service

• Rivendell Unit team holding an international conference

examining issues relating to Pharmacological Treatment in

Child Psychiatry.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 810.2 782.3 820

Admissions 5,054 5,181 10,134*

Same-Day Admissions 1,369 1,687 6,033*

* includes Concord Hospital mental health activiy statistics

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
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CSAHS Mental Health Services

24-Hour Acute Care • • • •◆ • • • •

Consultation/Liaison • • •

Intake/Assessment • • • •◆ • • • • ✛

Acute Inpatients • • • •◆ ▲

Rehabilitation Accommodation • •■ •■ •■ • ✛

Aged Care Assessment • • ❚ ❚ ❚ ❚

Aged Care Beds • •

Aboriginal MH Service • • • • • • • ✛ ▼

Telepsychiatry • • ✛

Forensic Services • • • • ▼

Child and Family Services • •★ •★

HIV/AIDS Mental Health • • • • • •

Boarding House Teams ✤ ✤ ✤ ✤ ✤ ✤ ✤

Hearing Impaired Services • •

Dietary Disorders Service • •

Bilingual Counsellors • • •

◆ Not on weekends

▲ Respite

■ Supervised group homes 

❚ Psychogeriatric assessment teams

★ Located in separate premises

✤ Special service for boarding house residents but have access to all adult facilities as required

✛ Includes: Aboriginal medical services at Redfern and Kempsey and Richmond fellowship

▼ Includes: Corrective Services Juvenile Justice

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
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Clinical Director: Associate Professor Michael Besser

MB, BS (Syd), FRACS, FRCSC (Canada), FACS

Neurosciences comprises neurology, neurosurgery,

ophthalmology, otolaryngology and pain management. It is

primarily based at Royal Prince Alfred and Concord hospitals,

with ear, nose and throat (ENT) surgery conducted at Canterbury

Hospital. This grouping contains the Institute of Clinical

Neurosciences at the University of Sydney and RPA, which brings

neuroscience related disciplines together in a single

administrative structure.

Neurology at CSAHS has a high international profile with a

strong research facility. The Molecular Diagnosis Laboratory at

Concord Hospital provides clinical diagnosis and research into

neurogenetic disorders, and the Acute Stroke Service participates

in the NSW Health Stroke Expert Advisory Committee. The

Parkinson’s Disease Ambulatory Clinic is well established at

Concord Hospital. 

This year, the highly specialised neuro-otology unit at RPA won a

Centre of Excellence grant from the National Health and Medical

Research Council, establishing it as a major world centre for the

investigation and management of hearing imbalance. The neurology

department at RPA is the State referral centre for peripheral nerve

and muscle pathology and has an international reputation for

research into, and clinical management of, multiple sclerosis.

The neurosurgery service includes stereotactic radiosurgery and

endovascular management of complex cerebrovascular disease.

Stereotactic neurosurgery for Parkinson’s disease and functional

disorders is centred at Concord Hospital and there is an active

neuro-oncology group mainly concentrated at RPA with its unique

positron electron tomography (PET) scan facility. The

management of epilepsy patients includes the combination of

complex neurological assessment and neurosurgical management

where appropriate.

CSAHS has established an academic appointment in

neurosurgery at the University of Sydney, to be based at RPA.

Highlights included:

• Receiving commendation in the accreditation survey of

neurosciences at RPA with special emphasis on the

achievements of quality improvement initiatives and the

excellent collaboration in the delivery of care and clinical

review and audit

• Implementing a stroke clinic pathway at Concord Hospital.

This has streamlined care considerably and representatives of

the Acute Stroke Unit have participated in the development of

guidelines for the management of stroke patients in the NSW

Health Stroke Expert Advisory Committee

• Opening a high dependency four-bed unit in neurosurgery at

RPA. This has improved efficiency and patient care, successfully

complementing the busy six-bed intensive care unit 

• Purchasing new operating microscopes for Concord

neurosurgery and ENT at RPA

• Establishing a CSAHS-wide clinical nurse consultant in

neurosciences, with an education program for nursing staff

• Amalgamating and consolidating the neuroscience services at

Concord Hospital, which includes a four-bed acute stroke unit

and a four-bed high dependency unit.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 113.52 179.63 203

Admissions 8,620 8,430 8,216

Same-Day Admissions 1,548 1,849 2,242

Occasions of Service 25,097 31,742 30,624

CSAHS Neurosciences

Neurology • •

Neurosurgery • •

Ophthalmology • • •

Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery • • •

Pain Management Unit • •

NEUROSCIENCES

RP
A

Co
nc

or
d

Ca
nt

er
bu

ry

CSAHS Report 1999 new  11/29/99  4:14 PM  Page 38



39cal gro
Clinical Director: Dr Peter Sainsbury MB, BS, DObstRCOG,

MHP, FRACMA, FAFPHM, PhD

The Population Health and Drug & Alcohol Services clinical group

is made up of Community Health Services, Public Health Unit,

Health Promotion Unit, Needs Assessment and Health Outcomes

Unit (NAHOU), Aboriginal Health, Multicultural Health, Women’s

Health, Social Health Research Unit, and Drug & Alcohol Services.

Highlights included:

• The CSAHS Tobacco Control Plan being awarded the 

J Ashburton Thompson award for excellence in public health

by the Public Health Association of Australia 

• Being involved with local councils on environmental issues of

concern to the community including evaluating health risk

assessments, local food safety surveys relating to high-risk

foods and a project to encourage safe needle disposal in

Marrickville

• Women’s Health receiving a grant from NSW Health to

consult service providers, Aboriginal-controlled services and

Aboriginal women about their needs in birthing services

• Implementing the Sexual Assault Service’s educational

package on date rape in cooperation with local schools. The

package provides young people with strategies enabling them

to take control in potentially compromising situations

• Community-based drug and alcohol services developing

projects to increase the competencies of workers regarding

the treatment of depression, evaluating the clinical needs of

adolescents with problematic drug use, and providing brief

interventions for people at risk of hepatitis C

• Establishing a mobile outreach service in Marrickville in

response to the increase in illicit drug use in the area

• Launching of H20 the way to go by Community Nutrition. The

project aimed to increase school aged children’s daily

consumption of water, after research showed they were

drinking too little fluid

• Drug & Alcohol Services playing an active role in the NSW

Parliament Drug Summit

• Drug & Alcohol Services and Mental Health Services

collaborating on a psychosis substance use project

• Drug & Alcohol Services submitting a proposed consortium

agreement to NSW Health to develop and implement a

clinical information system for drug and alcohol services

across NSW.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 253.5* 349.2 429.7**

* does not include Drug & Alcohol Services

** includes part of the transferred Sydney Home Nursing Service in 
November1998

CSAHS Population Health and 
Drug & Alcohol Services

Community Health 
Services • • • •

Public Health Unit •

Health Promotion Unit • • •

Aboriginal Health • •

Needs Assessment & 
Health Outcomes Unit •

Multicultural Health • •

Social Health Research Unit •

Women’s Health • •

Drug & Alcohol Services • • • • •

POPULATION HEALTH AND DRUG & ALCOHOL SERVICES
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Clinical Director: Dr Ross Bradbury FRACP, FRCPA (to

January 1999)

Associate Professor Paul Torzillo MB BS, FRACP 

(from February 1999)

Respiratory and Critical Care has a large number of clinical

departments, many of which have a central role in giving care to

the patients of other units. 

Advances in medical knowledge and technology mean that

patients with severe medical and surgical problems, which would

previously have been incurable, can now be offered potentially

curative therapies. This means that intensive care units have to

offer ever more sophisticated and technically demanding care.

The infectious diseases departments are often asked to provide

advice in the control of hospital acquired infections as well as

the increasing problem of antibiotic resistance of several major

infectious agents.

Respiratory medicine departments at Concord and Royal Prince

Alfred hospitals supply a wide range of speciality services 

with internationally recognised work in asthma, non-invasive

ventilatory management of complex respiratory failure and 

cystic fibrosis.

Highlights included:

• Further planning and development for the clinical group within

the Resource Transition Program at Concord and RPA hospitals

• Funding of the Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care

Data Base by the Australian Health Minister’s Advisory

Council. This has been developed and managed by Dr David

McWilliam and Dr Robert Herkes of the RPA intensive care

unit. The data base will be a quality assurance and monitoring

tool of international standing for both countries

• Continuing major role in Australian healthcare through 

Dr Christine Jenkins’ capacity as chairperson of the National

Asthma Campaign

• A prestigious Cooperative Research Centre grant from the

Commonwealth was awarded to institutes around the country

and the internationally renowned Institute for Respiratory

Medicine at RPA as the managing partner.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 621.4 643.3 626.2

Admissions 12,323 15,046 14,996

Same-Day Admissions 3,585 3,791 3,799

Occasions of Service 84,838 96,042 89,440

Admissions via Emergency 25,620 25,242 25,542

CSAHS Respiratory and Critical Care Services

Respiratory Medicine • •

Sleep Disorders • •

Tuberculosis Clinic • • •

Thoracic Surgery •

Emergency Department • • •

Intensive Care • • •

Anaesthetics • • •

Infectious Diseases • •

Sexually Transmitted Diseases • • •

RESPIRATORY AND CRITICAL CARE SERVICE
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Clinical Director: Professor Roger Houghton DPhil(Oxon),

MB, BS, BSc(Med), FRACOG, FRCOG

Women’s and Children’s Health comprises five departments with

services located at three facilities.

This year the focus was primarily on the continued integration

and planning of future service provision in preparation for a

smooth transition to the new facility at Royal Prince Alfred

Hospital as part of the Resource Transition Program. 

Highlights included:

• Establishing a sexual health clinic in conjunction with the

Livingstone Road Centre. A sexual health midwife is available

to liaise with the clinic and King George V Hospital

• Completing renovations to the Department of Ultrasound and

Foetal Medicine including five ultrasound scanning rooms,

computerising the department to implement a database and

automated reporting system

• Establishing foetal MRI imaging with the Department of

Diagnostic Imaging and a 3-D ultrasound research program to

assess its use in high-risk obstetrics

• Introducing new embryo incubation and culture systems,

resulting in the extended culture of embryos to the blastocyst

stage prior to transfer. This led to the further improvement of

outcomes

• The recommissioning of the maternity unit at Canterbury

Hospital, seeing the target number of outpatient occasions of

service and deliveries achieved

• Increasing use of the obstetric day-stay ward, effecting a

reduction in antenatal inpatients and length of stay

• Progressing with the General Practitioner Shared Care

Program, with over 300 GPs now appointed.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Staff EFT 315.56 314.75 320.38

Admissions 15,924 15,402 18,762

Same-Day Admissions 6,691 6,286 6,262

Occasions of Service 45,265 47,316 46,298

CSAHS Women’s and Children’s Health

Obstetrics • •

Gynaecology • • •

Paediatrics • •

Urogynaecology •

Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility •

Neonatal Medicine • •

Diagnostic Ultrasound and Foetal Medicine • •

Gynaecological Oncology •

Pelvic Floor Unit •

41
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Director: Kit Eu BEc, BSoc Admin

Allied Health Services includes the eight professions of nutrition

and dietetics, occupational therapy, orthotics, physiotherapy,

podiatry, psychology, speech pathology and social work. The

service aims to maximise clients’ physical and psychosocial

potential by providing specific assessment and therapeutic

interventions. These interventions are provided within the

inpatient and ambulatory care settings.   

Allied Health staff work in close partnership with other health

professionals to offer a comprehensive range of patient oriented

services including:

• mobility assessment and retraining 

• hydrotherapy

• home visits to review safety and function 

• activities of daily living assessment and retraining 

• the fabrication of orthotic devices

• grief counselling

• advice on alternative accommodation options

• psychological neuropsychological assessment and treatments

using evidence-based approaches

• dysphagia assessment and treatment

• stuttering programs, and 

• nutritional advice.

Highlights included:

• Introducing a comprehensive new diet and menu

manangement system which coordinates menus and 

food production with patient needs  

• Amalgamating the equipment lending pools at Concord

Hospital resulting in a more efficient and accessible

equipment lending service for both hospital and community

clients

• Establishing a partnership with nine similar hospitals

throughout Australia and New Zealand in phase two of the

National Allied Health Benchmarking Project, which provides

comparative casemix based allied health activity data

• Forging a partnership between the Australian Stuttering

Research Centre, the University of Sydney and Royal Prince

Alfred Hospital’s speech pathology department.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99 

Staff EFT 264 226.57 235

Inpatient Occasions of Service 294,395 231,631 225,508

Outpatient Occasions of Service 124,763 126,791 142,026

CSAHS Allied Health Services

Physiotherapy • • • • • •

Social Work • • • • • •

Nutrition & Dietetics • • • • •

Occupational Therapy • • • • • •

Speech Pathology • • • • • •

Psychology • • • •

Orthotics •

Podiatry • • • • • •

42
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Director: Angela Manson Dip Ed, BLegS

Health Care Interpreter Service

The Health Care Interpreter Service (HCIS) was established in

1977 to help non-English speaking clients and their families

communicate more effectively with healthcare providers.  

The HCIS offers services to Central and South Eastern Sydney

area health services. It is available free of charge to public health

clients for face-to-face interpreting on a 24-hour seven day-a-

week basis in 71 languages including Auslan (Australian Sign

Language).

Translation of documents essential to clients’ medical care,

health-related cultural information to staff and details about the

healthcare system to non-English speaking clients are also part

of the service. 

The HCIS employs professional interpreters who are trained in

medical terminology and are familiar with the services and

programs of the NSW health system. Ongoing comprehensive

training programs also ensure healthcare interpreters are kept up

to date with new treatments, procedures and legislation in the

healthcare field.  

During 1998/99 the HCIS employed a total of 50 staff interpreters

and 174 on contract.

CSAHS Ethnic Affairs Priority Statement

In recognition of the multicultural population within its

boundaries, CSAHS is implementing the NSW Government

Principles of Cultural Diversity.

The multicultural services director is coordinating implementation

of the policy by establishing multicultural access committees

across CSAHS. These committees have adopted and

implemented ethnic affairs policies and procedures and

embarked on a range of quality improvement activities.

Ethnic-specific programs operating in CSAHS include:

• the Health Care Interpreter Service, a 24-hour service of

professional interpreters trained in healthcare

• an ethnic aged access program aimed at providing culturally

sensitive aged care services

• a migrant health team providing an information and referral

service, health education and promotion programs for Arabic,

Greek, Vietnamese, Chinese, Portuguese and Turkish

communities. The team has been working on promoting

cancer screening services such as BreastScreen NSW and

healthy lifestyle opportunities

• mental health counsellors providing case management in

community languages

• a cross-cultural training program to equip staff with the

necessary skills to work with a culturally diverse clientele

• a multicultural health promotion officer to design, implement

and evaluate health promotion programs for non-English

speaking background communities

• the Canterbury Multicultural Youth Health Service, which

offers counselling, activities and a medical referral service for

homeless youth in the Canterbury local government area

• special projects designed to meet the needs of specific

communities, such as the Dental Health Promotion project for

Portuguese children.

CSAHS manages two Statewide services: the Multicultural

HIV/AIDS Service and the Transcultural Aged Care Service.

The chairman of the CSAHS board launched the policy to

promote religious tolerance. This policy has been implemented

and resources developed for staff.

MULTICULTURAL HEALTH
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S T U D I E S A N D T R I A L S

CSAHS is renowned throughout Australia and the world for its

commitment to developing improved forms of treatment,

diagnosis and patient care.

Advances made through research are transferred into the clinical

setting at the earliest opportunity, bringing tangible benefits to

patients and clients from the ground-breaking work carried out in

CSAHS hospitals and facilities.

CSAHS’s two teaching hospitals, subsidiary hospitals and the

divisions of Population Health and Drug & Alcohol, and General

Practice undertake a range of research. Projects include clinical

studies of new treatments and techniques, the assessment of

community health needs as well as the implementation and

evaluation of relevant services.

The details of specific projects are listed in the Research

Appendices section of this report.

Highlights included:

• Testing for the effects of genes on alcohol consumption and

alcohol dependence risk in the Australian population using

volunteer twins as subjects

• Analysing the relationship between maternal smoking and

sudden infant death syndrome (cot death)

• Undertaking studies to find the gene which causes an

inherited form of vertigo known as hereditary bilateral

vestibulopathy

• Examining the experience of life-long adaptation to disability

for people with traumatic impairments such as brain or spinal

cord injury, and their informal carers

• Investigating the effectiveness of music therapy on

Department of Veterans’ Affairs patients

• Identifying and isolating key bacterial enzymes of major

potential importance in bacterial endocarditis at the Institute

of Dental Research

• Identifying a way to prevent peridontal disease.

research
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CSAHS has continued to meet the learning and development

needs of staff by surveying each facility. These results were used

to structure the Staff Development & Training Network Program

during the year.

Clinical 

The Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and University of Sydney Clinical

Education Centre is actively supported by a large group of highly

experienced and enthusiastic medical educators. Utilising

resources such as the renovated Scot Skirving Lecture Theatre

and an outstanding medical library with online computer access

for students and staff, the centre allows for a wide range of

programs to be taught, including practitioner training for

specialist qualifications. New education facilities will also be

incorporated in the Resource Transition Program.

Postgraduate medical 

The Clinical Education Centre provides comprehensive

postgraduate training in all clinical areas. Interns are allocated

teaching sessions throughout the year to address issues

including patient management, Advanced Cardiac Life Support

training and preparation for ongoing medical education.

Residents also have the opportunity to attend in-service courses

in various areas including medical statistics, immunology and

drug and alcohol. For those wishing to specialise, the centre

offers specific courses tailored to meet the requirements of the

appropriate colleges.

Medical educators within the centre envisage a future with an

increasing emphasis on a continuum of education from

undergraduate to postgraduate training.

Nurse education

The Graduate Nursing Program supported 108 nurses through

planned rotations, where they gained clinical nursing practice. 

A variety of orientation programs to specialty clinical areas

(OPSCA) were offered to develop the specialised skills of nurses

working within CSAHS. During 1998/99 the OPSCA programs

covered critical care areas, operating rooms, neurosciences,

gastroenterology, cardiovascular, paediatric and aged care,

general medicine and early childhood nursing.

Trainee Enrolled Nurse Program

Three trainee enrolled nurse intakes commenced during the year,

and the first two Aboriginal trainees in CSAHS completed their

12 months training.

Learning and development

The partnership between CSAHS and the University of Sydney as

part of the Nursing Research Centre for Adaptation in Health and

Illness has allowed for the development and implementation of

research projects. A total of 125 nurses have completed

workshops. This service is important in preparing nurses to use

the results of research in maintaining a high quality of patient

care within units and services.

Allied health

All allied health departments provide teaching within the context

of placements for undergraduate and in some cases for

postgraduate students.  Clinical staff supervised each placement

and provided a comprehensive learning program combining

structured clinical tutorials and hands-on therapeutic skills

development.

A conjoint position was established between the CSAHS

Department of Nutrition and Dietetics and the University of

Sydney’s Human Nutrition Unit. Curriculum development for the

new undergraduate course in nutrition and dietetics was

undertaken in the past year, and specialists were involved in

lecturing students.

45teaching

CSAHS Report 1999 new  11/29/99  4:14 PM  Page 45



46healt
Director: Richard Gilbert BSc

Sexual health services 1999-2002

A strategic plan for sexual health services was launched during

the year. Developed after extensive consultation with a range of

health providers and key community groups, it outlines strategies

for providing clinical, health promotion and education services to

identified priority populations. The target groups include men

who have sex with men, people living with HIV/AIDS, some

members of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities,

injecting drug users and sex workers.

The plan addresses service provision on an outreach basis, the

need for consolidating links and working in partnership with a

range of government and non-government organisations,

development of a sexual health research focus and agenda,

training issues and key outcomes, indicators and targets.

Notification rates for infections such as gonorrhoea, syphilis,

hepatitis A and B, and HIV/AIDS are higher in CSAHS than the

State average, and in most instances are among the highest in

metropolitan health services. Other sexually transmissible

infections presently not notifiable such as chlamydia and human

papillomavirus are of high prevalence in CSAHS.

Hepatitis C business plan

In Australia hepatitis C (HCV) is the most commonly reported life-

threatening chronic infection. One of the highest HCV prevalence

rates in Australia has been reported from CSAHS. Although some

preventive programs are in place, the incidence of HCV,

particularly among young intravenous drug users remains high.

There is an increasing demand on health services in CSAHS and

particularly on general practitioners, liver clinics and transplant

services. A business plan was completed outlining prevention

strategies and service changes needed to achieve health gain.  

It identifies key strategies for preventing the incidence of HCV

among target groups, the treatment of chronic disease and end-

stage disease as well as for surveillance and research.

Mental health 

In response to NSW Health’s Caring for Mental Health

framework document a mental health plan was developed using

the latest available evidence of best practice care and the needs

of families, carers and consumers. Service developments are

proposed in the following strategic directions over the next three

to five years:

• developing partnerships

• emergency mental health response

• mental health promotion, prevention and early intervention

• providing better mental health care

• quality and effectiveness in mental health care, and

• putting the building blocks in place.

Framework for research

In 1999 CSAHS completed A Framework for Research and

Development in Central Sydney which outlines measures aimed

at achieving a more coordinated approach to activities and the

dissemination of findings.   

Agreements

Agreements were negotiated with bordering areas in South

Eastern and Western Sydney area health services for the

provision of sexual assault services for adults and children to

improve delivery and access. Child sexual assault services are

provided by the specialist children’s hospitals at Randwick and

Westmead. An adult sexual assault service for south eastern and

central Sydney residents will continue to be available from

Camperdown with outreach services for follow-up care.

Child and youth health

The implementation of the strategic plan Health Gain for

Children and Youth of Central Sydney has progressed with a

model for an early childhood health home visiting service in

CSAHS completed. 

The Health Promoting Schools project has established an

intersectoral management structure, surveyed selected schools to

identify health issues of concern and encouraged local schools to

participate in health promoting activities.

health services
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
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Coordinator: Joan Englert

The NSW Ministerial Advisory Committee on Quality in

Healthcare and the State Continuous Improvement Steering

Committee in collaboration with NSW Health released the

document A Framework for Managing the Quality of Health

Services in NSW in January 1999.

It provides a mechanism whereby clinical governance will be

introduced into the NSW Health system. This will be achieved by

developing a committee structure as well as performance and

reporting frames on:

• safety

• effectiveness

• appropriateness

• consumer participation

• access, and

• efficiency

as well as five cross-dimensional issues:

• competence of providers, multidisciplinary teams and

healthcare organisations

• continuity of care

• information management to support effective decision making

• education and training for quality, and

• accreditation of health services.

This framework is the first step in the development of a

coordinated approach to monitoring and managing the quality of

healthcare in NSW. It is a practical, well-founded approach by

which effective clinical governance can be implemented and

identifies a focus for healthcare delivery which views

accountability for quality and budget control as equal

performance indicators in health management.

The CSAHS board has adopted the principles of the framework

and will be implementing the new structure through the CSAHS

Clinical Council.

A review of existing quality activities within facilities and clinical

service groupings has been implemented using a structured audit

tool based on the cross-dimensional factors.

External review

Seven facilities were surveyed by the Australian Council on

Healthcare Standards (ACHS) and to June 30 1999, six had

received notification of accreditation. The framework of the

Evaluation and Quality Improvement Program (EQuIP) assisted

management in realising better practices and outcomes of care.

It is the external review mechanism used in CSAHS to identify

areas for continuous quality improvement. All facilities

successfully completed the scheduled components of the

program for 1998/99.

Quality Project Action Teams

CSAHS Project Action Teams comprise staff representatives who

are chosen for their expertise and interest from each of the

facilities. The team works together on specific issues that effect

patient care and quality of service. Concentration this year has

been on sharps containment and disposal management systems,

better practice guidelines (NSW Health) for frontline complaints

management, theatre sterile supplies, maintenance of

electrosurgical equipment, closed wound drainage systems and

evaluation of the 1997/98 recommendations on the introduction

and use of safety equipment for injections and infusions.

Clinical pathways

Clinical and patient pathways are a CSAHS-wide initiative and

continue to develop. Currently there are 90 pathways at various

progressive stages representing most of the clinical groups. 

47
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Some of these pathways have been implemented, more will be

revised or trialed in the next financial year and others are being

developed on a continuing basis.

The multi-disciplinary teams responsible for evolving these living

pathways address the full range of patient care episodes,

particularly high usage Australian National/Diagnosis Related

Groupings, length of stay and quality outcomes.

Infection control/surveillance

The CSAHS Infection Control Working Group continued its role in

the quality improvement program to ensure standards of better

practice prevail. Several issues were explored this year including

the sharps containment and disposal system for CSAHS and

amendments to the Infection Guidelines Policy 95/13 (NSW

Health). The review and continued introduction of safety

equipment for injections and infusion resulted in a reduction in

needlestick injuries. 

Complaint management

The management of frontline complaints continued to be an

integral component of the quality improvement strategy

throughout CSAHS. Complaints and comments made by patients

and their families are given priority attention and prompt

consideration using predetermined time frames for action to be

taken and the outcome achieved. Once this has been assessed

the complainant is given an explanation of the process and their

satisfaction with the results determined.

The CSAHS board receives a quarterly report that provides the

details of the number and kind of complaints made and the

outcome of action taken.

NSW Health’s document Better Practice Guidelines for Frontline

Complaints Handling formed the basis of quality improvement

activity for complaints throughout CSAHS facilities.

CSAHS, using a quality project action team approach, measured

itself against the performance indicators of the minimum practice

guidelines. The review included assessing the five key elements

identified within the document: organisational commitment,

complaints process, consumer focus, education of staff and

information management. Several surveys were completed and a

review of documentation, audits and practices occurred. The

benchmarks were met and quality improvement issues identified.

To support the guidelines a coding system to record data was

devised and a Statewide complaints data collection system

introduced.

The 1998/99 data shows that patients’ main concerns involved

clinical care at 36 per cent and communications at 35 per cent.

quality continued
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Director: Susan Connelly TP, PRIA, AIPC

Media management dominated throughout the year in line with

the intense coverage of health issues Statewide.

The official opening of Canterbury Hospital saw the

implementation of CSAHS’s largest communication and events

management program.

Excellence in corporate communications was again recognised by

the Annual Report Awards Inc with a bronze accolade for the

Central Sydney Area Health Service 1997/98 Annual Report.

CSAHS maintained a dominant positive media profile, the highest

of any area health service in Australia.

The escalation of the Resource Transition Program (RTP) saw an

increase in strategic internal and external communications.

CSAHS’s corporate identity continued to be enhanced through

successful media advocacy, publicity and promotional campaigns,

internal and external communication strategies, sponsorship,

fundraising, publications, community relations development, as

well as event and reputation management.

The year saw the decentralisation of fundraising with the

appointment of dedicated fundraisers at four of the major

facilities. Marketing managers were placed at Royal Prince

Alfred and Concord hospitals, while Sydney Cancer Centre (SCC)

and Canterbury Hospital marketing staff further developed

existing fundraising strategies. This combined with the

consolidation of CSAHS fundraising policy and procedures led to

highly successful marketing results.

Meanwhile, public affairs activities continued to be conducted

centrally allowing consistent quality in corporate identity and

message delivery.  

Issues management played a vital role in defusing situations and

allowing healthcare workers to focus more productively on their

core business.

CSAHS Public Affairs & Marketing assisted NSW Health to

develop Statewide guidelines on advertising, sponsorship and

fundraising.

Highlights included:

• More than 1,500 people attending the CSAHS Annual General

Meeting and official opening of the new $80 million

Canterbury Hospital by NSW Premier Bob Carr. The staging of

the whole-of-community event realised the culmination of a

highly successful four-week comprehensive media and

community communication campaign in which stakeholders

were invited to take back their hospital. The program

incorporated a multicultural component, recognising

Canterbury’s diverse ethnic community

• Series four of RPA rating the 28th most-watched TV program

in Australia during 1998 with 1.6 million viewers each week.

Series five was negotiated with the Nine Network.  Filming of

patients treated at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital commenced in

January 1999 with broadcasting scheduled for August

• Assisting the Society of St Vincent de Paul in the

development and implementation of a comprehensive internal

and external communication program to announce the closure

of Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home and the arrangements for

staff and residents

• Developing strategies to communicate emerging RTP issues

including the temporary relocation of services.  They included

the rehousing of CSAHS’s palliative care headquarters to

Canterbury Hospital while Concord Hospital undergoes a

$61.8 million redevelopment

• Publicising RTP developments through displays, media

releases and RTP News

• Implementation of the paediatrics communication strategy for

the new ward at Canterbury Hospital

communication
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• Developing a communication strategy for the CSAHS Spiritual

Policy, highlighting Multiculturalism and Faiths, a guide for

healthcare professionals 

• Issues management programs such as the Sydney Water

alert; the discovery that the incorrect contrast X-ray dye had

been used during abdominal diagnostic procedures at

Canterbury Hospital; and the State Government’s decision to

suspend the highly publicised syringe and needle exchange

service in Caroline Lane, Redfern, and the development of a

draft community consultation strategy

• Staging a media event at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital to

highlight the NSW Parliament Drug Summit

• Production of employee and stakeholder publications

including RTP News highlighting the progress of the

rebuilding program; the staff newsletter newsworks; the

award-winning Central Sydney Area Health Service 1997/98

Annual Report; as well as supporter newsletters Tribute, 

and Tower Talks

• Media campaigns to attract volunteers to participate in

research programs, and drug and treatment trials

• Media launches and official openings by the NSW Health

Minister Dr Andrew Refshauge including a demonstration 

of AESOP, a voice-activated endoscopic arm used in

gastroenterology procedures. The equipment is the first of 

its type to be used in an Australian teaching hospital; Dental

Health Week at Marrickville Public School; and the $4.9

million redevelopment of Sydney Cancer Centre’s Radiation

Oncology unit based at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

• Growing sponsorship programs including the CSAHS

Employee of the Month and Year awards supported by the

Millennium Hotel chain and Air New Zealand in conjunction

with Student Flights;  and the staff newsletter newsworks by

Centra Camperdown

• Donations to Canterbury Hospital totalling more than $420,000

including the establishment of a major partnership between

the hospital and the Canterbury-Hurlstone Park RSL Club with

the announcement of a five-year pledge of $100,000 per

annum for the hospital’s operating theatres; donation of

$71,000 by Campsie RSL Club for the Pathology Department;

and the Rotary Club of Campsie’s presentation of $50,000 

• The Sydney Cancer Centre raising more than $450,000 from

foundations and corporate applications, special events and

direct mail appeals 

• RPA’s John Spence Nursery raising more than $82,000 

• Clints Crazy Bargains renewed its pledge of support to the

RPA hepatitis C research and treatment program,

guaranteeing a further three years’ funding of $100,000 per

annum to add to the $300,000 already donated. A direct mail

appeal to raise funds to replace the Ear, Nose and Throat

Department’s operating microscope netting more than $50,000

• Concord Hospital expanding its fundraising activities with the

appointment of a marketing/fundraising manager and

launching its inaugural direct mail appeal for the Burns Unit.

An increase in support from local clubs including $30,000

pledged by Western Suburbs Soccer Club for the

establishment of a Respiratory Clinic.  For a full report of

fundraising results see section 29 Charitable Fundraising

Activities in the notes to the financial statements on page 86

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Media contacts 3,728 3,300 3,130

Media releases/pitches *140 *155 244

Events 46 47 22

Publications 25 15 21

Donations $7m $5.9m

* media releases only
** does not include grants

communication continued

$4.16**
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The generosity of spirit and inspiring enthusiasm of the

volunteers who actively assist the hospitals and facilities of

CSAHS is applauded. They supplement the work of hospital staff,

meeting the additional needs of patients by providing a caring

and personal visiting role. Many groups and individuals give their

time and energy to raise important funds for the purchase of

much needed equipment. 

Individual volunteers were recognised within the community

during the year. For her tireless 27 years of service as a volunteer

to Concord Hospital and the local area, Muriel Farrell was named

Concord’s Citizen of the Year. The Fundraising Institute of

Australia presented Lizzie Booker with an award for her work

with patients at Sydney Cancer Centre, while nurse unit manager

Keith Cox was given a special accolade for his work. 

A prestigious award was given to RPA volunteer Pierre Gravina

by the French Government, for services to French-speaking

patients, many of them from Noumea. The medal L’ordre National

Dumerite was presented to Pierre in Noumea.

Concord Hospital Volunteer Service Auxiliary continued its active

role. Led by dedicated coordinator Ruth Ellis, fundraising

functions included Christmas in July, Royal Randwick Race Day

and a wine auction.

Betty McKimm’s team at RPA continued to provide valuable

assistance to patients. They support patients without family or

friends by doing laundry, escorting them to appointments when

required, doing their shopping and banking.

Dedicated volunteers at King George V Hospital continued their

weekly craft stall in the hospital’s foyer. They raised $10,000 for

patient facilities in Women’s and Children’s Health.

The RPA Women’s Auxiliary conducted a variety of trading stalls

throughout the year, raising $21,000 for medical equipment.

Fundraising was high on the agenda for the Balmain Hospital

Ladies Auxiliary. Through a series of garage sales, street stalls

and their annual fete, they raised more than $30,000 towards a

defibrillator, a bladder scan, and a dish washer and dryer.

At Canterbury Hospital the Pink Ladies are a familiar sight. As

well as visiting patients on the wards, they assist with clerical

work and in the library, and provide support at hospital functions.

Some of the male volunteers act as guides and attendants in the

outpatients department, and collect borrowed hospital equipment

from patients in the community.

Independent groups worked tirelessly in raising funds. Sydney’s

Hellenic community coordinated by Foundation IV gave $100,000

to Haematology at RPA as a result of a ball held at Star City;

Cobbitty Aid to Leukaemia donated $150,000 to research at RPA;

and the Sydney Breast Cancer Foundation raised more than

$250,000 for breast cancer research and equipment.

volunvolunteers
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Director: J Whalan BPharm, MPH, MBA

Equal Employment Opportunity

Central Sydney Area Health Service continues to support the

principles and practices of Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO).

Equity and diversity principles apply to conditions of employment,

relationships in the workplace, the evaluation of performance

and the opportunity for training and career development.

The aims of CSAHS equity initiatives are: to promote employment

policies and practices based on merit; and to pursue programs

that relate to equity and diversity principles, to assist people

traditionally disadvantaged in the workplace. This includes

applicants from non-English speaking backgrounds, Aboriginal

and Torres Strait Islander people as well as those with

disabilities. 

Merit-based selection allows the employer the opportunity to

appoint the best person for the role and for the applicant, the

right to be fairly considered for a position for which a person is

skilled and qualified. 

To reinforce merit-based selection principles, CSAHS conducts a

selection/recruitment training course through the Staff Training

and Development Unit. Available to CSAHS employees, it

includes information concerning discrimination in the workforce

with reference to the Discrimination Act 1992, the types of

disabilities and the needs of disabled people. 

CSAHS offers employees access to training and development

programs to enhance career opportunities and promote a better

trained workforce. Programs such as the Management Training

Course incorporate and promote the benefits of performance

management in the workplace.     

EEO statistics 1998/99

The statistical information for the tables shown below was

obtained from the 1997/98 and 1998/99 reports for the Office of

the Director of Equal Opportunity in Public Employment (ODEOPE).

The data for the ODEOPE Annual EEO Report is collated from

data maintained in the Workforce Human Resource Information

System. The salary levels for the 1998/99 period have been

altered by ODEOPE to reflect industry-wide wage rises. Increases

were granted to various groups of employees in 1997 and the

last round occurred on January 1 1999. 

The figures indicate there has been an overall decrease of 

2.1 per cent in the total number of staff employed by CSAHS,

excluding casual workers, and incorporates data for all facilities.

There has been an increase of 0.4 per cent in the number of

females employed by CSAHS compared to the 1997/98 figures.

52

Salary level Men Per cent Per cent of Women Per cent Per cent of Total number
1998/99 of men salary range women salary range of staff

< $25,760 100 3.4 34.5 190 2.8 65.5 290

$25,761 - $33,835 1,142 38.7 33.4 2,280 33.7 66.6 3,422

$33,836 - $37,825 221 7.5 27.3 590 8.7 72.7 811

$37,826 - $47,866 545 18.5 18.4 2,423 35.9 81.6 2,968

$47,867 - $61,899 396 13.4 29.3 954 14.1 70.6 1,350

$61,900 - $77,374 291 9.9 58.0 211 3.1 42.0 502

>$77,374 254 8.6 69.4 112 1.7 30.6 366

Total No. staff 2,949 100 6,760 100 9,709

Total per cent staff Male 30.4 Female 69.6
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Risk management

CSAHS is committed to the ongoing development and

implementation of effective risk management strategies to

protect the interests of employees and to contain insurance 

costs for the organisation.

Occupational health and safety

CSAHS facilities have occupational health and safety policies

and programs for the identification, assessment and management

of job-related injuries and illnesses. Specific strategies are being

developed and implemented to control the risks associated with

manual handling, hazardous substances, security and critical

incidents. Occupational health and safety is incorporated in

planning for the Resource Transition Program (RTP).

NSW Health’s Occupational Health, Safety and Rehabilitation

Numerical Profile provides comparison with best practice.

Results for 1998/99 year showed scores better than the target

set at all CSAHS facilities.

NSW Health Occupational Health Safety &
Rehabilitation Numerical Profile scores

CSAHS Facility 1998/99 (%)* Target (%)

Balmain 64.1 41.6

Canterbury 54.8 36.8

Concord 60.4 42.1

Rachel Forster 77.3 36.9

Rozelle 58.1 43.7

RPA 52.2 36

UDH 52.5 38.9

Average 59.9 38.8

* new standards were set for 1998/99

Workers compensation

CSAHS has a commitment to effective workers compensation

claim management and workplace-based rehabilitation.

Employees with job-related injuries or illnesses are offered

specific programs of suitable duties to assist their return to work.

There is constant review of claims and discussion to monitor the

estimated cost and implement any actions to reduce the

outstanding cost.

Workers compensation performance is measured by comparing

claim rates and costs with average NSW Health rates and costs

for the most recent three financial years.

Salary level Men Per cent Per cent of Women Per cent Per cent of Total number
1997/98 of men salary range of women salary range of staff

< $23,338 100 3.3 26.4 279 4.1 73.6 379

$23,339 -$30,654 1,152 37.8 35.5 2,089 30.4 64.5 3,241

$30,655 -$34,269 286 9.4 26.1 809 11.8 73.9 1,095

$34,270 - $43,366 552 18.1 19.5 2,285 33.3 80.5 2,837

$43,367 - $56,080 415 13.6 29.4 996 14.5 70.6 1,411

$56,081 - $70,101 308 10.1 52.4 280 4.1 47.6 588

>$70,101 236 7.7 65.2 126 1.8 34.8 362

Total No. staff 3,049 100 6,864 100 9,913

Total per cent staff Male 30.8 Female 69.2
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Workers compensation claims as at June 30 1999

1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Claims 847 735 583

CSAHS claim rate/100 EFT 9.4 8.0 6.3

*NSW Health claim rate/100 EFT 9.9 9.3 8.5

CSAHS claim cost/EFT ($) 748 664 359

*NSW Health claim cost/EFT ($) 1,335 695 376

Per cent premium used 62 98 97

* refers to entire NSW Health system

Motor fleet risk management

The CSAHS Transport Department has introduced strategies to

improve fleet management over the past year.  There has been a

review of policies and procedures, improved accident

investigation and analysis of data to identify trends, costs and

specific control strategies. This has resulted in overall better risk

management, although the hailstorm of April 1999 had a

significant impact on costs1.

Motor fleet claims as at June 30 1999

1997/98 1998/99

Claims 217 246#

CSAHS claim rate/100 vehicles 37 35

*NSW Health claim rate/100 vehicles 31 29

CSAHS claim cost/vehicles ($) 626 1,3151

*NSW Health claim cost/vehicle ($) 669 818

Per cent premium used 67 129

Data as at June 30 1999

* refers to entire NSW Health system
# increase due to Sydney Home Nursing Service transfer

Audits completed for the Treasury Managed Fund and the Audit

Office of NSW as well as those conducted by the CSAHS Internal

Audit department are used to assess and manage risks in

property, public liability, environment, fraud and corruption,

information systems management and year 2000 compliance.

Employee relations

During the year, Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home was

progressively wound down and closed on March 31 1999.

Employees were redeployed to RPA, Concord, Canterbury and

Balmain hospitals. During this period, staff from Our Lady of Loreto

were offered advice through the CSAHS Employee Assistance

Scheme.

The Staff Consultative Committee continued to meet monthly and

provided a valuable communication channel to resolve issues.

Membership consists of representatives from management and all

relevant associations or unions across CSAHS.

The Joint Consultative Committee, chaired by the chief executive

officer, continued to meet quarterly with union head office

representatives.

Following implementation of the Human Resource Information

System to facilities, the pay office was restructured and

streamlined to reflect these changes.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The CSAHS Code of Conduct and Ethics was reviewed in

accordance with the NSW Health guidelines. The code outlines

acceptable standards of behaviour and all staff are expected to

observe the contents as a condition of their employment.

Corruption prevention

Progress of CSAHS programs included:

• Internal Audit conducting seven interactive sessions for all

levels of staff focusing on corruption prevention and

detection, as well as protected disclosures. Attendees have

been primarily from management positions

• ongoing quarterly review meetings to monitor incidents and

corruption prevention activities at each facility
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• using publications from the Independent Commission Against

Corruption (ICAC) to review and distribute policies and

procedures

• reviewing risk assessment tools

• conducting internal audits, with reports submitted to the 

chief executive officer and CSAHS board

• Internal Audit promoting its role as a corruption prevention

help desk

• reporting appropriate matters to NSW Police, ICAC and 

NSW Health.

During 1998/99:

• there were 19 instances of possible corrupt conduct reported

to ICAC. The matters were raised by either senior

management or staff, with 10 being initially reported by staff

and one made anonymously

• seven of the 19 instances were reported to NSW Police.

Recognition program

The Employee Recognition Program acknowledges the valuable

work of CSAHS staff and honours individuals for excellence.

The monthly award is sponsored by the Millennium Hotel Sydney,

which provides a luxurious night for two, including champagne on

arrival and a sumptuous buffet breakfast.

The Millennium Hotel Christchurch donated the Employee of the

Year prize, with Air New Zealand in conjunction with Student

Flights providing the airfare.

Entrants are nominated by their fellow workers and winners

selected by the CSAHS Employee of the Month Committee,

comprising representatives from each facility.

A member of the CSAHS executive presents the awards at a

gathering with the recipient’s colleagues. This information is then

publicised in the staff newsletter newsworks, local papers and

relevant industry publications.

1998/99 winners were:

Robyn Quinn Community Health

George Liakopoulos Rachel Forster Hospital

Georgina Georgi Dame Eadith Walker Hospital

Maurice Bruno Canterbury Hospital

Daine Robson RPA

Beverley Culshaw General, Geriatric and Rehabilitation Medicine

Rob Pike RPA

Lunetta Iacozzi RPA

Penny Lane Canterbury Hospital

Rhonda MacKenzie Sexual Health

Andrea Hendley Concord Hospital

Kindin Ongugo RPA

The Employee of the Year for 1998/99 was Rob Pike who has

worked at CSAHS for the past 15 years. As head of CSAHS’s

relocations team, Rob has played an important role in the

Resource Transition Program. 

Rob will enjoy a five-day holiday for two in Christchurch, New

Zealand, courtesy of the Millennium Hotel, Student Flights and

Air New Zealand.

Freedom of Information (FOI)

The Freedom of Information Act 1989 allows the public the right

to view, obtain copies and/or amend documents held by

government agencies concerning their personal affairs. It ensures

such records are not incomplete, incorrect, out of date or

misleading.

Section 14(1)(a) of the FOI Act requires an agency to ensure that

up-to-date information is available to the public through The

Statement of Affairs which is published annually. The current

statement of affairs for CSAHS is incorporated into the 1998/99

Annual Report and provides information on the objectives,

functions and structure of CSAHS. 
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corpoCSAHS has established liaisons with consumer groups including:

patients/clients/families, general practitioners and health

professionals within CSAHS and other area health services, non-

government organisations community groups, local councils and

council-run facilities, and local business.

The CSAHS Summary of Affairs which lists policy documents,

covers the CSAHS head office, Central Sydney Supply Services,

community health services, Division of Population Health, CEIDA,

HealthQuest, NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine, Tresillian

Family Centres, as well as Royal Prince Alfred, Concord,

Canterbury, Balmain, Rachel Forster, United Dental and Rozelle

hospitals. 

The Summary of Affairs is updated and forwarded to the

Government Printing Office for inclusion in the Government

Gazette every six months. FOI officers for each facility are listed

with their contact address and telephone number. Enquiries are

made through these officers for information pertaining to FOI

applications, access to medical records and/or amendment of

records. 

To inspect or purchase the Summary of Affairs, phone CSAHS on

(02) 9515 9600.  

Freedom of Information statistics

The number of FOI applications received by CSAHS for the

1998/99 period was comparable to last year’s figures, as shown

in the table below, although there was an increase in 

non-personal applications. 

Canterbury, RPA and Balmain hospitals, as well as HealthQuest,

received the largest proportion of new applications, with the

remaining being divided between UDH, Population Health and

CSAHS.

56 corporate services continued

FOI APPLICATIONS 1997/98 1998/99
NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS Personal Non-personal Personal Non-personal
Applications carried forward from 30 June (applications not 2 2 0 1
completed in the previous period)
New applications 218 26 214 39
Applications completed 172 20 175 21
Number of amendments and/or notations 0 0 1 0
OUTCOME OF APPLICATIONS
Outcome of completed applications
Granted in full 153 16 163 15
Granted in part 14 0 6 2
Refused 44 0 38 17
Deferred 0 0 1 0
Applications granted in part or refused
Exempt (Schedule 1) 15 0 6 2
Unreasonable diversion of resources 0 0 0 0
Otherwise available 42 0 36 0
Other 1 0 2 2
No record held 2 4 4 2
No fees submitted 2 0 2 17
FEES
Fees received $4,452.00 $730.00 $4,245.00 $720.00
Number of discounts allowed  53 1 67 0
Financial hardship 46 0 16 0
Public interest 0 0 0 0
PROCESSING TIME
0-14 days 150 17 155 12
15-21 days 19 2 17 4
More than 21 days 3 1 3 5
Reviews and appeals 6 2 2 0
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CSAHS received six new applications for the reporting period

1998/99. There was an equal number of personal and non-

personal applications; two of the three personal applications

requested an internal review, with one applicant requesting a

review under the Freedom of Information Act, Amendment of

Records, Section 47.  

In relation to one of the personal applications, all the documents

were released. Partial release was granted to the second

applicant, as certain parts of the documents were considered

exempt under Schedule 1 Clause 6(1) of the FOI Act. 

The third applicant, who requested the internal review of a

determination under Section 47 of the Act - Amendment of

Records, was refused on the grounds that the applicant’s

personal file provided advice and opinion of medical officers and

other professionals. However, it was determined by CSAHS in

accordance with Section 46 of the FOI Act, that appropriate

notations be placed on the applicant’s file. It is also CSAHS

policy to attach to the record/file any statements provided by a

patient/client indicating that a correction, deletion or addition is

sought, in accordance with the Australian Standard: Personal

Privacy Protection in Health Care Information Systems.

In relation to one of the non-personal applications, all of the

documents were released. CSAHS informed the second applicant

that a processing fee was required to complete the FOI request.

An assessment was made and the applicant notified, however,

when CSAHS did not receive any further instruction, the required

notice was given and the applicant advised that the FOI

application had been withdrawn. 

Following a search for documents relating to the third applicant’s

request, it was discovered that the requested information was

not held by CSAHS, and the applicant was notified as such under

Section 28(1)(b) of the FOI Act. 

Central Sydney Supply Service

Central Sydney Supply Service (CSSS) provides cataloguing,

customer ordering, contracting, purchasing, inventory

management, system administration, customer service, as well

as warehousing and distribution.

It consists of six sections:

• headquarters at Alexandria, where inventory, supply and

accounts payable occur

• contracts and cataloguing at Concord Hospital

• Dental Supply Service at United Dental Hospital

• Engineering Supply Service at RPA

• Pharmaceutical Supply Service at Concord Hospital

• customer service, receiving and distribution operations at RPA

and Concord hospitals.

As part of the Resource Transition Program, plans are under way

to move CSSS to a purpose-built distribution facility at Concord

Hospital. Construction should be completed, including the

relocation of the Alexandria headquarters and contracts and

cataloguing operations, by the end of 1999.

Highlights included:

• Preparing for the implementation of Oracle V10.7

• Y2K business continuity management

• Imprest review

• Printed materials prime vendoring

• RPA accreditation, and

• Assisting with the design and development of the new facility

at Concord Hospital.

Key Indicators 1996/97 1997/98 1998/99

Customer Requisitions 60,141 75,356 74,777

Stock Picking Slips 49,769 61,240 49,713

Purchase Orders 70,564 95,371 101,496

Purchase Order Invoices 95,286 120,098 131,186
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Director: Julie Roberts BAppSc (Computing)

As in 1997/98, efforts during the past year were focused almost

exclusively on the testing and rectification of year 2000

problems.

Systems and pieces of equipment that support critical functions

were given priority. Responsibilities for rectification and testing

were assigned to team coordinators across CSAHS.  Each team

reported monthly on progress through the CSAHS Year 2000

Steering Committee.

The scope of CSAHS’s year 2000 plan covers systems such as

hospital and corporate information and databases,

communications and networks, as well as biomedical, laboratory,

imaging and other computer-controlled equipment.

Highlights included:

• Continuing the CSAHS Year 2000 Integrated Patient

Information (YIPI) project, providing the opportunity to

standardise Patient Administration Systems (PAS) across

CSAHS. This project will replace the non-year 2000 compliant

Patient Care System at Concord Hospital, and the RPA PAS.

The new PAS was installed at Balmain, RPA and Rozelle

hospitals. The next phase concentrates on the replacement 

of systems at Concord Hospital

• Expanding the network infrastructure at Concord and RPA

hospitals which continued to provide enhanced high-speed

links on campus to support the Resource Transition Program,

increased traffic, image transfer and the implementation of

CSAHS’s clinical system strategy

• Continuing the community health information development

scheme with further installation of computers and software

• Installing Cerner PathNet version 500 at Concord Hospital.

The implementation began the standardisation of systems

across the Central Sydney Laboratory Service and addresses

year 2000 problems

• Upgrading critical systems in accordance with year 2000

specifications including pharmacy information and financials

and materials management. 

technology
INFORMATION SYSTEMS DIVISION
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treas60 treasurer’s report
FOR YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 1999

Despite a very busy year, with staff working to ensure year 2000

compliancy in addition to their usual functions and the advance of

the rebuilding and renovation program, the net cost of services was

$2.703 million less than the $564.790 million budget.

Expenses for the year of $783.026 million were $824,000,

favourable to the $783.850 million budget and the revenue of

$223.181 million was $1.496 million ahead of target.

This year was the first in which area health services were provided

with adjustments recognising the flow of acute inpatients from

their area to others within the State. The expression used to

describe this is inter-area patient flows.

Central Sydney Area Health Service provided $115.628 million 

in services to patients from other area health services, up 

$6.714 million from the previous year.

The services provided to residents of other area health services

was almost $69 million more than those provided to our residents

by other area health services.

To conform to Australian accounting standards, the inter-area

patient flows for 1998 are not reported except in the notes to the

accounts.

Total revenue of $223.181 million was dominated by the sale 

of goods and services which totalled $193.787 million, a sum

$782,000 better than budget. Due to the inclusion of the 

$115.628 million in inter-area patient flows and the $22.476 million

from NSW Health (for Department of Veterans’ Affairs patients), in

1999 there was a major increase over last year’s sale of goods and

services revenue. All but $3.792 million of the  $141.896 million

increase was due to those two items.

The deterioration in the number of patients covered by private

health insurance continued, as the chargeable bed days fell from

222,585 in 1998 to 174,608, a fall of 21.6 per cent.

The balance sheet revealed that the total equity at 30 June 1999

was $552.946 million compared to the $582.651 million of last year.

The $29.705 million fall in equity was attributable to the 

$15.868 million extra charge to the operating statement to take

account of portions of the capital grants that were written off

rather than capitalised, as well as the sale of the motor vehicle

fleet and the transfer of the $8.911 million proceeds from that sale

to NSW Treasury.

Capital works expenditure for the year was $35.712 million. The

new Canterbury Hospital was officially opened in November and

the Resource Transition Program continued with major works at a

number of facilities.

May I again this year express my admiration for the staff of CSAHS

for their dedication and attention to their core business of caring

for the community in a thoroughly professional way. They continue

a tradition that will, I am certain, inspire those who follow them.  

Maria Pethard
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Pursuant to Section 45F(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act

1983, we declare on behalf of the Board of Central Sydney Area

Health Service that:

i) the financial statements of Central Sydney Area Health

Service for the year ended 30 June 1999 have been prepared

in accordance with the requirements of applicable Australian

Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group

Consensus Views, the requirements of the  Public Finance

and Audit Act 1983, and Regulations, the Financial Reporting

Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for

Budget Dependent Agencies or issued by the Treasurer under

section 9(2)(n) of the Act and the requirements of the Public

Hospitals Act 1929 and its Regulations;

Where there are inconsistencies between the above

requirements, the legislative provisions have prevailed;

Statements of Accounting Concepts are used as guidance in

the absence of applicable Accounting Standards, Urgent

Issues Group Consensus Views and legislative requirements; 

ii) the financial statements present fairly the financial position

and transactions of the Area Health Service;

iii) there are no circumstances which would render any

particulars in the accounts to be misleading or inaccurate;

and

iv) it has been determined that the Public Authorities (Financial

Arrangements) Act 1987 has not been complied with in that

the Treasurer’s approval was not arranged by the NSW

Health Department prior to its advancing loan funds to the

Service, even though such loan arrangements of this nature

have been in place since 1990;

Legislative changes are now being considered to validate

the loan arrangements in all ensuing financial years;

Borrowings are accurately reflected in the Service’s

financial statements.

In respect of the consolidated financial statements: 

i) the financial statements for Central Sydney Area Health

Service and its controlled entity for the year ended 30 June

1999 have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

Australian Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues

Group Consensus Views,  the requirements of the Public

Finance and Audit Act, 1983,  and its Regulations, the

Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial

Reporting Code for Budget Dependent Agencies or issued

by the Treasurer under section 9(2)(n) of the Act and the

requirements of the Public Hospitals Act, 1929 and its

Regulations;

Where there are inconsistencies between the above

requirements, the legislative provisions have prevailed;

Statements of Accounting Concepts are used as guidance in

the absence of applicable Accounting Standards, Urgent

Issue Group Consensus Views and Legislative requirements;

ii) the financial statements present fairly the financial position

and transactions of the Area Health Service and its

controlled entity;

iii) there are no circumstances which would render any

particulars in the consolidated accounts to be misleading or

inaccurate; and

iv) it has been determined that Public Authorities (Financial

Arrangements) Act 1987 has not been complied with in that

the Treasurer’s approval was not arranged by the NSW

Health Department prior to its advancing loan funds to the

Service, even though such loan arrangements of this nature

have been in place since 1990;

Legislative changes are now being considered to validate

the loan arrangements in all ensuing financial years;

Borrowings are accurately reflected in the Service’s

financial statements.

Christopher Puplick

Chairman

1 October 1999 1 October 1999

Michael P Wallace

Acting Chief Executive Officer

61

CSAHS Financials  11/29/99  4:23 PM  Page 61



62 independent audit report
CENTRAL SYDNEY AREA HEALTH SERVICE

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Members
of the Board

Scope

I have audited the accounts of the Central Sydney Area Health Service
for the year ended 30 June 1999. The financial report includes the
consolidated accounts of the economic entity comprising the service
and the entity it controlled at the year's end or from time to time
during the financial year. The Board is responsible for the financial
report consisting of the statement of financial position, operating
statement, statement of cash flows and program statement - expenses
and revenues, together with the notes thereto, and information
contained therein.  My responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial report to Members of the New South Wales Parliament and
the Board based on my audit as required by sections 34 and 45F(1) of
the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Charitable Fundraising
Act 1991. My responsibility does not extend here to an assessment of
the assumptions used in formulating budget figures disclosed in the
financial report.

My audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards and statutory requirements to provide reasonable assurance
whether the financial report is free of material misstatement.  My
procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence
supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial report,
and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting
estimates.  

In addition, other legislative and policy requirements, which could have
an impact on the Central Sydney Area Health Service financial report,
have been reviewed on a cyclical basis.  For this year, the requirements
examined comprised compliance with: 

• core business activities being in accordance with approved program
descriptions;

• the Public Authorities (Financial Arrangements) Act 1987 
the Service’s policies and procedures in respect of trust accounts
operations; and 

• the Service’s policies and procedures in respect of grants made to
entities external to the NSW public sector. 

These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in
all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in
accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements, and statutory requirements so as
to present a view which is consistent with my understanding of the
Central Sydney Area Health Service’s and the economic entity's
financial position, the results of their operations and their cash flows.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the
above basis.

Qualification
As disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, the Central Sydney
Area Health Service did not have the Treasurer’s approval in terms of
the Public Authorities (Financial Arrangements) Act 1987 to loans of
$3,834,000 as at 1 July 1998.  In my opinion, these loans do not
comply with the provisions of the Public Authorities (Financial 

Arrangements) Act 1987. These loans have been accurately recognised
in the Central Sydney Area Health Service’s and the economic entity's
financial report.

Qualified Audit Opinion
In my opinion, except for the non-compliance with the Public
Authorities (Financial Arrangements) Act 1987 referred to in the
qualification paragraph, the financial report of the Central Sydney Area
Health Service and the economic entity complies with section 45E of
the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and presents fairly in
accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements the financial position of the
service and the economic entity as at 30 June 1999 and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended.

Inherent Uncertainty Regarding Year 2000 Compliance

Without further qualification to the opinion expressed above, attention
is drawn to the following matter because of the implications of any
adverse effects on the activities of the Central Sydney Area Health
Service and the economic entity. As indicated in note 36 to the
financial statements, the Central Sydney Area Health Service and
economic entity have implemented a program to address the potential
computer system failures attributable to the date change from 1999 to
2000. The Central Sydney Area Health Service’s and economic entity's
activities might also be affected by the ability of third parties dealing
with the Central Sydney Area Health Service and economic entity to
manage the year 2000 date change. Because third parties have not
been willing to provide assurances that their systems are year 2000
compliant, the outcome of the date change on the activities of the
Central Sydney Area Health Service and economic entity cannot
presently be determined.

Report in accordance with section 24 of the Charitable
Fundraising Act 1991

I report that:

i) the accounts of the Central Sydney Area Health Service and 
economic entity show a true and fair view of the financial 
result of fundraising appeals for the year ended 30 June 1999;

ii) the accounts and associated records of the Central Sydney Area 
Health Service and economic entity have been properly kept 
during the year in accordance with the Act;

iii) money received as a result of fundraising appeals conducted 
during the year has been properly accounted for and applied in 
accordance with the Act; and

iv) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Central Sydney 
Area Health Service and economic entity will be able to pay 
their debts as and when they fall due.

R J Sendt
Auditor-General

SYDNEY
7 October 1999

Box 12 GPO
Sydney NSW 2001
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63financstatement of financial position
BEGINNING OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 30 JUNE 1999

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

Actual Budget Actual Notes Actual Budget Actual
1999 1999 1998 1999 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

Current Assets

7,177 14,487 223 Cash 2(q)(i),16,30 7,282 14,487 416

51,449 48,961 60,542 Investments 2(q)(iii),2(o),17,30 58,192 48,961 67,109

17,263 15,311 18,411 Receivables 2(q)(ii),18 17,288 15,311 18,418

5,660 5,913 6,130 Inventories 2(p),19 5,660 5,913 6,130

81,549 84,672 85,306 Total Current Assets 88,422 84,672 92,073

Non-Current Assets

551,899 557,551 559,055 Land and Buildings 2(f), 2(j), 20 552,323 557,551 559,096

66,074 63,644 79,560 Plant and Equipment 2(h), 20 66,081 63,644 79,568

1,500 1,500 2,000 Receivables 2(q)(ii), 18 1,500 1,500 2,000

619,473 622,695 640,615 Total Non-Current Assets 619,904 622,695 640,664

701,022 707,367 725,921 Total Assets 708,326 707,367 732,737

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

20,395 22,628 21,561 Accounts Payable 2(q)(iv),22 20,406 22,628 21,540

750 750 5,782 Borrowings 2(q)(v), 23 750 750 5,782

56,405 57,975 54,559 Employee Entitlements 2(b),24 56,405 57,975 54,564

77,550 81,353 81,902 Total Current Liabilities 77,561 81,353 81,886

Non-Current Liabilities

– – 750 Borrowings 2(q)(v)23 – – 750

77,819 75,518 67,450 Employee Entitlements 2(b),24 77,819 75,518 67,450

77,819 75,518 68,200 Total Non-Current Liabilities 77,819 75,518 68,200

155,369 156,871 150,102 Total Liabilities 155,380 156,871 150,086

545,653 550,496 575,819 Net Assets 552,946 550,496 582,651

Equity

151,961 151,961 151,961 Reserves 25 151,961 151,961 151,961

393,692 398,535 423,858 Accumulated Funds 25 400,985 398,535 430,690

545,653 550,496 575,819 Total Equity 552,946 550,496 582,651

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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financ64 operating statement
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

Actual Budget Actual Notes Actual Budget Actual
1999 1999 1998 1999 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expenses

Operating Expenses

494,459 493,508 463,998 Employee Related 3 494,834 493,508 464,203

24,696 25,245 24,139 Visiting Medical Officers 24,696 25,245 24,139

195,800 195,172 122,954 Goods and Services 2(t), 4 195,940 195,172 123,112

27,590 29,236 25,062 Maintenance 2(g),5 27,594 29,236 25,066

27,759 29,309 29,087 Depreciation 2(i),6 27,760 29,309 29,087

7,404 7,353 6,962 Grants and Subsidies 7 7,404 7,353 6,962

Payments to Affiliated Health Organisations

4,798 4,027 6,305 - Recurrent Sourced 8 4,798 4,027 6,305

782,506 783,850 678,507 Total Expenses 783,026 783,850 678,874

Revenues

193,594 193,005 51,888 Sale of Goods and Services 2(l),9 193,787 193,005 51,891

2,461 2,705 3,376 Investment Income 10 2,789 2,705 3,663

20,341 20,509 18,032 Grants and Contributions 11,14 20,725 20,509 20,408

5,808 5,466 1,874 Other Revenue 12,14 5,880 5,466 1,923

222,204 221,685 75,170 Total Revenues 223,181 221,685 77,885

2,242 2,625 (738) (Gain)/Loss on Sale of Non-Current Assets 13 2,242 2,625 (738)

562,544 564,790 602,599 Net Cost of Services 31 562,087 564,790 600,251

Add Government Contributions

NSW Health Department 

479,968 479,968 546,838 Recurrent Allocations 2(a) 479,968 479,968 546,838

NSW Health Department 

29,188 29,203 47,197 Capital Allocations 2(a) 29,188 29,203 47,197

Asset Sale Proceeds transferred 

(8,911) (8,911) – to the Crown Entity 2(s) (8,911) (8,911) –

Acceptance by the Crown

32,137 32,375 27,036 Entity of Superannuation Liability 2(c) 32,137 32,375 27,037

(30,162) (32,155) 18,472 Movement in Accumulated Funds 25 (29,705) (32,155) 20,821

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

Actual Budget Actual Notes Actual Budget Actual
1999 1999 1998 1999 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Payments

(447,377) (448,205) (425,079) Employee Related (447,757) (448,205) (425,288)

(7,404) (7,353) (6,963) Grants and Subsidies (7,404) (7,353) (6,962)

(235,287) (232,809) (169,992) Other (235,426) (232,809) (170,158)

(690,068) (688,367) (602,034) Total Payments (690,587) (688,367) (602,408)

Receipts

193,451 193,196 51,180 Sale of Goods and Services 193,644 193,196 51,184

2,163 2,706 3,378 Interest Received 2,472 2,706 3,657

23,103 19,467 20,718 Other 23,560 19,467 23,168

218,717 215,369 75,276 Total Receipts 219,676 215,369 78,009

Cash Flows From Government

NSW Health Department

479,968 479,968 546,838 Recurrent Allocations 479,968 479,968 546,838

29,188 29,203 47,197 NSW Health Department Capital Allocations 29,188 29,203 47,197

Asset Sale Proceeds transferred 

(8,911) (8,911) – to the Crown Entity (8,911) (8,911) –

500,245 500,260 594,035 NET CASH FLOWS FROM GOVERNMENT 500,245 500,260 594,035

28,894 27,262 67,277 NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 29,334 27,262 69,636

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, 

26,353 24,789 5,364 Plant and Equipment 26,353 24,789 5,364

(54,346) (59,802) (68,380) Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment (54,729) (59,802) (68,422)

2,742 – (1,743) Other 2,773 – (1,768)

(25,251) (35,013) (64,759) NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (25,603) (35,013) (64,826)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

– – 387 Proceeds from Borrowings – – 387

(3,084) (3,084) (3,020) Repayment of Borrowings (3,084) (3,084) (3,020)

(3,084) (3,084) (2,633) NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (3,084) (3,084) (2,633)

559 (10,835) (115) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 647 (10,835) 2,177

58,067 70,737 58,182 Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 64,827 70,737 62,650

58,626 59,902 58,067 CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30 65,474 59,902 64,827

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statement of cash flows
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financ66 consolidated program statement – expenses and revenues
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

Program Program Program Program
1.1 1.2 1.3 2.1

1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expenses
Operating Expenses

Employee Related 32,599 28,227 298 247 75,253 71,437 17,310 16,433

Other Operating Expenses 6,702 5,684 41 42 34,752 22,474 8,069 5,629

Maintenance 1,062 742 1 13 4,387 4,351 955 815

Depreciation 464 379 – – 4,364 4,809 1,086 1,039

Grants and Subsidies 3,905 3,792 – – – – – –

Finance Costs – – – – – – – –

Other Expenses 416 538 – – 735 641 – –

Total Expenses 45,148 39,362 340 302 119,491 103,712 27,420 23,916

Retained Revenue

Sale of Goods and Services 1,881 1,617 – – 26,050 2,913 7,264 1,249

Investment Income 109 144 – – 270 355 19 25

Grants and Contributions 2,805 2,673 – – 1,542 1,127 159 157

Other Revenue 771 252 – – 440 144 45 15

Total Retained Revenue 5,566 4,686 – – 28,302 4,539 7,487 1,446

Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Non-Current Assets (29) (238) – – 10 (6) – –

NET COST OF SERVICES 39,611 34,964 340 302 91,179 99,179 19,933 22,470
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Program Program Program Program Program Program Grand Total
2.2 2.3 3.1 4.1 5.1 6.1

1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

233,510 231,224 26,542 24,957 52,081 48,106 29,783 27,042 2,611 2,425 24,847 12,585 494,834 462,683

120,911 83,181 14,600 8,929 12,212 6,220 13,427 9,438 572 498 9,350 6,676 220,636 148,771

14,007 12,649 1,705 1,292 1,596 1,705 1,732 1,674 180 167 1,969 1,658 27,594 25,066

15,166 16,869 1,994 1,807 1,838 2,020 1,424 1,273 26 42 1,398 849 27,760 29,087

– – – – 1,507 1,372 426 233 46 45 1,520 1,520 7,404 6,962

– – – – – – – – – – – – – –

3,240 4,622 – – – – 407 504 – – – – 4,798 6,305

386,834 348,545 44,841 36,985 69,234 59,423 47,199 40,164 3,435 3,177 39,084 23,288 783,026 678,874

114,824 34,417 13,645 3,626 17,392 5,483 12,149 2,044 16 15 566 527 193,787 51,891

510 668 12 16 20 26 391 514 11 15 1,447 1,900 2,789 3,663

6,513 6,847 464 459 45 45 2,157 2,135 47 47 6,993 6,918 20,725 20,408

1,858 607 132 43 13 4 615 201 14 4 1,992 653 5,880 1,923

123,705 42,539 14,253 4,144 17,470 5,558 15,312 4,894 88 81 10,998 9,998 223,181 77,885

1,958 1,772 – – (4,213) (448) 32 (348) – – – – (2,242) 738

261,171 304,234 30,588 32,841 55,977 54,313 31,855 35,618 3,347 3,096 28,086 13,290 562,087 600,251

The name and purpose of each program is summarised in Note 15.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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financ68 notes to and forming part of the financial statements
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

1. CSAHS REPORTING ENTITY

Central Sydney Area Health Service was established on 1st August

1988. CSAHS incorporates and manages all the operating activities

of the following hospitals, community health services and other

facilities under its control:

• Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

• Concord Repatriation General Hospital

• Balmain Hospital

• Canterbury Hospital

• Centre for Education and Information on Drugs and Alcohol

• HealthQuest

• NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine

• Population Health

• Rachel Forster Hospital

• Rozelle Hospital

• Thomas Walker Hospital

• United Dental Hospital

• ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation

In addition, the following Affiliated Health Organisations are

associated by special arrangements with CSAHS.

• Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home for the Aged*

• Central Sydney Scarba Service

• Tresillian Family Care Centres

* Services discontinued from March 1999

The Financial Statements encompass the activities of the General

Fund and the controlled segment of the Special Purposes and Trust

Fund. As CSAHS cannot use the uncontrolled segment of the latter

fund to achieve its objectives, the cash balances and activity of

that segment are disclosed by way of a note to the accounts.

Within the controlled segment of the Special Purposes and Trust

Fund there are assets restricted to specific uses by donors but

nonetheless controlled by CSAHS.

The primary objectives of CSAHS are to protect, promote and

maintain the health of central Sydney residents and to provide

State and nationwide health services, research and training.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated accounts are those of the consolidated entity,

comprising CSAHS (the chief entity), and its controlled entity,

ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation (refer Note 17).

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements

for the economic entity consisting of the controlling and controlled

entity, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been

eliminated.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

CSAHS’s Financial Statements are a general purpose financial

report which has been prepared on an accruals basis in

accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other

mandatory professional reporting requirements and the

requirements of the Health Services Act 1997 and its regulations

including observation of the Accounts and Audit Determination for

area health services and public hospitals.

Where there are inconsistencies between the above requirements,

the legislative provisions have prevailed.

Statements of Accounting Concepts are used as guidance in the

absence of applicable Accounting Standards, other mandatory

professional requirements and legislative requirements.

Except for certain property, plant and equipment, which are

recorded at valuation, the financial statements are prepared in

accordance with the historical cost convention. All amounts are

rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in

Australian currency.

Other significant accounting policies used in the preparation of

these financial statements are as follows:

(a) NSW Health Department Cash Payments

Cash Payments are made by the NSW Health Department on the

basis of the net allocation for the health service as adjusted for

approved supplementations mostly for salary agreements, patient

flows between health services and other states and approved

enhancement projects. This allocation is included in the Operating

Statement before arriving at the operating result on the basis that

the allocation is earned in return for the health services provided

on behalf of the NSW Health Department.
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General operating expenses/revenues of Affiliated Health

Organisations ie Tresillian Family Care Centres, Our Lady of Loreto

Nursing Home for the Aged, Central Sydney Scarba Service and

Eversleigh Hospital have only been included in the Operating

Statements to the extent of the net cash payments made to the

facilities concerned. CSAHS is not deemed to own or control the

various assets/liabilities of the aforementioned Affiliated Health

Organisations and such amounts have been excluded from the

Statement of Financial Position. Any exceptions are specifically

listed in the notes that follow.

The NSW Health Department has implemented a policy of net

appropriation with all revenues earned being retained at CSAHS

level and, with NSW Health Department Cash Payments, applied

to offset net expenditure.

Capital Allocations have been treated as revenue in these financial

statements and have been brought to account after Net Cost of

Services.

(b) Employee Entitlements

The elements of the entitlements are: salaries and wages, annual

leave, long service leave, sick leave and on-costs.

Liabilities for salaries and wages, annual leave and vesting sick

leave are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the

reporting date at current pay rates in respect of employees’

services up to that date.

Long service leave measurement is based on the remuneration

rates at year end for all employees with five or more years of

service. It is considered that this measurement technique produces

results not materially different from the estimate determined by

using the present value basis of measurement.

Neither unused non-vesting sick leave nor the staff specialists’

training, education and study leave give rise to a liability, as it is

not considered probable that those forms of leave taken in the

future will be greater than the entitlements accrued.

The outstanding amounts of workers’ compensation insurance

premiums and fringe benefits tax, which are consequential to

employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the

employee entitlements to which they relate have been recognised.

Under the leave mobility provisions applicable in the Government

sector from May 1993, CSAHS paid and received monies in respect

of employee leave transferred.

(c) Superannuation

CSAHS’s liability for superannuation is assumed by the Crown

Entity. CSAHS accounts for the liability as having been

extinguished resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part

of the non-monetary revenue item described as “Acceptance by

the Crown Entity of Superannuation Liability”.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined

by using the formulae specified by the NSW Health Department.

The expense for certain superannuation schemes (ie Basic Benefit

and First State Superannuation) is calculated as a percentage of

the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (ie State

Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation

Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employee’s

superannuation contributions.

In the six years ending 30 June 1999, since Concord Repatriation

General Hospital was absorbed into CSAHS, the superannuation

expenditure associated with those staff who have remained in the

Federal Superannuation Fund was paid by NSW Health

Department. That expenditure totalled $6.997 million in 1998/99

and $7.044 million in 1997/98.

(d) Insurance

CSAHS’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW

Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self insurance for Government

agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund

Manager based on past experience.

(e) Use of Outside Facilities

CSAHS uses a number of facilities owned and maintained by the

local authorities in the area to deliver community health services

for which no charges are raised by the authorities. The cost

method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all such

services with cost being determined as the fair value of the

services given which is then duly recognised as both revenue and

matching expense.

CSAHS Financials  11/29/99  4:23 PM  Page 69



financ70 notes to and forming part of the financial statements
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

(f) Acquisition of Assets

The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of

all acquisitions of assets.  Cost is determined as the fair value of

assets given up at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to

the acquisition.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are

initially recognised as assets and revenues at their fair value at

the date of acquisition.

Fair value means the amount for which an asset could be

exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a

knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.

Land and buildings which are owned by the Health Administration

Corporation or the State and used by CSAHS are deemed to be

owned by CSAHS and are reflected as such in the financial

statements.

Construction in progress is carried at cost and relates to capital

work on the redevelopment of the Resource Transition Program,

information systems enhancements and miscellaneous projects.

(g) Repairs, Maintenance and Replacements

Repairs and maintenance costs and minor replacements or

renewals (items less than $5,000) are expensed as incurred.

Maintenance costs include expenses on periodic overhaul of major

items of plant, machinery and equipment.

(h) Plant and Equipment

Individual items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are

capitalised.

(i) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis against all

depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of

each depreciable asset as it is consumed over its useful life to

CSAHS. Land is not considered a depreciable asset.

Property, plant and equipment have been depreciated from not

later than the month following acquisition or operation.

Depreciation rates on individual assets are reviewed annually.

Details of depreciation rates for major asset categories are as follows:

Buildings 0.5% - 2.8%

Electro Medical Equipment

- Costing less than $200,000 10.0%

- Costing more than or equal to $200,000 12.5%

Computer Equipment 20.0%

Office Equipment 12.5%

Plant and Machinery 10.0%

Furniture, Fittings and Furnishings 10.0%

Linen 20.0% - 33.3%

Motor Vehicles - Trucks, Buses and Vans 20.0%

(j) Revaluation of Physical Non-Current Assets

Buildings and improvements and infrastructure assets (excluding

land) are valued based on the estimated written down

replacement cost of the most appropriate modern equivalent

replacement facility having a similar service potential to the

existing asset. Land is valued on an existing use basis.

Plant and equipment are carried at net book value which

management has assessed to approximate written down

replacement cost. Construction in progress is shown at cost. Land

and buildings surplus to CSAHS’s requirements are stated at

market value.

Land and buildings are revalued every five years. The last such

valuation was completed as at 1 July 1997.

Where assets are revalued upward or downward using the

replacement cost basis, CSAHS restates separately the gross

amount and the related accumulated depreciation of that class of

assets.

The recoverable amount test has not been applied as CSAHS is a

not-for-profit entity whose service potential is not related to the

ability to generate net cash inflows.
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(k) Leased Assets

A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively

transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and

benefits incidental to ownership of the leased assets, and

operating leases under which the lessor effectively retains all such

risks and benefits. CSAHS does not have any finance lease. It does

however, have a number of operating leases for buildings and

office equipment.

Operating lease payments are charged to expense in the periods in

which they are incurred.

(l) Patient Fees

Patient Fees are derived from chargeable inpatients and non-

inpatients on the basis of rates specified by the NSW Health

Department from time to time.

(m) Use of Hospital Facilities

Specialist doctors with rights of private practice are charged for

the use of hospital facilities at rates determined by the NSW

Health Department or the salary agreement with the doctors. That

charge is based on fees collected.

(n) Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to expense in the

year in which they are incurred.

(o) Investments

The vast majority of investments are held as cash deposits which

would suffer no capital loss if they were redeemed before

maturity. The need to restate them at net market selling values

does not arise. They are carried at cost.

Interest revenues are recognised as they accrue.

(p) Inventories

All inventories have been valued at the lower of cost and net

realisable value, and have been classified as current assets based

on expected use. Costs are assigned to individual items of stock

mainly on a weighted average cost basis.

Obsolete items are disposed of in accordance with instructions

issued by the NSW Health Department.

(q) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments give rise to positions that are either a

financial asset or a liability of CSAHS. For CSAHS these include

cash at bank, receivables, investments, accounts payable and

borrowings.

In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS33,

“Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments”,

information is disclosed in Note 35 in respect of the credit risk and

interest rate risk of financial instruments. All such amounts are

carried in the accounts at net fair value. The specific accounting

policy in respect of each class of such financial instrument is

stated hereunder.

Classes of instruments recorded at cost and their terms and

conditions at balance date are as follows:

(i) Cash

Accounting Policies - Cash is carried at nominal values

reconcilable to moneys on hand and independent bank

statements.

Terms and Conditions - Moneys on deposit attract an interest

rate ranging from 4.05% to 4.3% (4.3% in 1997/98).

(ii) Receivables

Accounting Policies - Receivables are carried at nominal

amounts due less any provision for doubtful debts. A provision

for doubtful debts is recognised when collection of the full

nominal amount is no longer probable.

Terms and Conditions - Accounts are issued on 30 day terms.

(iii) Investments

Accounting Policies - Investments reported at cost include

both short term and fixed term deposits. Interest is recognised

in the Operating Statement when earned. 

Terms and Conditions - Short term deposits had an average

maturity of 24 hours and interest rate ranging from 4.55% to

4.8% (4.8% to 5.3% in 1997/98). Fixed term deposits had an

average maturity of 45 days and an interest rate ranging from

4.73% to 5.1% (4.8% to 5.32% in 1997/98).
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(iv) Accounts Payable

Accounting Policies - Accounts Payable are recognised for

amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services

received, whether or not billed to CSAHS.

Terms and Conditions - Trade liabilities are settled within any

terms specified. If no terms are specified, payment is made by

the end of the month following the month in which the invoice

is received.

(v) Borrowings

Accounting Policies - Bank overdrafts and loans are carried at

the principal amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it

accrues. 

Terms and Conditions - Bank overdraft interest is charged at

the bank’s benchmark rate. 

A non-interest bearing loan was obtained from the NSW

Health Department and was repayable in annual instalments.

The final instalment is due by 30 June 2000. 

There are no classes of instruments which are recorded at other

than cost or market valuation.

All financial instruments including revenue, expenses and other cash

flows arising from instruments are recognised on an accruals basis.

(r) Trust Funds

CSAHS receives moneys in a trustee capacity for various trusts as

set out in Note 27. As CSAHS performs only a custodial role in

respect of these moneys, and because the moneys cannot be used

for the achievement of CSAHS’s own objectives, they are not

brought to account in the financial statements.

(s) Proceeds on Sale of Motor Vehicles

The 1998/99 proceeds from the sale of motor vehicles associated

with NSW Treasury negotiated leases of motor vehicles have been

lodged to the credit of NSW Treasury. Such remittances have been

deducted from Government contributions in the Operating

Statement.

(t) Motor Vehicles

During the 1998/99 financial year an operating lease facility was

established for the motor vehicle fleet of all area health services.

The new facility was established through an open tender process

arranged through the NSW Treasury.

Under the arrangement all existing vehicles suitable for acquisition

under an operating lease facility were sold and leased back to

CSAHS.

The capital funds released through the sale of motor vehicles were

paid to the Consolidated Fund to support the budget.

(u) Change in Accounting Policy

- Inter Area Patient Flows

From 1998/99 all area health services have been provided with

adjustments which recognise the flow of acute inpatients from the

area in which they are resident to other areas within the State.

The initial adjustments have been based on 1997/98 data using a

standard cost-weighted separation value to reflect estimated

1998/99 costs at a weighted benchmark cost of $2,300 for acute

weighted inpatient separation.

The changes are required to more accurately disclose the cost of

service provision to the Area’s resident population and the extent

to which service is provided to non-residents.

In respect of CSAHS the effect of the changes on net cost of

services was a decrease of $68.782 million.

The adjustments have been made as appropriate to expenses,

revenue and NSW Health Department Recurrent Allocations with

identical adjustments between actual and budget.

The adjustments have no effect on equity values as the movement

in the Net Cost of Services is matched by a corresponding

adjustment to the value of the NSW Health Department Recurrent

Allocation.
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It should be noted that had the change in accounting policy been

adopted in the previous year the 1997/98 comparatives would

have been stated as follows:

Increased Expenses 48,562

Increased Revenues 108,914

Decrease in Net Cost of Services 60,352

The composition of patient flow revenue/expense is disclosed in

Notes 4 and 9.

- Department of Veterans’ Affairs Revenue

From 1 July 1998, new funding arrangements were put in place

between NSW Health Department and the Department of

Veterans’ Affairs for the treatment of entitled veterans.

The funding arrangements were designed to encourage enhanced

service provision to war veterans and improved activity data

reporting.

Revenue received by NSW Health Department in 1998/99 for the

treatment of entitled veterans, is reflected in the financial

statements of area health services, whereas in prior years moneys

were provided as NSW Health Department Recurrent Allocations.

The change has no effect on equity values but serves to decrease

CSAHS’s Net Cost of Services result by $22.476 million, all of

which was covered by budget adjustment from the NSW Health

Department.

3. EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

353,496 344,870 Salaries and Wages 353,848 345,062

25,860 27,737 Enterprise Agreements/Awards 25,860 27,737

13,617 11,797 Long Service Leave [see note 2(b)] 13,617 11,797

42,583 35,652 Annual Leave [see note 2(b)] 42,597 35,659

– 196 Redundancies – 196

5,197 2,457 Nursing Agency Payments 5,199 2,458

861 401 Other Agency Payments 861 401

20,627 13,744 Workers Compensation Insurance 20,627 13,744

32,218 27,144 Superannuation [see note 2(c)] 32,225 27,149

494,459 463,998 494,834 464,203
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4. GOODS AND SERVICES

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Expenses on Goods and Services

7,393 7,020 Food Supplies 7,393 7,021

33,714 29,795 Drug Supplies 33,714 29,795

44,180 39,406 Medical and Surgical Supplies 44,180 39,412

11,748 12,052 Special Service Departments 11,748 12,053

7,422 7,691 Fuel, Light and Power 7,422 7,691

4,386 5,009 Computer Related Expenses 4,386 5,010

5,730 2,969 Travel Related Costs 5,732 2,985

4,121 4,007 Postal and Telephone Costs 4,121 4,008

879 990 Staff Related Costs 881 992

1,413 1,423 Hospital Ambulance Transport Costs 1,413 1,423

875 565 Insurance 875 565

2,342 2,275 Rental, Rates and Charges 2,342 2,275

3,392 3,191 Printing and Stationery 3,411 3,220

46,846 – Inter Area Patient Outflows, NSW* 46,846 -

6,690 6,337 General Expenses 6,712 6,349

12,042 11,791 Domestic Charges 12,042 11,791

2,627 (11,567) Sundry Operating Expenses 2,722 (11,478)

195,800 122,954 195,940 123,112

General Expenses include:

625 749 Advertising 632 749

963 1,058 Books and Magazines 964 1,058

1,901 971 Consultancies – Operating Activities 1,906 971

161 157 Courier and Freight 162 158

217 169 External Audit Fees – Audit Work 223 173

224 179 Legal Expenses 226 186

195 180 Membership/Professional Fees 195 180

549 543 Operating Lease Expense 549 543

149 640 Payroll Services 149 640

1,706 1,691 Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 1,706 1,691

6,690 6,337 6,712 6,349

* Payments for Inter Area Patient Flows from other NSW Area Health Services were as follows ($000):

South Eastern Sydney AHS: $25,039. South Western Sydney AHS: $12,873. Northern Sydney AHS: $4,464. 

Western Sydney AHS: $3,512. Other area health services (12 in all): $958.

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999
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5. MAINTENANCE

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

9,684 11,901 Repairs and Routine Maintenance 9,684 11,901

Other

7,440 7,651 Renovations and Additional Works 7,440 7,651

10,466 5,510 Replacements and Additional Equipment less than $5,000 10,470 5,514

27,590 25,062 27,594 25,066

6. DEPRECIATION

11,757 12,573 Depreciation - Buildings 11,758 12,573

16,002 16,514 Depreciation - Plant and Equipment 16,002 16,514

27,759 29,087 27,760 29,087

7. GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES

5,884 5,442 Payments to Non-Government Organisations 5,884 5,442

272 272 Institute of Respiratory Medicine* 272 272

720 720 Heart Research Institute* 720 720

348 348 Centre for Health Economics and Research Evaluation* 348 348

90 90 Centre for Education and Research on Ageing* 90 90

90 90 Perinatal Health* 90 90

7,404 6,962 7,404 6,962

* These items were included under Salaries and Wages and Goods and Services line items in the 1997/98 year

8. PAYMENTS TO AFFILIATED HEALTH ORGANISATIONS

Operating

407 504 Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home for the Aged 407 504

4,004 4,036 Tresillian Family Care Centres 4,004 4,036

– 1,475 Eversleigh Hospital – 1,475

387 290 Central Sydney Scarba Service 387 290

4,798 6,305 4,798 6,305
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9. SALE OF GOODS AND SERVICES

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

51,234 28,270 Patient Fees [see note 2(l)] 51,234 28,270

760 812 Staff Meals and Accommodation 760 812

9,776 8,677 Use of Hospital Facilities [see note 2(m)] 9,776 8,677

1,202 1,121 Car Parking 1,202 1,121

412 326 Child Care Fees 412 326

296 268 Fees for Medical Records 296 268

864 753 Lease and Rental Income 864 753

2,247 1,900 Non Staff Meals 2,247 1,900

232 333 Linen Service Revenues – Other Health Services 232 333

3,620 3,825 Sale of Prostheses 3,620 3,825

115,628 – Inter Area Patient Inflows* 115,628 –

1,858 1,880 HealthQuest Revenue 1,858 1,880

5,465 3,723 Others 5,658 3,726

193,594 51,888 193,787 51,891

* Revenues from Inter Area Patient Flows provided to other NSW area health services were as follows ($000) :  South Western Sydney AHS: $23,860. Northern Sydney AHS:
$18,634. Western Sydney AHS: $17,669. South Eastern Sydney AHS: $15,731. Illawarra AHS: $8,622. Mid-Western AHS: $5,307. Central Coast AHS: $5,131. Macquarie AHS:
$4,979. Wentworth AHS: $3,581. Mid-North Coast AHS: $3,194. New England AHS: $2,244. Southern AHS: $1,847. Greater Murray AHS: $1,785. Hunter AHS: $1,526. Far Western
AHS: $786. Northern Rivers AHS: $732.

10. INVESTMENT INCOME

2,461 3,376 Interest 2,789 3,663

2,461 3,376 2,789 3,663

11. GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

205 151 University Commission Grants 205 151

6,877 4,424 Commonwealth Government Grants 6,877 4,424

2,279 2,242 Research Grant Non Governments 2,291 2,242

Other

2,464 2,621 - Mammography 2,464 2,621

– – - ANZAC – 1,000

2,518 3,380 - CEIDA 2,518 3,380

Other

– 94 - Manufacturing 23 195

34 8 - Wholesale and Retail Trade 34 38

14 29 - Finance, Property and Business Services 78 29

– – - Public Administration and Defence – 1,000

90 41 - Community Services 99 52

5,480 4,412 - Recreation, Personal and Other Services 5,737 4,646

380 630 - Sundry 399 630

20,341 18,032 20,725 20,408
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12. OTHER REVENUE

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

5,808 1,874 Miscellaneous 5,880 1,923

5,808 1,874 5,880 1,923

13. (GAIN)/LOSS ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

73,537 5,680 Property, Plant and Equipment 73,537 5,680

(44,942) (1,054) Less Accumulated Depreciation (44,942) (1,054)

28,595 4,626 Written Down Value 28,595 4,626

(26,353) (5,364) Less Proceeds from Sale (26,353) (5,364)

2,242 (738) (Gain)/Loss on Sale of Non-Current Assetts 2,242 (738)

14. CONDITIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions recognised as revenues during current year for which expenditure in manner specified has not occurred as at balance date

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

Total Total Major Category Total Total
1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

6,236 3,954 Health Promotion, Education and Research 6,687 4,345

763 658 Purchase of Assets 763 2,658

2,635 1,876 General 2,635 1,876

9,634 6,488 Total 10,085 8,879

Aggregate of contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year which were specifically provided for expenditure over a future period

PARENT
Major Category <1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years 3-4 Years 1999 Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Health Promotion, Education and Research 1,559 1,559 1,559 1,559 6,236

Purchase of Assets 191 191 191 190 763

General 659 659 659 658 2,635

Parent Total 2,409 2,409 2,409 2,407 9,634

CONSOLIDATED
Major Category <1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years 3-4 Years 1999 Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Health Promotion, Education and Research 1,672 1,672 1,672 1,671 6,687

Purchase of Assets 191 191 191 190 763

General 659 659 659 658 2,635

Consolidated Total 2,522 2,522 2,522 2,519 10,085
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Revenues recognised in previous years which were obtained for expenditure in the current financial year

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 Major Category 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

3,666 3,383 Health Promotion, Education and Research 4,252 3,828

1,059 1,494 Purchase of Assets 1,059 1,494

2,041 2,285 General 2,041 2,285

6,766 7,162 Total 7,352 7,607

Total amount of unexpended contributions as at balance date

15,635 10,554 Health Promotion, Education and Research 20,925 15,386

3,526 4,084 Purchase of Assets 5,526 6,084

9,871 6,826 General 9,871 6,826

29,032 21,464 Total 36,322 28,296

Comment on restricted assets appears in Note 21

15. PROGRAMS/ACTIVITIES OF CSAHS

Program 1.1 Primary and Community Based Services
Objective: To improve, maintain or restore health through 

health promotion, early intervention, 
assessment, therapy and treatment services 
for clients in a home or community setting.

Program 1.2 Aboriginal Health Services
Objective: To raise the health status of Aborigines and

to promote a healthy lifestyle.

Program 1.3 Outpatient Services
Objective: To improve, maintain or restore health through 

diagnosis, therapy, education and treatment 
services for ambulant patients in a hospital 
setting.

Program 2.1 Emergency Services
Objective: To reduce the risk of premature death and 

disability for people suffering injury or acute 
illness by providing timely emergency 
diagnostic, treatment and transport services.

Program 2.2 Overnight Acute Inpatient Services
Objective: To restore or improve health and manage risks 

of illness, injury and childbirth through 
diagnosis and treatment for people intended to 
be admitted to hospital on an overnight basis.

Program 2.3 Same-Day Acute Inpatient Services
Objective: To restore or improve health and manage risks 

of illness, injury and childbirth through 

diagnosis and treatment for people intended to 
be admitted to hospital and discharged on the 
same day.

Program 3.1 Mental Health Services
Objective: To improve the health, wellbeing and social 

functioning of people with disabling mental 
disorders and to reduce the incidence of 
suicide, mental health problems and mental 
disorders in the community.

Program 4.1 Rehabilitation and Extended Care Services
Objective: To improve or maintain the wellbeing and 

independent functioning of people with 
disabilities or chronic conditions, the frail aged 
and the terminally ill.

Program 5.1 Population Health Services
Objective: To promote health and reduce the incidence of 

preventable disease and disability by improving 
access to opportunities and prerequisites for 
good health.

Program 6.1 Teaching and Research
Objective: To develop the skills and knowledge of the 

health workforce to support patient care and 
population health. To extend knowledge 
through scientific inquiry and applied research 
aimed at improving the health and wellbeing of 
the people of NSW.
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16. CASH

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

34 32 Cash on Hand 34 32

7,143 191 Cash at Bank 7,248 384

7,177 223 7,282 416

17. INVESTMENTS

Current

15,003 21,440 Deposits at Call 15,033 21,617

36,446 39,102 Short Term Deposits 43,159 45,492

51,449 60,542 58,192 67,109

The ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation (refer Note 1) is a controlled entity of CSAHS by virtue of CSAHS’s capacity to control the

casting of the majority of the votes at the meeting of the governing body of the foundation. The foundation is incorporated in Australia and it is

an economic entity whose principal activity is research. The beneficial interest held by CSAHS is 100%.

The revenue of the foundation for the year was $1,043,692 (1998 $2,715,862), expenditure was $586,249 (1998 $367,491) and the surplus was

$457,444 (1998 $2,349,846).

No director received income from the ANZAC Health and Medical Research Foundation during the financial year (1998 - Directorship - $7,000).
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18. RECEIVABLES

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

11,184 10,771 Sale of Goods and Services 11,184 10,771

37 149 Prepayments 37 149

887 1,104 Prostheses 887 1,104

1,553 1,238 Intra Area charges 1,553 1,238

2,365 2,773 Debtors – NSW Health Department 2,365 2,773

611 587 Workers Compensation 611 587

1,715 2,093 Sundry Debtors 1,715 2,093

499 1,139 Leave Mobility Debtors 499 1,139

1,051 795 Other Debtors 1,076 802

19,902 20,649 Sub Total 19,927 20,656

(2,498) (2,126) Less Provision for Doubtful Debts (2,498) (2,126)

(141) (112) Others (141) (112)

17,263 18,411 17,288 18,418

Bad Debts written off during the year

Patient Fees

235 354 - Private 235 354

811 817 - Overseas visitors 811 817

189 108 - Compensable 189 108

69 66 Other Debtors 69 66

1,304 1,345 Total 1,304 1,345

Non-Current
Sale of Goods and Services

Other Debtors

1,500 2,000 - Leave Mobility Receivable 1,500 2,000

1,500 2,000 Sub Total 1,500 2,000

Note: Sale of Goods and Services includes:

2,247 2,585 Patient Fees – Compensable 2,247 2,585

6,229 3,432 Patient Fees – Ineligible 6,229 3,432

2,708 4,754 Patient Fees – Other 2,708 4,754

11,184 10,771 Total 11,184 10,771

19. INVENTORIES

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current – at cost

3,558 3,544 Drugs 3,558 3,544

1,416 1,689 Medical and Surgical Supplies 1,416 1,689

397 447 Food and Hotel Supplies 397 447

106 248 Printing and Stationery 106 248

183 202 Other including goods in transit 183 202

5,660 6,130 5,660 6,130
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20.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1999 1998
Land Buildings Work in Plant and Total Total

Progress Equipment
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance 1 July

At Valuation 247,805 740,438 – 76,909 1,065,152 339,171

At Cost – 67,814 26,219 133,000 227,033 301,615

Revaluation Adjustment (see note 2(j)) – – – – – 591,277

Capital Expenditure/Donations [see note 2(f)] – 7,720 15,927 12,065 35,712 65,802

Disposals (17,020) (45,742) – (10,775) (73,537) (5,680)

Balance at 30 June 1999

At Valuation 230,785 694,696 – 76,234 1,001,715 1,065,152

At Cost – 75,534 42,146 134,965 252,645 227,033

Total 230,785 770,230 42,146 211,199 1,254,360 1,292,185

Depreciation

Balance 1 July 

At Valuation – 523,198 – 69,767 592,965 104,466

At Cost – 23 – 60,582 60,605 81,755

Charge for the year [see note 2(i)] – 11,757 – 16,002 27,759 29,087

Adjustment for disposals – (43,716) – (1,226) (44,942) (1,054)

Revaluation Adjustment – – – – – 439,316

Balance at 30 June

At Valuation – 488,107 – 78,124 566,231 592,965

At Cost – 3,155 – 67,001 70,156 60,605

Total – 491,262 – 145,125 636,387 653,570

Carrying Amount at 30 June

At Valuation date 1 July 1997 230,785 206,589 – (1,890) 435,484 472,187

At Cost – 72,379 42,146 67,964 182,489 166,428

Total 230,785 278,968 42,146 66,074 617,973 638,615

Parent
Carrying Amount at 30 June 230,785 278,968 42,146 66,074 617,973 638,615

Consolidated
Carrying Amount at 30 June 230,785 278,968 42,570 66,081 618,404 638,664

(i) Land and Buildings include land owned by the NSW Health Department and administered by CSAHS [see note 2(f)]

(ii) Land and Buildings were valued by Preston Rowe Paterson NSW Pty Ltd, property valuers. The firm also provides property management services to CSAHS

(iii) Plant and equipment (excluding Concord Hospital’s), other than motor vehicles were valued by CSAHS on 1 July 1992 on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. 
Plant and equipment of Concord Hospital have been valued at cost of acquisitions

(iv) As of 30 June 1999, fully depreciated assets comprised 2,118 pieces of medical equipment, 543 pieces of non-medical equipment, 44 items of furniture and 
equipment, 906 units of plant and machinery, and 1,385 units of computer equipment

(v) In 1998/99, motor vehicles valued at $8.653 million were sold in a settlement arranged by the NSW Treasury. All proceeds were credited to Treasury.
Such remittances have been deducted from Government contributions in the Operating Statement
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21. RESTRICTED ASSETS

CSAHS’s financial statements include the following assets which are restricted by externally imposed conditions, eg donor requirements. 

The assets are only available for application in accordance with the terms of the donor restrictions

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Major Categories of Contributions

15,635 10,554 Health Promotion, Education and Research 20,925 15,386

3,526 4,084 Purchase of Assets 5,526 6,084

9,871 6,826 General 9,871 6,826

29,032 21,464 36,322 28,296

22. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Current

14,918 14,710 Creditors 14,918 14,710

Other Creditors

2,519 1,327 - Sundry Creditors 2,530 1,306

419 1,201 - Leave Mobility Creditors 419 1,201

– 1,985 - Deposit - Property Sales – 1,985

2,539 2,338 - Accrual VMOs 2,539 2,338

20,395 21,561 20,406 21,540

23. BORROWINGS
Current

750 3,084 NSW Health Department Loan Against Recurrent Allocation 750 3,084

– 2,698 Bank Overdraft – 2,698

750 5,782 Sub Total 750 5,782

Non-Current

– 750 NSW Health Department Loan Against Recurrent Allocation – 750

– 750 Sub Total – 750

Repayment of Borrowings

750 5,782 Not later than one year 750 5,782

– 750 Between one and two years – 750

– – Between two and five years – –

– – Later than five years – –

750 6,532 Total Borrowings at Face Value 750 6,532

The Treasurer’s approval was not arranged by the NSW Health Department prior to its advancing loan funds to the Service in terms of the Public Authorities (Financial
Arrangements) Act 1987 to loans of $3.834 million at 1 July 1998

Legislative changes are now being considered to validate the loan arrangements in all ensuing financial years

CSAHS Financials  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 82



ce 83

24. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

38,317 33,420 Employee Annual Leave 38,317 33,425

6,893 8,003 Employee Long Service Leave 6,893 8,003

8,706 7,580 Accrued Salaries and Wages 8,706 7,580

2,489 5,556 Taxation and other Payroll Deductions 2,489 5,556

56,405 54,559 Aggregate Employee Entitlements 56,405 54,564

Non-Current

11,263 9,164 Employee Annual Leave 11,263 9,164

66,556 58,286 Employee Long Service Leave 66,556 58,286

77,819 67,450 Aggregate Employee Entitlements 77,819 67,450

25. EQUITY
ACCUMULATED FUNDS ASSET REVALUATION TOTAL EQUITY

1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

PARENT

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 423,858 405,386 151,961 – 575,819 405,386

Movement in Accumulated Funds for the Year (30,162) 18,472 – – (30,162) 18,472

Increment on Revaluation of:

Land – – – 94,099 – 94,099

Buildings and Improvements – – – 57,862 – 57,862

Correction to previously recognised asset* (4) – – – (4) –

Balance at the end of the financial year 393,692 423,858 151,961 151,961 545,653 575,819

CONSOLIDATED

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 430,690 409,869 151,961 – 582,651 409,869

Movement in Accumulated Funds for the Year (29,705) 20,821 - - (29,705) 20,821

Increment on Revaluation of:

Land – – – 94,099 – 94,099

Buildings and Improvements – – – 57,862 – 57,862

Correction to previously recognised asset* – – – – – –

Balance at the end of the financial year 400,985 430,690 151,961 151,961 552,946 582,651

* This represents assets not recognised when CSAHS adopted accrual accounting on 1 July 1992
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26. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

a) Capital Commitments

Aggregate Capital Expenditure contracted for at

Balance Date but not provided for in the accounts:

73,086 64,748 Not later than one year 73,086 64,748

90,504 80,811 Between one and two years 90,504 80,811

141,669 123,803 Between two and five years 141,669 123,803

– – Later than five years – –

305,259 269,362 Total Capital Expenditure Commitments 305,259 269,362

b) Other Expenditure Commitments

Aggregate other Expenditure contracted for at balance date

but not provided for in the accounts:

– – Not later than one year – –

– – Between one and two years – –

– – Between two and five years – –

– – Later than five years – –

– – Total Other Expenditure Commitments – –

c) Operating Lease Commitments

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases

are payable as follows:

4,194 1,800 Not later than one year 4,194 1,800

3,950 1,275 Between one and two years 3,950 1,275

9,250 1,300 Between two and five years 9,250 1,300

12,000 1,120 Later than five years 12,000 1,120

29,394 5,495 Total Operating Lease Commitments 29,394 5,495

27. TRUST FUNDS

CSAHS holds Trust Fund moneys of $34.080 million (1998 $28.252 million) which are used for the safe keeping of patients’ moneys, deposits on hired items of
equipment and Private Practice Trusts. These moneys are excluded from the financial statements as CSAHS cannot use them for the achievement of its objectives. 
The following is a summary of the transactions in the trust accounts.

PATIENTS TRUST REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS PRIVATE PRACTICE FUND TRUSTS

1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Balance at the beginning of the financial year 150 125 9,167 6,769 18,935 16,322

Receipts 14 27 4,916 5,449 37,609 31,297

Payments (4) (2) (4,470) (3,051) (32,237) (28,684)

Cash Balance at the end of the financial year 160 150 9,613 9,167 24,307 18,935
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Claims on Managed Fund

Since 1 July 1989, CSAHS has been a member of the NSW

Treasury Managed Fund. The fund will pay to or on behalf of

CSAHS all sums which it shall become legally liable to pay by way

of compensation or legal liability if sued except for employment

related, discrimination and harassment claims that do not have

Statewide implications. The costs relating to such exceptions are

to be absorbed by CSAHS. Since 1 July 1989, no contingent

liabilities exist in respect of liability claims against CSAHS. A

Solvency Fund (now called Pre-Managed Fund Reserve) was

established to deal with the insurance matters incurred before 

1 July 1989 that were above the limit of insurance held or for

matters incurred before 1 July 1989 that would have become

verdicts against the State. The Solvency Fund will likewise

respond to all claims against CSAHS. There is an unquantified

liability in respect of the claims for Workers Compensation as 

the payments in respect of some claims are not finalised until

eighteen months after the financial year in which the claims 

are made. (See the following note).

(b) 1996/97 Workers Compensation Hindsight Adjustment

When the New Start (to the) Treasury Managed Fund was

introduced in 1995/96, hindsight adjustments in respect of

Workers Compensation (three years from commencement of Fund

Year) and Motor Vehicle (eighteen months from commencement of

Fund Year) became operative.

The hindsight adjustment has now been effected for the 1995/96

year and resulted in an increase in expenses of $3.247 million.

A contingent liability or asset may now exist in respect of the

1996/97 and 1997/98 Workers Compensation Fund years.

This estimate however is subject to further actuarial calculation

and a better indication of quantum will not be available until the

last quarter of 1999.

(c) Affiliated Health Organisations

Based on the definition of control in Australian Accounting

Standard AAS24, Affiliated Health Organisations listed in

Schedule 3 of the Health Services Act, 1997 are only recognised 

in CSAHS’s consolidated financial statements to the extent of 

cash payments made.

However, it is accepted that a contingent liability exists which may

be realised in the event of cessation of health service activities by

any Affiliated Health Organisation. In this event the determination

of assets and liabilities would be dependent on any contractual

relationship which may exist or be formulated between the

administering bodies of the organisation and the NSW Health

Department.

CSAHS Financials  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 85



financ86 notes to and forming part of the financial statements
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1999

29. CHARITABLE FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES

CSAHS conducts direct fundraising in all units under its control.

Income received and the cost of raising income for specific fundraising have been recognised in the financial statement of CSAHS. Fundraising

activities are dissected as follows:

1999 1998

Income Direct Indirect Net Net
Raised Expenditure Expenditure Proceeds Proceeds

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Appeals (Consultants) – – – – 317

Appeals (In House) 1,095 14 – 1,081 252

Raffles – – – – –

Functions 43 31 – 12 58

PARENT 1,138 45 – 1,093 627

Percentage of Income – 4.0 – 96.0 93.2

CONSOLIDATED* 1,463 132 – 1,331 929

Percentage of Income – 9.0 – 91.0 89.7

Note:

Direct Expenditure includes printing, postage, raffle prizes, consulting fees, etc

Indirect Expenditure includes overheads such as office staff administrative costs, cost apportionment of light, power and other overheads

1999 1998
$000 $000

CONSOLIDATED

The net proceeds were used for the following purposes:

Purchase of Equipment 86 240

Research 553 481

Held in Special Purpose and Trust Fund Pending Expenditure 692 208

1,331 929

The provision of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under the Act have been complied with and internal controls exercised by CSAHS are

considered appropriate and effective in accounting for all the income received in all material respects

* The Consolidated figures are:

1999 1998
Income Direct Indirect Net Net
Raised Expenditure Expenditure Proceeds Proceeds

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Appeals (Consultants) 136 – – 136 387

Appeals (In House) 1,163 15 – 1,148 460

Raffles 5 – – 5 4

Functions 159 117 – 42 78

Consolidated 1,463 132 – 1.331 929
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30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

PARENT CONSOLIDATED

1999 1998 1999 1998
$000 $000 $000 $000

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes

cash, current investments and bank overdraft.

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash

Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the

Statement of Financial Position as follows:

7,177 223 Cash 7,282 416

– (2,698) Bank Overdraft – (2,698)

51,449 60,542 Current Investments 58,192 67,109

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents
58,626 58,067 (per Cash Flow Statement) 65,474 64,827

31. RECONCILIATION OF NET COST OF SERVICES TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

28,894 67,277 Net Cash Used on Operating Activities 29,334 69,636

(27,760) (29,087) Depreciation (27,760) (29,087)

(401) (221) Provision for Doubtful Debts (401) (221)

(32,137) (27,036) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of Superannuation Liability (32,137) (27,037)

(15,278) (10,012) (Increase)/Decrease in Provisions (15,274) (10,007)

(12,409) (7,081) Increase/(Decrease) in Prepayments and Other Assets (12,390) (7,098)

(966) (3,142) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors (972) (3,140)

(2,242) 738 Net (Loss)/Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment (2,242) 738

(479,968) (546,838) NSW Health Department Recurrent Allocations (479,968) (546,838)

(29,188) (47,197) NSW Health Department Capital Allocations (29,188) (47,197)

8,911 – Asset Sale Proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity 8,911 –

(562,544) (602,599) Net Cost of Services (562,087) (600,251)
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32. VOLUNTARY SERVICES

It is considered impractical to quantify the monetary value of voluntary

services provided to CSAHS. Services provided include:

• Chaplaincies and Pastoral Care

• Patient and Family Support

• Pink Ladies/Hospital Auxiliaries

• Patient Services, Fundraising

• Patient Support Groups

• Practical Support to Patients and Relatives

• Community Organisations

• Counselling, Health Education, Transport, Home Help and 
Patient Activities

33. UNCLAIMED MONEYS

Unclaimed salaries and wages are paid to the credit of the Department

of Industrial Relations and Employment in accordance with the

provisions of the Industrial Arbitration Act, 1940, as amended.

All money and personal effects of patients which are left in the

custody of CSAHS by any patient who is discharged or dies in the

hospital and which are not claimed by the person lawfully entitled

thereto within a period of twelve months are recognised as the

property of CSAHS.

All such money and the proceeds of the realisation of any personal

effects are lodged to the credit of the Samaritan Fund which is used

specifically for the benefit of necessitous patients or necessitous

outgoing patients.

34. BUDGET REVIEW

Net Cost of Services

The Net Cost of Services for the year of $562.087 million was lower

than the budget of $564.790 million by $2.7 million (0.5%).

The minor variation reflects favourabilities in revenues ($1.496 million),

expenses ($824,000) and sale of Non-Current Assets ($383,000).

Movement in Accumulated Funds

The movement in accumulated funds is principally attributed to the 

Net Cost of Services variation.

Assets and Liabilities

Assets totalled $708.326 million and were $959,000 favourable to

budget. The $3.750 million enhancement in Current Assets was offset

by the $2.791 million fall in Non-Current Assets.

Cash Flows

The net increase in Cash for the year was $647,000 on $11.482 million

greater than the budgeted sum; the major improvement was in the

flows from investing activities ($9.410 million).

CSAHS Financials  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 88



ce 89

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk, is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. CSAHS’s exposure to

interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at the (consolidated)

Statement of Financial Position date are as follows:
Financial Instruments Floating Interest Fixed Interest Rate Maturing In: Non-Interest Total Carrying Weighted

Rate Bearing Amounts as per Average
the Statement of Effective

1 Year Over 1 to More than Financial Position Interest Rate*
or Less 5 Years 5 Years

1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 %

Financial Assets

Cash 7,248 – – – 34 7,282 4.17%

Receivables – – – – 17,288 17,288 N/A

Other Loans and Deposits 15,033 43,159 – – – 58,192 4.82%

Total Financial Assets 22,281 43,159 – – 17,322 82,762 –

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings-Bank Overdraft – – – – – – N/A

Borrowings - Other – – – – 750 750 N/A

Accounts Payable – – – – 20,406 20,406 N/A

Total Financial Liabilities – – – – 21,156 21,156 N/A

* Weighted average effective interest rate was computed on a semi-annual basis.  It is not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract/or financial position failing to discharge a financial obligation

thereunder. CSAHS’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets included in the consolidated

Statement of Financial Position.

Credit Risk by classification of counterparty:
Banks Patients Other Total
1999 1999 1999 1999
$000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash 7,248 – 34 7,282

Receivables – 8,686 8,602 17,288

Total Financial Assets 7,248 8,686 8,636 24,570

The only significant concentration of credit risk arises in respect of patients ineligible for free treatment under the Medicare provisions. 

Receivables from these entities totalled $6.229 million at balance date.

c) Net Fair Value

As stated in Note 2(q) all financial instruments are carried at Net Fair Value, the values of which are reported in the Statement of

Financial Position.

d) Derivative Financial Instruments

CSAHS holds no Derivative Financial Instruments.
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36. YEAR 2000 DATE CHANGE

The year 2000 issue concerns potential shortcomings in electronic data

processing systems and other electronic equipment that may adversely

affect CSAHS’s operations on the date change from 1999 to 2000.

The Service has implemented a program to address the potential

computer system failures attributable to the date change from 1999 to

2000. The program includes risk analysis, remedial action including

internal testing and contingency planning.

The success of the program is dependent on the milestones and

achievements that the Service is expected to meet. At the date of this

report it is not aware of any matter that would significantly impact on

the success of the program.

The Services’s activities may be affected by the ability of third parties

dealing with the service to also manage the effect of the year 2000

date change.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

The following properties are owned by CSAHS.

DESCRIPTION Land and Buildings were CURRENT USE POTENTIAL FOR
valued at 01/07/97 (refer to ALTERNATIVE USE
Note 20 for the details of
carrying value)

1. Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
Missenden Road $69.930m Land
Camperdown  NSW 2050 $116.238m Buildings Hospital NIL

2. Rhodes House
Unit 525
Unit 506
Missenden Road $0.226m Strata Title Guest
Camperdown NSW 2050 $0.193m Strata Title Accommodation NIL

3. Dame Eadith Walker Estate
Nullawarra Road $37.000m Land
Concord West NSW 2138 $0.717m Buildings Health Facility NIL

4. Luddenham
Land Only $3.250m Land Farm NIL

5. Rachel Forster Hospital Complex
149-155 Pitt Street
195-197 George Street
38 Douglas Street $4.570m Land
Redfern NSW 2016 $5.226m Buildings Hospital NIL

6. Concord Repatriation General Hospital
Hospital Road $26.000m Land
Concord NSW 2139 $61.183m Buildings Hospital NIL

7. Rozelle Hospital
Cnr Church and Glover Street $58.680m Land
Leichhardt NSW 2040 $11.674m Buildings Hospital NIL

8. NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine
42-50 Parramatta Road $1.600m Land
Glebe  NSW  2037 $6.087m Buildings Forensic Science NIL

9. United Dental Hospital
2 Chalmers Street $3.800m Land
Surry Hills NSW 2010 $2.061m Buildings Hospital NIL

20-28 Chalmers Street
Surry Hills NSW  2010 $1.890m Land

10 Balmain Hospital
Booth Street
Palmer Street $6.300m Land
Balmain NSW 2041 $8.386m Buildings Hospital NIL
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DESCRIPTION Land and Buildings were CURRENT USE POTENTIAL FOR
valued at 01/07/97 (refer to ALTERNATIVE USE
Note 20 for the details of
carrying value)

11. Western Suburbs Hospital
25 Croydon Avenue $5.700m Land Only
Croydon NSW 2132 $0.029m Buildings

12. Canterbury Hospital
Cnr Canterbury Road and Tudor Street $5.000m Land
Campsie NSW 2194 $62.976m Buildings Hospital NIL

13. Community and Mental Health Services houses 
4 Ewell Street, Balmain NSW 2041

117 James Street, Leichhardt NSW 2040

34 Malvern Avenue, Croydon NSW 2132

114 Ewart Street, Dulwich Hill NSW 2203

11 Berna Street, Canterbury NSW 2193

46 Charlotte Street, Ashfield NSW 2131

11 Euralla Street, Burwood NSW 2134

155, 157-159, 182, 184 and 186 Livingston Road

Marrickville NSW 2204

15 Tranmere Street, Drummoyne NSW 2047

9A Wrights Road, Drummoyne NSW 2047

17 Atkins Avenue, Five Dock NSW 2046

229 Bridge Street, Glebe NSW 2037

491 Parramatta Road, Leichhardt NSW 2040

184 Glebe Point Road, Glebe NSW 2037 $6.865m Land

$4.201m Buildings Health Facility Residential House

General Fund Consultancy Fees over $30,000

Name $000

Real Time Australia 227

Progressive People (Aust) 138

Wentworth Area (Oracle 10.7) 122

Sequent Computer 69

Andersen Contracting 69

Digital Equipment 64

Nexus Management 38

Cyrano Australia 34

Total Consultants Fees over $30,000 761
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Consolidated <30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days >90 days 1999 1998
30 June 1999 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Compensable 293 267 68 1,619 2,247 2,585
Ineligible 1,485 1,595 103 3,046 6,229 3,432
Other 1,231 526 28 923 2,708 4,754

Total 3,009 2,388 199 5,588 11,184 10,771

Trade Creditors Ageing Analysis
1999 1998
$000 $000

<30 days 14,927 14,769
30-59 days – 17
60 days and over (9) (76)

Total 14,918 14,710

Payment Performance Indicators

Payment Performance Indicators for the three month period ending 30 June 1999
1999 1998
$000 $000

Percentage of accounts paid on time (based on dollar amount) 60.6% 60.6%
Total dollar amount of accounts paid on time 43,235 35,352
Total dollar amount of accounts paid 71,317 58,311

Statistical Statements 
As at 30 June 1999 1999 1998
Bed Capacity
Total Beds as at 30 June 1999 1,955 2,189
Average Available Beds 1,973 2,099

Patient Details
Inpatients Number in Hospital at 1 July 1998 1,827 1,903

Admissions during the year 132,181 136,512
Total Patients treated 134,008 138,415

Number in Hospital at 30 June 1999 1,661 1,827
Bed Days of Inpatients Treated 633,340 681,973
Number of Operations 38,511 38,239

Babies Number of Live Births 5,390 4,751
Bed Days of Newborn Babies 17,154 15,591

Outpatients Total Occasions of Service 1,989,314 2,128,134

Averages Daily Average of Inpatients 1,688 1,826
Adjustment for Outpatients and Babies 568 604
Adjusted Daily Average (ADA) 2,256 2,430

Average Stay of Inpatients (days) 4.8 5.0
Bed Occupancy Rate (%) 85.6% 87.0%

Staff Details Staff employed at 30 June 1999 (EFT)
Nursing 3,294.5 3,416.8
Medical* 956.9 1,165.5
Other* 4,679.7 4,686.8

TOTAL** 8,931.1 9,269.1

* The reduction in medical Equivalent Full Time (EFTs) as at June 1999 compared to June 1998 is due to a reclassification of certain support services 
from Medical to Other during the 1999 year

** Include overtime components (both years)
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CSAHS is responsible for administrating 32 non-

government organisations (NGOs) funded

through the NSW Health NGO grant program.

They provide mental health, drug and alcohol,

HIV/AIDS, women’s health and community

services.

There is a strong commitment to maintaining

and supporting the role of NGOs in assisting

community involvement in decision making,

improving the welfare of the disadvantaged,

and service delivery and its development.

Quarterly meetings are held with the NGOs to

address issues and explore opportunities for

working together.

Subsidy NGO Grant – 1998/99
Recipients/Grantees Programs 1998/99 Grant
1 Australian Nutrition Foundation Health Promotion 46,000

46,000

2 Barnardo’s – Marrickville Drug & Alcohol 74,700

3 Barnardo’s – Youth at Risk Drug & Alcohol 71,200

4 Building Trades Union (BTU) Drug & Alcohol 108,500

5 Co As It Drug & Alcohol 44,900

6 Cyrenian House – ADF NSW Drug & Alcohol 171,700

7 Fact Tree Youth Services – Making It Drug & Alcohol 82,400

8 Guthrie House Drug & Alcohol 101,100

9 Leichhardt Women’s Health Centre Drug & Alcohol 52,500

10 South Sydney Women’s Therapy Centre Drug & Alcohol 99,200

11 We Help Ourselves Drug & Alcohol 213,300

12 Youth Unlimited Drug & Alcohol 38,800

1,058,300

13 Family Planning NSW AIDS 378,400

14 Haemophilia Society of NSW AIDS 62,000

15 Stanford House Inc. AIDS 87,400

16 The Gender Centre AIDS 160,900

17 We Help Ourselves AIDS 102,000

790,700

18 Dental Health Foundation Dental 49,300

49,300

19 Centacare Services – Sydney Community Services 24,800

20 Dympna House Community Services 283,800

21 Family Planning NSW Community Services 495,000

22 Leichhardt Women’s Health Centre Community Services 427,100

23 Lifeline Sydney Community Services 43,200

24 NSW Council Child’s Film & TV Community Services 1,100

25 NSW Rape Crisis Centre Community Services 428,100

26 South Sydney Women’s Therapy Centre Community Services 181,700

27 Sydney Indo-Chinese Youth Support Community Services 48,000

28 Thalassaemia Society of NSW Community Services 43,500

1,976,300

29 After Care – Administration Mental Health 76,900

30 After Care – Ashfield/ Parramatta Mental Health 68,900

31 After Care – Psycho Support Services Mental Health 60,600

32 Co As It Mental Health 74,700

33 GROW (Community Services) Mental Health 353,000

34 Homicide Victims Support Group Mental Health 249,950

35 Richmond Fellowship Mental Health 567,600

36 Aboriginal Medical Service Mental Health 50,000

1,501,650

37 Diabetes Australia Aged & Disabled 17,100

38 Ella Community Centre Aged & Disabled 42,700

39 Motor Neurone Disease Association Aged & Disabled 95,400

40 Royal Blind Society of NSW Aged & Disabled 161,800

41 Stroke Recovery Association Aged & Disabled 5,500

322,500

42 Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home Day Care Aged 139,400

5,884,150
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• Significant progress with planning and implementation of

CSAHS’s $360 million capital asset program, including:

appointment of construction managers and architectural firm for

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, completion of Gloucester House,

progression of the Joint Replacement and Rheumatology Unit

(Queen Elizabeth II building) renovation, completion of the

project definition plan for Concord Hospital for approval,

relocation of services at Concord Hospital to commence building

works, progress with the Central Sydney Supply Service store

on the Concord Hospital site, continued refurbishment at United

Dental Hospital  

• Finalised the establishment of the ANZAC Research Institute  

• Concluded a review of research development in CSAHS  

• Further implementation of the Tobacco Control Strategy  

• Completed Hepatitis C Plan  

• Finished plan for Sexual Health Services 1999-2000

• Palliative care transferred to Canterbury Hospital

• Supported health outcomes and health promotion 

• Developments in Cancer Services  

• Implementation of youth health programs  

• Achieved day surgery targets 

• Strategies achieved in the Bed Management Plan  

• Cooperating with other area health services for the provision of

services including: Western Sydney (Liverpool Hospital -

cardiothoracic surgery established and commenced planning for

neurosciences), Illawarra (orthopaedics) 

• Achievement of the CSAHS-wide clinical information system

• Pursued execution of the Aboriginal Employment Strategy 

• Year 2000 project planning and rectification continued

• Reviewed senior nursing structures

• Initiated staff training in prevention and early intervention for

mental health services, suicide prevention and child protection

• Commenced review of quality framework

• Worked in partnership with the divisions of General Practice,

other government agencies and the private sector

• Appointed chair, Australian Medical Disaster Coordination

Group which reports to Australian Health Ministry Advisory

Council

• Chair of the Clinical Systems Steering Committee for NSW

Health 

• Continuing membership of the Australian Trade Policy Advisory

Council.

Management accountabilities -

• Achieved a favourable net cost of service and accrual budget

result 

• The final installment on the $17 million advance from NSW

Health was made

• No trade creditors over 45 days

• Audit requirements achieved  

• Debt recovery performance achieved to the satisfaction of NSW

Health 

• Improved revenue collection  

• All hospitals maintained accreditation status with ACHS

• All capital works milestones achieved

• Continued implementation of energy and waste management

initiatives in accordance with State Government policy.

Level 5 and above

Name: Dr Diana G Horvath AO

Position: Chief Executive Officer, Central Sydney Area Health Service, SES level 7

Period in position: First appointed in December 1992; re-appointed in December 1997

Results:

Strategic initiatives -
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SES OFFICERS’ STATUS REPORT

Level 5 and above

Name: Michael P Wallace

Position: Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Central Sydney Area Health Service, SES level 5

Period in position: First appointed in February 1993; reappointed in February 1998

Results:

Strategic initiatives -

• Continued to progress the implementation of the capital asset

plan (Resource Transition Program), including the following:

– Appointing Thiess Contractors Pty Ltd and Silver Thomas

Hanley Daryl Jackson Pty Ltd for the RPA redevelopment

project

– Completing the bulk earthworks at the RPA site

– Starting the inground services and slab preparation at RPA

– Continuing relocations at RPA to facilitate the building

program, including renovations to Radiation Oncology

– Finishing RPA, E block renovations 

– Concluding Gloucester House renovations 

– Beginning relocations and planning for the Concord Hospital

redevelopment project

– Completing upgrades of mechanical services at United Dental

Hospital and continuing renovations 

– On-going planning for the Croydon site 

• Consultation and liaison with Macquarie International Health

Clinic Pty Ltd further progress the development of the Prince

Alfred Private Hospital, with major work on the carpark under way

• Continued to achieve savings through tendering and

procurement practices

• Continued upgrades to the IT infrastructure and systems

including the HNA Millennium system, PathNet

• Completed implementation of Kronos/Workforce with Rozelle,

Balmain, Community Health and RPA coming on line 

• Conducted benchmarking review with nursing positions 

• Implementation of corruption prevention strategies

• Liaison with non-government agencies

• Promotion of occupational health safety and rehabilitation

initiatives to improve performance under the Treasury Managed

Fund

Management accountabilities -

• Implemented cost-saving initiatives and controls to achieve

favourable net cost of services

• Ensured attainment of capital works milestones

• Improved revenue collection

• Debt recovery performance achieved to the satisfaction of the

NSW Health Department

• Continued implementation of the Performance Management

System

• Reviewed and developed the Performance Agreement for

1999/2000

• Continued implementation of equal employment opportunity

strategies, particularly with respect to Aboriginal and Torres

Strait Islanders.

• Progressed Y2K initiatives in accordance with requirements 

• Developed the HealthPlan outlining CSAHS’s responsibilities in

the event of a significant disaster and the COSOPS Plan

outlining contingency plans for the continued provision of

services in the event of a disaster.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Twelve meetings were held during 1998/99:

Member Attendance

C Puplick 11

Prof J Young 11

G Boyd 9

F Carolan 9

Dr D Horvath 12

C Linsell 10

J Lutman 1 (term ended July 1998)

O Mackenzie 9

Dr J Meadth 12

M Pethard 10

N Roude 8

P Fernando 8 (from August 1998)

N Goodman 11 (from August 1998)

BOARD COMMITTEES

FINANCE AND BUDGET COMMITTEE makes recommendations

about budget allocation and financial performance. It meets on the

third Wednesday of the month. Members (attendance): M Pethard

chairman for 9 meetings (10), N Goodman chairman for 2 meetings

(9), F Carolan (8), Dr D Horvath (9), C Linsell (11), Prof J Young (5), 

C Puplick (1).

AUDIT COMMITTEE oversees matters arising from internal and

external audit reviews. The committee meets quarterly. Members

(attendance): G Boyd chairman (4), M Wallace (3), C Cheng (3), 

M Spriggins (4), M Clark (4), Prof J Young (2), Dr J Meadth from

December 1998 (2), Dr D Horvath (2).

MEDICAL AND DENTAL APPOINTMENTS ADVISORY COMMITTEE

makes recommendations for all CSAHS medical and dental

appointments.  In November 1998, the board adopted the

recommendations of the special subcommittee of the board, to

alter the Medical Appointments Advisory Committee to the CSAHS

Medical and Dental Appointments Advisory Committee (MDAAC) to

ensure its compliance with the by-laws. MDAAC meets quarterly.

Members (attendance): Dr D Horvath chairman for 2 meetings (3),

Prof R Houghton (4), Dr P Hoyle (4), Dr G Stewart chairman for 2

meetings (3), Assoc Prof G Duggin (2), Dr M Besser (2), 

Dr R Bradbury (1), Assoc Prof B McCaughan (1), H Jessep/J Neville

administrative secretary (4), Dr S Liew (2), Prof J Young (1), 

Dr C Pawsey (1), Dr P Kennedy (3), Dr M Sanger (2), Prof B Freedman

(1), Prof K Rickard (2), Dr J Cullen (1), Dr P Torzillo (1), Dr J Wilkinson (1).

ETHICS REVIEW COMMITTEES meet monthly at Concord and Royal

Prince Alfred hospitals. The United Dental Hospital Ethics Review

Committee held three meetings in the past year. 

RPA members (attendance): Dr R Loblay chairman (11), 

L Townsend/E Myers secretary (11), D Brine/T Clark (9), 

Dr R Brown/Dr P Butow (11), Prof D Cook (11), Prof P Crittenden

until end 1998 (4), Dr A Eyers (7), Dr V Levy (7), J Lutman (10), 

Rev McFarlane/Rev Dr M Dixon (11), Dr I Rieger (9), D Scarlett/

A Bolton/S Linden (10), Assoc Prof I Young (8), Dr S Barker until end

1998 (5), K Vesk from August 1998 (9), S Hayes from February 1999

(3), H Milne from February 1999 (5). Board member: N Goodman

from November 1998 (4).

Concord Hospital members (attendance): Dr S Liew chairman for 8

meetings (8), Dr G Pearce chairman for 1 meeting (4), Dr E Spence

(8), C Marsh (5), K Whitelock (7), E Lane (9), Dr J Moulton (8), 

Dr C George (7), Rev D Hayes (8), K England (6), L Nigro (4), 

Dr J Donnelly (5), Dr C Foy (5), Dr S Whyte (4), Dr D Brieger (3), 

Dr M Millward (3), secretary L Jessop (6)/ V Bozic (4)/ R Lomberg

(3). Board member: J Lutman (9).

UDH members (attendance): Dr B Taylor chairman for 1 meeting (2),

Dr S Buchanan chairman for 2 meetings (3), Assoc Prof S Yeung (3),

Dr R Loblay (3), Dr E Martin (2), Dr E J Wilkinson (3), Dr N Hunter

(1), P Power (1), A Roth (1), Father A Cashen (1). Board member: 

O Mackenzie (0).
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RESEARCH: ROYAL PRINCE ALFRED HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Mechanisms of bronchial S Anderson NHMRC 1999 99,141 3 years Determine ways to identify asthma early, decrease its  
responsiveness and E Daviskas severity and reduce mortality and morbidity from the disease
mucociliary clearance to  
osmotic challenge

New treatments to clear P Bye NHMRC 1999 58,151 3 years Continue the quest for novel mucoactive agents which improve 
mucus and improve lung S Eberl mucus clearance and reduce bacterial proliferation in CF patients
function in patients with P Cooper
cystic fibrosis (CF)

Mechanism of abnormal DNA S Clark NHMRC 1999 62,215 3 years Investigate what triggers abnormal methylation in the 
methylation in cancer cancer cell, and develop a novel cancer treatment

Tests for effects of candidate J Whitfield NHMRC 1999 93,505 3 years Test for effects of genes on alcohol consumption, and alcohol 
genes on alcohol use and B Nightingale dependence risk, in the Australian population using volunteer twins
alcohol dependence

Equipment: Waters HPLC S Anderson NHMRC 1999 10,000 1 year Develop mannitol powder for inhalation as a diagnostic tool for 
instrumentation asthma and rhinitis, and as a therapeutic tool for increasing 

mucociliary clearance in patients with bronchiectasis and 
other lung diseases

Baboon colony support A Gillin NHMRC 1999 30,000 1 year

Evaluation of strategies to P Bye Clive and Vera 1999 10,000 1 year Investigate a range of short and long-term treatments 
improve mechanical lung I Young Ramaciotti for patients with CF, asthma and emphysema
function in chronic lung diseases Foundation

Mucociliary clearance studies E Daviskas Clive and Vera 1999 10,000 1 year Investigate mechanisms of mucociliary clearance in patients with
in patients with asthma, S Anderson Ramaciotti asthma, bronchiectasis and CF
bronchiectasis and cystic Foundation
fibrosis (CF)

Detection of hypermethylated DNA S Clark Anthony Rothe 1999 57,076 3 years Investigate the mechanism responsible for the abnormal
provides an early marker to monitor J Melki Memorial Trust behaviour patterns seen in cancer cells
leukaemia P Vincent

Characterisation of leukaemia- H Iland Anthony Rothe 1999 56,860 3 years Increase understanding of the variety of genetic
specific fusion genes A Catalano Memorial Trust changes that occur in leukaemia

Ideotype reactivity of expanded D Joshua Anthony Rothe 1999 55,439 3 years This study is based on the concept that malignant cells should
T cell clones in multiple myeloma R Brown Memorial Trust be recognised as foreign by the body’s normal defence

J Gibson mechanisms and then targeted for removal. It aims to determine
J Ho why the tumour cells escape detection and whether the cells

which would normally detect or remove the tumour cells have 
gone to sleep

Insulin-like growth factor- M Lewitt Diabetes Australia 1999 32,900 1 year Determine the nature of IGFs and IGFBP-1 in diabetes, their 
binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) Research Trust regulation, their activity in a number of tissues and the 
phosphorylation: potential role contribution of the changes in circulating IGFBP-1 to diabetic
in the development of diabetes kidney disease
complications

Membrane type metalloproteinase: S McLennan Diabetes Australia 1999 20,000 1 year Investigate the role of high glucose concentration in
its role in the decreased matrix D Yue Research Trust diabetic kidney disease
metalloproteinase activities of 
diabetic nephropathy

The molecular pathogenesis of J Ho Leo and Jenny 1999 49,715 1 year Increase our understanding of the causes and mechanisms of 
multiple-myeloma chromosomal D Joshua Leukaemia and the evolution of myeloma, which inevitably terminates in a
translocations, oncogene A Basten Cancer Foundation highly malignant tumour in all patients
expression and growth factor of Australia
requirements
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RESEARCH: ROYAL PRINCE ALFRED HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Development of iodine-123 M Kassiou Leo and Jenny 1999 48,225 1 year Synthesise and evaluate the SPECT tracers [123I] IMT and [123I] 
radiolabelled amino acids for M Fulham Leukaemia and OMIMT in patients with proven and suspected primary brain 
brain tumour studies using the S Eberl Cancer Foundation tumours, and thereby answer some of the important
functional imaging modality of S Meikle of Australia management issues in patients with this condition
single photon emission  
computed tomography (SPECT)

Physiological responses of the P Cremer Garnett Passe & 1999 80,312 4 years Study the physiology of the ear’s balance mechanisms 
vertical semicircular canals in Rodney Williams in squirrel monkeys
squirrel monkeys Memorial Foundation

Finding a gene for inherited R Trent Garnett Passe & 1999 30,000 1 year Find the gene which causes an inherited form of vertigo known
vertigo Rodney Williams as hereditary bilateral vestibulopathy

Memorial Foundation

Effects of beta2-adrenoceptor E Daviskas Community Health 1999 5,000 1 year Study the acute and long term effect of long acting beta2-
agonists on mucociliary & Anti-tuberculosis adrenoceptor agonists on mucociliary clearance in patients 
clearance in persons with Association with moderate to severe asthma
asthma

Effect of sleep apnoea on R Grunstein Community Health 1999 22,000 1 year Studies in two different groups of patients with sleep apnoea 
glucose regulation & Anit-tuberculosis will measure insulin sensitivity before and after five days of 

Association untreated sleep apnoea, and the counter-regulatory responses 
to a standard hypoglycaemic challenge during sleep in patients 

with sleep apnoea in on-CPAP and off-CPAP conditions

Development of an LDL receptor D Sullivan National Heart 1999 55,600 1 year Develop a method for the diagnosis of familial 
assay for the conclusive S Li Foundation hypercholesterolaemia
diagnosis of familial 
hypercholesterolaemia

Equipment: Model 7700 G Bishop Wellcome Trust 1999 123,500 1 year This equipment is able to measure the number of DNA 
sequence detector G McCaughan molecules in a sample with a detection limit of one 

H Iland molecule. It is being used by the departments of 
G Halliday Gastroenterology, Haematology, Dermatology and 

R Garsia Immunology in a wide range of applications

Integration of electrical and B O’Sullivan Rebecca L Cooper 1999 15,005 1 year This equipment will enable multimodal studies in 
brain imaging (15O PET and Medical Research schizophrenia to be undertaken both in the community and
fMRI) methods in schizophrenia: Foundation Ltd the PET camera, allowing combined PET/ERP studies
early prevention and 
community studies

Detecting DNA mutations in R Trent Rebecca L Cooper 1999 12,420 1 year The purchase of a digital imaging machine will assist in the 
human genetic disorders Medical Research final step in DNA mutation detection

Foundation Ltd

Measurement of subjective tilt S Aw Brain Foundation 1999 5,000 1 year Determine a clinical diagnostic test of otolithic
of visual fields during galvanic A Brizuela function (balance)
stimulation as a test of otolithic 
function

Evaluation of exhaled carbon M Edgtton Nursing Research 1999 2,578 1 year Show whether manual ventilation of neuroscience patients 
dioxide levels during intra- Centre for during intra-hospital transport maintains carbon dioxide levels 
hospital transport of adult Adaptation in within the known safe range for brain injured patients
ventilated neuroscience Health and Illness
patients

A comparative study of patients N Clunas Neuroscience 1999 2,000 1 year Study the electrical indicators of the nervous system in 
with schizophrenia: the Institute of response to stimulus in people with schizophrenia
biological basis of cross- Schizophrenia &
modality attentional inhibition Allied Disorders
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RESEARCH: ROYAL PRINCE ALFRED HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Caloric testing of individual S Aw NHMRC 1998 43,046 3 years Find a reliable way to test the low frequency function of
semicircular canal function The Garnet Passe 1998 50,373 2 years each individual semicircular canal in the ear

& Rodney Williams
Memorial Foundation

Early diagnosis and intervention P Bye NHMRC 1998 55,851 3 years Investigate whether the application of portable pressure 
for sleep disordered breathing R Grunstein assisted breathing devices at night will improve gas 
in cystic fibrosis (CF) G Bautovich exchange and delay the onset of respiratory failure

C Sullivan

Randomised trial of systemic N Evans NHMRC 1998 50,414 2 years This randomised blinded study uses ultrasound to examine the 
circulatory support in preterm M Kluckow effects of two interventions which may alleviate the critically 
infants low circulation to the upper body and brain seen in some 

infants in the first few hours after birth

Centre of Excellence in M Halmagyi NHMRC 1998 200,000 3 years Develop and evaluate a battery of tests for measuring 
Hospital-Based Research: I Curthoys vestibular function
Development and evaluation M Todd
of a test battery for the 
clinical measurement of 
vestibular function and 
dysfunction

The ALSG APML3 trial: H Iland Anthony Rothe 1998 46,000 3 years Test new approaches to minimise leukaemia recurrence, and 
molecular monitoring in acute K Bradstock Memorial Trust use advanced genetic testing to identify it earlier than 
promyelocytic leukaemia J Wiley previously possible

F Firkin

The effect of maternal smoking H Jeffery Sudden Infant 1998 23,472 2 years Analyse the relationship between maternal smoking and 
on neonatal upper airway and Death Research sudden infant death syndrome (cot death)
oesophageal reflexes in the Foundation Inc
prone and supine positions

Immune mechanism of tolerance A Bishop NHMRC 1997 57,147 3 years The human immune system is essential for effective control of 
to liver allografts in rodent models J Sun infection and tumour growth.  However, a major aim of 

B Fazekas de immunology is to understand how to prevent unwanted 
St Groth immune responses such as rejection of a transplanted organ 

or autoimmune disease. The study will examine how white 
blood cells in the liver work to promote tolerance

Adipocyte factors in obesity I Caterson NHMRC 1997 100,138 3 years Determine the metabolic regulation and effects of proteins 
and insulin resistance J Bryson produced by fat cells.  Insulin resistance may be improved 

A Fimmel by altering the effects of these proteins

CpNpG methylation in S Clark NHMRC 1997 62,489 3 years Mammalian cells use a range of processes to control the 
mammals expression of individual genes.  One of these processes is 

called methylation. This study aims to discover the novel 
role of CpNpG methylation, a chemical modification of 

DNA, in the biology of mammalian cells

Molecular analysis of the G McCaughan NHMRC 1997 79,427 3 years DPP-IV is important for digestion, liver and kidney function 
multifunctional glycoprotein M Gorrell and probably the regulation of responses to disease. This 
dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV) study aims to discover which parts of the molecule are 

responsible for these functions, leading to a greater 
understanding of how the body responds to illness

Promoter regions determining G Lyons US Army Medical 1997 103,000 3 years Elucidate the molecular mechanisms of two problems 
over-expression of Research and underlying breast cancer: abnormal gene expression by the 
metalloproteinase in genes Materiel Command cancer cells, and the spread of cancer through the body
in breast cancer
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RESEARCH: ROZELLE HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

An investigation into the reasons J Allan NSW Nurses 1998 3,300 As a basis for improving nursing practice, the aim of this 
why mental health nurses give PRN M Cleary Registration exploratory study was to investigate the phenomenon of why 
medication R Warren Board mental health nurses give PRN or as required medication

Acute care in inpatient facilities M Cleary Internal An ethnographic study of the acute care environment 
in an inpatient facility

Staffing issues in Central Sydney M Cleary Internal Surveying nurses in inpatient facilities (CSAMHS) about issues 
Area Mental Health Services A Merriam pertaining to staffing, particularly sick leave and rostering 
(CSAMHS) practices

Discourse analysis of the M Cleary Internal The practice of special observation is widely used in 
Special Observation of Psychiatric J Horsfall inpatient psychiatric facilities for the care of people who 
Patients policy are suicidal. This study is examining the policy of special 

observation using discourse analysis

RESEARCH: POPULATION HEALTH

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Social Health Research Unit P Sainsbury NSW Health 1998 100,000 1 year Infrastructure funds for Social Health Research Unit

Citizen participation in area P Sainsbury NSW Health 1999 62,000 2 years Explore community views about the organisation of a new 
health services S O’Grady community health centre and ways of maintaining community 

S Corne participation in its management

Home-boundedness P Sainsbury Social Health 1999 2,000 6 months Prepare literary review and discussion paper on people who 
C Leathley Research Unit never or seldom leave home

Patients’ perspectives on M Haas 1 year Explore patients’ views and influences on, and involvement
healthcare decision making P Sainsbury in, decisions about their own healthcare
and non-health outcomes

Evaluation of the CSAHS J Quaine 1 year Study the influence of epidemiological data on 
specific questions in the 1997 P Sainsbury health service policy and practice
NSW Health Survey M Williamson

Aboriginal Alternative A Connolly NSW Alternative 1999 25,000 6 months Consult with Aboriginal women and Aboriginal controlled 
Birthing Consultation L Cupitt Birthing Services services about options for birthing services in central Sydney

Grants

Cervical screening A Connolly NSW Cervical Cancer 1998 70,000 1 year Establish mechanisms to improve cervical screening rates in 
recruitment K Bedford Screening Program women who underscreen for cervical cancer, in partnership 

C Birchall with the Division of General Practice

Busy Mums Wanted MA Lo Cascio NSW Health 1998 15,000 A qualitative study of mothers with young children 
M Thomas investigating the effect of social relationships and 
A Connolly partner support on participation in physical activity

C Finney Lamb
P Sainsbury

Overcoming the hurdles: M Thomas NSW Health 1997 200,000 2 years A quantitative study to measure change in participation in 
removing the barriers to LM Wen physical activities targeting women aged 20-50 in Concord 
women walking in Concord local government area

Unemployment and N Or Social Health 1998 12,500 6 months Research into the capacity of the Health Promotion Unit to work 
Health project D Maloney Research Unit with disadvantaged groups through community agencies

M Dick (NSW Health)
MA Lo Cascio

P Sainsbury

CSAHS Appendices  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 101



appenappendices102

RESEARCH: POPULATION HEALTH

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Tai Chi for over 50s A Voukelatos Internal 1998 5,000 1 year Investigate the effect on overall health and reduction in falls 
MA Lo Cascio among people aged 50 and over doing Tai Chi

G Stackpool

Health beliefs, knowledge and L Gupta Community Health 1997 34,478 2 1/2 years Qualitative study to explore health beliefs and experiences of 
experience of migrants diagnosed S Gleeson Anti-tuberculosis Vietnamese and Indian migrants diagnosed with TB
with tuberculosis (TB) C Leathley Association

P Sainsbury
G Alperstein

K Mills

Hepatitis C national survey of GPs L Gupta NHMRC 1999 45,000 1 year National survey of GPs to determine quality of care, 
about needs, outcomes and J Ward educational needs and suggestions for support and research 
patterns of care to improve outcomes for patients with hepatitis C

Methods to enhance surveillance T Karalis Internal 1998 2 years Descriptive study to evaluate a method to enhance 
of food-borne illness due to L Gupta surveillance of food-borne illness
salmonella infection

Breast cancer: early detection in J Ward Sydney Breast 1998 81,450 1 year This project builds on previous research in which GPs identified 
general practice Cancer Foundation opportunities to improve healthcare for women 

with breast cancer

Production of booklet about J Ward AMP Foundation 1998 30,600 1 year Rates of cervical cancer are high among Vietnamese-born  
cervical screening for women. This project will design and evaluate a booklet 
Vietnamese-born women addressing these women’s specific cultural beliefs

Implementation of a prospective J Ward NSW Health 1998 38,000 2 years This project has engaged all surgeons performing CEA
Statewide carotid endarterectomy J Harris throughout NSW in a prospective audit of process
(CEA) audit on behalf of Central and clinical outcomes 
Sydney and Northern Sydney area 
health services 

Intervention to improve school L Gupta Internal 1999 11/2 years Pre/post evaluation of implementation of strategies to 
entry immunisation documentation R Allen improve documentation of immunisation status at school entry. 
and rates V Guevarra Outcomes to be measured include documentation and

A Rutherford immunisation rates

Chinese New Mothers Group C Finney Internal 1999 1 year A formative evaluation of the appropriateness of the mainstream
evaluation Lamb New Mothers Group model and the group processes for Chinese 

C Barton women, in the context of cultural norms and expectations

Comparison of the cost and quality C Finney Social Health 1999 6,000 3 months Describe and compare the cost and quality of transcript data.
of data produced by the different Lamb Research Unit It will be produced by transcribing English-speaking focus groups
transcribing methods for focus S Labib using a tape of the discussion, and transcribing Arabic-speaking  
group data M Mihajlovic focus groups using a tape made by a healthcare interpreter 

R Moreton translating the converstation into a dictaphone during discussion

National prevalence study of C Rissel NHMRC 1999 217,709 3 years Conduct a national study of the sexual health and behaviour 
sexual health behaviours and A Smith of Australian adults
attitudes

Evaluation of GP education J Ward NHMRC 1999 80,730 3 years This will design an educational program to support more
through pathology services to G Hirst evidence-based test-ordering by GPs for prostate cancer screening
modify prostate cancer screening

Increasing the provision of J Ward National Heart 1999 48,500 2 years Develop, implement and evaluate an educational program to 
effective smoking cessation advice G Rikard-Bell Foundation of enhance dentists’ knowledge, skills and attitudes towards smoking
by dentists in central Sydney Australia cessation advice and increase their actual rates of such advice

Achieving better outcomes in J Ward General Practice 1999 39,480 1 year A self-administered random survey of NSW GPs which will 
general practice in NSW for Evaluation Program ascertain current knowledge of and practices in prevention and 
TIA/stroke management of stroke and reactions to various strategies to 

improve stroke outcomes
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RESEARCH: BALMAIN HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Examination of information for S Whicker Division 1999 194,756 1 year Implement information to assist patients self care at home
patient self care P Bolton Innovations

Fund

RESEARCH: MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

School attendance difficulties G McShane Nursing 1998 1 year Investigate variables associated with school refusal in 
and adolescent mental health: G Walter Research Centre adolescent health
an inpatient perspective J Rey NSW Nurses’ 

L Crain Registration Board
Mead Johnson 

Scholarship

Comparative study of patients B O’Sullivan NHMRC 1998 2 years Investigate the attentional difficulties in people with
with schizophrenia, Alzheimer’s P Martin schizophrenia, Alzheimer’s dementia and attention deficit disorder
dementia and attention deficit N Clunas 
disorder

Determining the factors that J Millard Nursing 1998 1 year Investigate the knowledge of boarding house residents and staff 
contribute to the high level of J Taylor Research Centre of CSAHS relating to cigarette smoking and associated behaviour
cigarette smoking by residents L Carroll
living in licensed boarding houses 
in Sydney’s inner west

New developments in the R Cervantes NHRMC 1999 2 years Investigate the possible causes of schizophrenia using fMRI,
assessment of brain function in B O’Sullivan National Institute SSPT and PET technology in combined studies
schizophrenia: a combined study of Schizophrenia
using functional magnetic and Allied
resonance imaging (fMRI), steady Diseases
probe tomography (SSPT), positron Ramaciotti Grant
emission tomography (PET) and 
neutral competitive analysis

The experience of adaptation to L Gething Motor Accident 1998 3 years Examine the experience of life-long adaptation to disability for
disability for people with G Burr Authority of people with traumatic injury such as brain or spinal cord injury, 
traumatically acquired spinal NSW and their informal carers
cord injury, traumatically acquired 
brain injury and their informal 
carers

Attention biases in processing of S Touyz Internal 1999 1 year Investigate the attentional biases in processing threat words
different types of threat words in D Thompson in women with bulimia nervosa and comparison women
women with bulimia nervosa and R Griffiths
comparison women F Angoul

P Beumont

Identification and management of S Weaver Health Insurance 1999 1 year GPs will be trained to use a disease management package 
depression in general practice: P Bolton Commission, supporting best practice and improving patient outcomes
pilot study M Mira SmithKline

R Hirschfeld Beecham 
International

Functional magnetic resonance B O’Sullivan Internal 1999 3 years Investigate specific impaired regions of brain function in 
imaging (fMRI) in Alzheimer’s C Tarantello Alzheimer’s patients and identify sensitive and specific
dementia biological tests that can be used for early detection

Thoughts about staffing issues in M Cleary Internal 1999 1 year Provide consumer input to the preparation of a CSAHS-wide
Central Sydney Area Mental A Merriman roster for mental health nurses
Health Services
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Functional magnetic resonance B O’Sullivan Internal 1999 1 year Investigate post-traumatic stress disorder using fMRI, 
imaging (fMRI) and K Balendra adrenocorticotrotic hormone and cortisol levels in blood plasma
neuroendocrinology of 
post-traumatic stress disorder

Naltrexone as relapse prevention P Haber Internal 1999 1 year Naltrexone was registered for unrestricted use in Australia
for heroin addiction: J Bell in March 1999. There is now a need to monitor outcomes of
a multicentre observational study M Young treatment with this drug under clinically relevant conditions

H McDonald
D Zador

Psychological disorders of young J Starling Internal 1999 1 year A review of current and past episodes of psychological disorders 
women in juvenile justice custody J Rey in young women detained at Yasmar Juvenile Detention Centre.  

J Simpson The information would be analysed to obtain a description of the 
types of psychological problems that may be associated with 

repeat offending

An evaluation of the CSAHS P Sainsbury Internal 1999 1 year Review the psychosis and substance use project for comorbidity 
psychosis and substance use N Siegfried to develop strategies to improve delivery
project

Quality of life of current clients of G Skews Internal 1999 1 year Investigate the quality of life of people living with a mental
the Central Sydney Mental P Schaecken illness and establish a base line for future studies
Health Services: a pilot survey M Bashir

Molecular studies of autism and R Urwin New Children’s 1999 3 years Investigate the inheritance of a variable DNA sequence in the
anorexia nervosa K Nunn Hospital serotonin transporter gene to confirm or refute previous studies

B Bennetts Grants Fund
B Wicken
S Clarke

J Beumont

Open label comparison on J Snowdon Internal 1999 1 year Investigate olanzapine and resperidone for use with aged
olanzapine and resperidone in C Richie people with chronic schizophrenia to identify which drug may
elderly patients with G Halliday have the best efficacy compared to conventional treatment
schizophrenia S Macfarlane

NSW consumer guidelines for P Beumont NHMRC 1999 3 years This is part of a larger study to develop clinical guidelines 
anorexia nervosa P Loveridge for anorexia nervosa

A survey of experience, M Cleary Australian and 1999 1 year Investigate current knowledge base of staff to improve 
knowledge and attitudes of N Siegfried New Zealand the management of clients diagnosed with BPD
mental health staff regarding the College of Mental 
management of clients Health Nurses
diagnosed with borderline 
personality disorder (BPD)

A music therapy approach to J Snowdon Internal 1999 1 year Investigate the effectiveness of music therapy on DVA patients 
improve veteran wellbeing G Halliday

R Bright

RESEARCH: MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
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Androgen receptor gene GA Nicholson NHMRC, 1997 53,983 3 years Identify new molecular alterations of the androgen receptor
alterations in prostate cancer NT Nassif Department of gene in prostate cancer

Veterans’ Affairs 

Genetic risk factors in Parkinson’s GA Nicholson NHMRC 1997 62,983 3 years In 1997, new research program on factors in Parkinson’s disease
disease research began with a collection of families with affected  

Rebecca L 1997 12,000 1 year individuals. Gene mutations were found and these findings will
Cooper Medical lead to an understanding of the underlying disease process in

Research Parkinson’s disease and hopefully to new treatments and
Foundation prevention programs

Antiemesis study S Clarke Internal 1997 2 years Hasetron study in control of emesis in chemotherapy patients
J Beith

Chemotherapy study of P450 and S Clarke Internal 1997 2 years Analysis of liver function test impairment in patients with 
chemotherapy toxicity J Beith malignancy using C13 erythromycin and breath testing

M Ngu
L Rivory

Swallowing function in patients M Peters Internal 1997 2 years Patients with acute respiratory illness commonly are found to
with acute respiratory J Maclean aspirate food and/or fluid. This improves a little after 6 weeks. 
illness-pneumonia and exacerbation Some of the problem may be an effect of acute illness and some
of chronic airflow limitation the basis for the acute illness itself. This and the mechanisms

involved need to be further defined

Swallowing dysfunction in M Peters Internal 1997 2 years Patients with recurrent hospital admissions frequently have
patients with recurrent K Reid problems with silent aspiration of food and fluids during   
exacerbations of chronic airflow T Anderson swallowing. The identification of this may lead to an effective 
limitation way of reducing these episodes

Outcomes following surgery for M Little University of 1996 350,000 5 years Identify outcomes following surgery for colorectal cancer
colorectal cancer L Bokey Sydney RACS from patient’s point of view

P Chapuis Johnson &
Johnson 

Laparoscopic trial for colorectal P Hewitt Johnson & 1997 750,000 5 years Randomised trial to determine the role of laparoscopic surgery
cancer M Solomon Johnson for colorectal cancer

L Bokey
R Stitz

Troponin I to assess prognosis in B Freedman Beckman ongoing Troponin I has been shown to be a marker of heart muscle injury.
patients presenting with chest P Cunningham (equipment only) This investigation’s aim is to assess Troponin I’s use in the triage
pain to the emergrncy department and assessment of prognosis of patients presenting to 

emergency with chest pain

Inflammatory mediators in B Freedman University of 1998 A collaborative study with the University of NSW, measuring 
unstable angina C Geczy NSW & Concord inflammatory markers in unstable angina patients and comparing

VJ Solanki Cardiology levels with stable angina and normal age-matched controls
Trust Fund

GRACE Registry D Brieger Rhone Poulenc 1999 1 year An international registry of acute coronary symptoms, compiled 
(Global Registry of Acute Rorer through research centres in North and South America, Europe, 
Coronary Events) New Zealand and Australia. The study compares different 

treatments and outcomes of patients with unstable angina or 
acute myocardial infarction, in order to identify best treatments 

and promote best practices

PACT/CRP B Freedman Bristol Myer 1998 2 years Assessing the safety and effectiveness of pravastatin given to
Pravastatin acute coronary VJ Solanki Squibb patients in the first 24 hours after unstable chest pains or heart
treatment/C-reactive attack. The aim of the sub-study is to determine whether a high 
protein study CRP level can predict patients likely to benefit from pravastatin

early after a heart attack or with unstable chest pain

RESEARCH: CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL
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RESEARCH: CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

QUASAR B Freedman Parke-Davis 1998 3 years Determine if ACE inhibitors, commonly used to treat hypertension, 
Quinapril in patients with C Monro heart failure and myocardial infarction, might be useful in the 
coronary artery disease, silent treatment of stable angina
ischaemia, and effort-induced 
angina

CHAT A Sindone SmithKline 20,000 Patients attending the Heart Failure Clinic will be randomised to 
Congestive heart and Beecham either usual care or tele-medicine/rehabilitation.  
telemedicine The objectives are to reduce the rate of hospital readmission of 

patients with heart failure, improve their quality of life, improve 
their exercise tolerance, reduce their length of stay and reduce 

the cost of caring for these patients

CHARM A Sindone AstraZeneca 1999 3 years Evaluate the effectiveness of Candesartan (currently being used 
Candesartan Cilexetil in T Yeoh Pharmaceuticals for high blood pressure) on patients with heart failure, whether 
heart failure reduction in VJ Solanki it reduces hospitalisations and deaths and if so, how it compares 
mortality and morbidity with the inactive treatment

ENABLE A Sindone Actelion 1999 2 years Evaluate the effectiveness of Bosentan compared to inactive 
Endothelin antagonist bosentan T Yeoh treatment, in patients with severe (chronic) heart failure, and 
for lowering cardiac events in VJ Solanki whether this drug can reduce the number of times that a patient
heart failure is hospitalised because of heart failure

Investigation of mediators of D Brieger ANZAC 25,000 This project uses genetically engineered mice that lack an 
fibrinolysis in plasminogen D Bruce Foundation important protein responsible for dissolving clots. Studies so far 
deficient mice B Zeng have resulted in the identification of two new molecules that are

Ramaciotti 15,000 active in this process. They have the potential to be developed
Foundation as clot dissolving agents for use in the treatment of human

disease such as heart attack and stroke
RPA Staff 46,000 

Specialists 
Trust Fund

Concord Cardiology 
Trust Fund

Plasminogen deficient mice and D Brieger ANZAC 40,000 A project utilising genetically engineered mice to determine
alternative pathways of D Bruce Foundation alternative mechanisms for dissolving blood clots
thrombolysis Ramaciotti

Foundation

Electromyograph (EMG) K Burns Department of 1998 2 years Collect EMG data from normal and acute lower back pain patients.  
study of lower back pain F Li Safety Science The information can be used to monitor progress, to use as an

Kl Kothiyal (University of NSW) outcome measure and to modify work-place design

Effect of mobilisation on B Zafiropoulos Equipment 1999 3 years Early mobilisation of post-operative patients is believed to 
respiratory function J Alison arranged by improve respiratory function especially in breathing patterns.

B McCarren School of However, there was limited documentation in this area. Results 
P Lawrance Physiotherapy from this project can be used to rationalise the benefit of early

F Li (Sydney University) mobilisation so that patients can recover in a shorter period
and there is a reduction in hospital stay

Determining if diffuse G Halliday NHMRC 1996 753,288 5 years Neuropathological study of dementia with Lewy Bodies in patients
Lewy Body Disease is the second H Creasey Centre for who have been well studied clinically
most frequent cause of GA Broe Education and
dementia in Australia Research on

Ageing 

Correlates of brain atrophy in J Kril Medical 1997 750,000 5 years Examine the amount of plaques, tangles and atrophy in the brain 
Alzheimer’s disease GA Broe Foundation to determine a measure of total brain pathology and local brain

S Patel pathology in patients with Alzheimer’s disease
P Waley

F Png
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RESEARCH: CONCORD REPATRIATION GENERAL HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

ENA713 clinical drug trial GA Broe Novartis 1997 136,400 3 years This trial is now in its 3rd year on open label treatment of 
H Creasey Pharmaceuticals ENA713 for patients with Alzheimer’s disease

Aricept clinical drug trial GA Broe Pfizer 1997 23,250 2 years This trial concluded in 1999 with patients continuing treatment
H Creasey Pharmaceuticals on a maintenance program

MRI correlates of normal brian GA Broe NHMRC 1997 258,338 3 years Explore the relationship between the early clinical signs and 
ageing and age associated H Creasey symptoms of dementia and neuroimaging and autopsy results
cognitive decline D Grayson

S Kos

Environmental and genetic risk GA Broe Public Health 1997 251,560 3 years Identify genetic and environmental factors influencing the 
factors in the dementias of D Grayson Research & development of Alzheimer’s disease and other dementias using 
old age W Brooks Development data from the Sydney Older Persons Study

Committee

Research and development GA Broe NSW Health 1997 180,000 2 years A general research, development and infrastructure grant
infrastructure grant D Grayson

H Creasey
J Kril

Systemic correlates of E Milward National 1998 8,000 1 year Studies have suggested that patients with dementias may have 
non-Alzheimer’s dementia Alzheimers changes in their blood or in other organs. The aim is to examine 

Association these changes and whether they reflect or contribute to disease 
processes

Anti-inflammatory drugs: E Milward Sir Zelman Cowen 1998 50,000 1 year Investigate whether anti-inflammatory drugs may act to regulate
regulators of oxidative damage GA Broe Universities Fund oxidative damage in Alzheimer’s disease 
in Alzheimer’s disease R Stocker

Vascular dementia clinical GA Broe Quintiles 1998 100,000 2 years Enrolment has been extended for this trial and existing patients
drug trial H Creasey Pharmaceuticals continue an open label phase

Social isolation and its effect on GA Broe Department 1998 57,065 1 year Examine support networks, service use, service satisfaction, 
health, service access and use D Grayson of Veterans’ social networks, quality of life and activity of community living
and quality of life O Dent Affairs World War II veterans and war widows and a comparison group

of elderly non-veteran men and women

Advance care directives – GA Broe Ageing and 1998 10,080 1 year Evaluate older people’s knowledge and acceptance of advanced
ascertaining older people’s S Wall Disability care directives
knowledge and acceptance Department (living wills)

Sub-cortical stroke study H Bennett 1989 10 years Explore the impact of small-vessel (sub-cortical) strokes on 
A Corbett cognition and their relationship to dementia

Positron emission tomography B Casey Funding through Improve the diagnostic efficiency of PET scan for frontal lobe by
(PET) normative study of older H Creasey RPA grants dementia identifying the differences between normal and
people M Fulham abnormal scans

Brain abnormalities in G Halliday Australian 1999 10,000 Examine whether changes in dementia-related proteins are 
Parkinson’s disease J Henderson Brain associated with cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson’s 

E Milward Foundation disease

Alcohol consumption in the GA Broe Australian 1999 25,000 1 year Examine alcohol consumption and its effects on the elderly
elderly O Dent Brewers  

D Grayson Foundation 
Alcohol Related 

Medical
Research 

Grant Scheme

Genes regulating inflammatory J Kril Sir Zelman Cowen 1999 60,000 2 years Investigate the association with HLA genotype and dementia
processes and their role in dementia GA Broe Universities Fund 

C Shephard
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Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Identifying the cellular G Halliday NHMRC 1999 422,000 3 years Assess whether pathological changes in the hippocampus
components and clinical E Milward correlate with clinical and neuropsychological features of 
significance of hippocampal J Morris dementia in Parkinson’s disease 
atrophy in Parkinson’s disease

Genetic correlates of familial W Brooks NHMRC 1994 170,000 5 years Identify the genetic mutations causing dominantly inherited 
dementias familial dementias

Anti-inflammatory medications J Kril Australian Brain 1999 6,500 1 year Examine what influences anti-inflammatory drugs may have on
and Alzheimer’s disease: Foundation Alzheimer’s disease, after previous studies have suggested a 
do they influence brain connection between anti-inflammatory medication and a 
pathology? lowered rate of the disease

Is there a relationship between J Kril Sir Zelman Cowen 1997 47,500 2 years Examine the inflammatory and vascular pathologies and the 
inflammatory and vascular Universities Fund cognitive test performances of people with Alzheimer’s disease
pathologies and cognitive 
performance in prospectively 
studied patients with 
Alzheimer’s disease?

Laboratory studies of ageing and E Milward Ageing and 1997 310,000 3 years In collaboration with various international and local groups, genetic
neurodegeneration B Kyngdon Alzheimer’s and protein factors are being investigated for both harmful and 

Research protective effects in ageing and neurodegeneration
Foundation

Cellular and vascular E Milward Ramaciotti 1998 8,500 1 year A biological investigation of the protective effect of 
mechanisms important in GA Broe Foundation anti-inflammatory drugs or aspirin against Alzheimer’s disease
Alzheimer’s disease

MRI, normal and abnormal GA Broe NHMRC 1997 119,509 3 years Explore the relationship between early clinical signs and 
ageing H Bennett symptoms of dementia and neuroimaging and autopsy results

L Waite
E Sawley
S Whyte 

J Koh 
J Kril

Coronary artery bypass graft H Donaldson NSW Nurses’ 3,500 This triangulated study includes descriptive methods using 
surgery recovery project. J Lumby Registration quantitative and qualitative data
A prospective study C Hughes Board Scholarship

Registered nurses’ knowledge S Huntley NRCAHI 1998 2,000 1 year The cross-sectional survey will ascertain the knowledge and
and attitudes towards hepatitis C K England attitudes of nurses regarding hepatitis C and patients with the 

disease. The results will be used to develop relevant education 
programs and hospital/jail policies for the care of patients and 

their families

Review of the peritoneal catheter G Stewart NRCAHI 1998 2,000 5 years Examine the relationships between peritoneal catheter type,
management of patients entering dressing techniques, break in periods and dialysis initiation within
the renal replacement therapy the Statewide Renal Service. The research will also investigate
program within the Statewide changes or effects on quality of life over the study period 
Renal Service

The efficacy of cotton cover H Kenny 1998 1 year Compare the wearing of gowns plus handwashing with 
gowns in reducing infection in E Lawson handwashing only as effective techniques to prevent infection 
nursing neutropoenic patients when caring for patients with neutropenia. The results will be 

used to revise the infection control techniques currently being 
used with this group of patients in order to develop a protocol for 

standardised practices in the unit/ward
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Anal dynamic graciloplasty - H Hill NRCAHI 1998 2,800 1 year Anal dynamic graciloplasty is a surgical technique offering
quality of life post-operatively people the possibility of restoring bowel continence. The study 

measured the impact of dynamic graciloplasty on the daily lives of 
people in Australia who have had this surgery in terms of 

quality of life

Comparison of B Alpriandi-Costa Hewlett Packard 24,000 Compare continuous vectorcardiography (MIDA) system compared
vectorcardiography and ST to the 12 lead ST segment monitor (Mortara) for the ability to 
segment monitoring in acute accurately detect the occurrence and duration of ischaemia in
coronary syndromes acute coronary syndromes

A pilot study into the effect of K So 1999 1 year Determine whether preparation of the skin by washing with either 
skin preparation in the genital E Higson soap and water or with antibacterial body wash (brand 
area to reduce the rate of D Vasilareas Microsheild) will help to reduce the rate of catheterisation-related  
catheterisation-related urinary urinary tract infections
tract infection on patients’ 
undergoing Bacillus 
Calmette-Guerin (BCG) 
instillation for superficial 
transitional cell carcinoma of 
the bladder

Clinical variance in pressure C Sharp NRCAHI 1998 2,000 1 year Identify the approaches to the assessment of patients at risk, 
ulcer care M Broadbent prevention of the development and treatment of existing 

H Casey pressure ulcers and the documentation used throughout this  
M Cummins process in CSAHS

A Archer
A Merriman

B Leelarthaepin
G Burr

C Carey

RESEARCH: INSTITUTE OF DENTAL RESEARCH, UNITED DENTAL HOSPITAL

Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Infection control monitoring N Hunter Dental Board 1999 341,691 3 years Employ quantitative molecular probe analysis of microbial 
NA Jacques of NSW contamination within the dental surgery environment
DWS Harty

FE Martin

Microscopy equipment N Hunter University of 1999 55,183 1 year Purchase of histology and microscopy  
NA Jacques Sydney major equipment for tissue-based studies
DWS Harty equipment grant

FE Martin

Incubator-Shaker for production NA Jacques Ramaciotti 1999 10,000 1 year Equipment to facilitate the production of recombinant proteins
of recombinant proteins DWS Harty Foundation

N Hunter

Characterisation of a M Paramaesvaran NHMRC 1995 95,000 4 years A study of the destructive lesion of chronic periodontis has 
vascular-disruptive protein from N Hunter Biomedical highlighted the prominence of the vascular response and the 
Porphyromonas gingivalis JR Gibbins Scholarship unproductive attempts to form new blood vessels.  

The capacity of bacterial products to drive these responses will 
NHMRC 1996 196,475 3 years be studied in a model system

The role of B lymphocyte N Hunter Australian Dental 1996 15,000 3 years Activation and death of immunoglobulin-producing cells is being 
activation in chronic periodontitis W Massey Research reproduced in laboratory models which have emphasised

Foundation the particular role of cells involved in the first level of 
innate immunity in chronic periodontitis
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Project Researchers Funding Date $ Duration Brief

Characterisation of macrophage C Chapple NHMRC 1997 71,250 3 years Advanced destructive lesions of chronic periodontitis display 
function related to chronic Biomedical evidence of failure of local immune response and of repair 
periodontitis Scholarship mechanisms. Preliminary analysis indicates that tissue

macrophages are unresponsive
C Chapple Dental Board 1997 14,850 3 years
N Hunter of NSW

Modulation of macrophage K Nguyen NHMRC 1998 95,000 4 years Chronic periodontitis is characterised by vascular pathology and
functions by a  Biomedical the extensive accumulations of unresponsive macrophages. 
proteinase-adhesin complex Scholarship These changes were modelled in tissue culture by the study of the 
isolated from Porphyromonas action of bacterial products in perturbing leukocyte function
gingivalis K Nguyen Australian Dental 1997 12,000 3 years

N Hunter Research
Foundation

Structural analysis of the A Cameron Australian Dental 1997 18,000 3 years Formation of the secondary palate is critically mediated by the 
epithelial seam in palatal fusion JR Gibbins Research fusion of apposing palatal shelves to form a midline epithelial 

N Hunter Foundation seam and the subsequent dispersion of the seam to allow tissue
confluence. The study will provide fine detail of the process 

Mechanisms of A Bloch-Zupan NHMRC-INSERM 1998 154,892 2 years Analyse the process of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and 
epithelial-mesenchymal define the nature of the key changes in gene expression with 
transition in palatogenesis reference to cytoskeletal elements. The experiments described 

in this proposal attempt to determine the existence of a 
Cytokeratin expression profile in JR Gibbins Australian Dental 1998 10,000 2 years control mechanism in development
oral epithelia related to stages N Hunter Research
of development Foundation

Microbial predictors for the FE Martin NHMRC 1997 71,250 3 years Develop preliminary findings that the black-pigmented 
clinical treatment of deep carious Biomedical bacteriodes group of anaerobic pathogens are strongly associated 
lesions Scholarship with destructive inflammation of dental pulp tissue

FE Martin Australian Dental 1998 16,000 2 years
N Hunter Research

Foundation

Biosys 2000 NA Jacques University of 1998 38,000 1 year Equipment grant for designer-purification of proteins 
N Hunter Sydney in projects at the institute

DWS Harty
WA Relf

JR Gibbins
W Massey

NA Jacques Ramaciotti 1998 35,000 1 year
N Hunter Foundation

DWS Harty
WA Relf
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CSAHS once again achieved significant savings in its water usage,

although not as substantial as projected. This was due to an

increase in production in Concord Hospital’s laundry from 90 to 120

tonnes per week, and draining water tanks as a result of the

Sydney Water alerts.

Reduced water usage was achieved due to the following initatives:

• installing drift eliminators on cooling towers

• using shade cloth on cooling towers to prevent substantial loss

of water due to evaporation, and installing flow control valves

at all refurbished areas at Royal Prince Alfred and Canterbury

hospitals

• removal of automatic flush systems in urinals

• installing new cooling towers at Concord Hospital

• 100 per cent condensate return to two 6Mw boilers at RPA, and

• repairing water leaks at the Queen Mary building swimming 

pool and Queen Elizabeth II basement.

WATER CONSERVATION
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$25,000 and over

Aljesal Educational Service

All Saints Parish Church Belmore

AMP Foundation 

Campsie Rotary Club

Campsie RSL Club

Canterbury-Hurlstone Park RSL Club

Clints Crazy Bargains

Concord Hospital Volunteer Service 
Auxiliary Inc

Foundation IV

Johnson & Johnson Pacific Pty Ltd

Nine Network Australia

Skylark Records Pty Ltd

St George Foundation

J Thame 

Western Suburbs Soccer Club Ltd

Westpac Banking Corporation

$5,000 and over

Belmore RSL Club

C Bloch

PM Bloomfield

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

F Doull

JF Foley

L Furness

RW Gillespie

Grace Bros Staff Aid to Charities

Henry H Roth Charitable Foundation 

A Hertzberg

Hewlett Packard

Hoechst Marion Roussel

Honda Foundation

Kanematsu Australia

R & R Konig

D Koorey

Lakemba Services Club

I Langbein

Liver Support Group Inc

Louis Vuitton Australia Pty Ltd

Medtronic Australasia

J Nelson 

DJ Ramik Pty 

$500 and over

J Abboud

ACP Publishing Pty Ltd

Abigail Pty Ltd

AGL Company Foundation

Air New Zealand

C Angilley

Annabelle Bits Pty Ltd

Armass Pty Ltd 

M Arron 

L Au

Australian Association Adolescent Health 

Avco Finance Pty Ltd 

M Aylward 

L Baldwin 

Bankstown Lions Club 

Baradine Bowling Club

S Baraket 

J Bates 

M Beazley

Beiersdorf Australia Ltd

Belmore RSL Club 

Belmore Women’s Bowling Club

Big House Pty Ltd

M Bookallil

Bounty Services Pty Ltd

J & D Boxall 

M Bramley

J & M Brennan

D Brentnall 

V Bud 

Burraga Bush Fire Brigade

Burwood RSL Club 

Anthony Bushelle Graphics

KJ Byers

G & I Caldwell

Campsie Inner Wheel Club 

Campsie South Bowling Club 

Canterbury Hospital Ball Committee 

Canterbury Hospital Volunteer Association 

Cearle Pty Ltd

Centra Pty Ltd

Cinemas Pty Ltd 

Mr & Mrs Cleary 

Client Support Services

G Connellan

R Corlett 

B Cox

GG Crane

Crestwood High School 

M Cvetkovski

G D’Agostino

Damba Pty Ltd

David Andrews Investments 

Defence Force 

Diasonics Pty Ltd

S Domberger

Douwe Egberts Pty Ltd 

Dub Pty Ltd

R & A Dubos 

Earlwood-Bardwell Park RSL Club

I Eleven

Elgas Pty Ltd 

Eli Lily Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd 

P Elliott

Emmanuel Investments

Endeavour Credit Union

J Eris

Ernst & Young

Family Productions 

I Fisscher

LA & M Franco

Friedreich’s Ataxia Association 

honour roll of donors
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Friends of Canterbury Hospital 

Fugen Holding Pty

J Furness

M Furness

E Gallur 

Gerling Global Reinsurance

T Ghossein

P & S Giokaris 

A Giovas 

WD Glass

Glaxo Wellcome

Global Education Designs Pty Ltd

Mr & Mrs Gould 

H Goulder

N Grace

Graham Group 

A & C Green 

C Gustin

Dagmar Halas

P Hartin 

Hewlett Packard Australia 

Hills North West Development 

A Hiscock

Inner Wheel Club

S Jassal

Jindabyne Golf Club 

A Kannagara

B Kazzi

Kellog’s Australia 

E Kelly

M Khadra 

Ann Kidd Memorial Trust 

Kinder Jazz Concert 

Kingsgrove RSL Club 

Kingsgrove RSL Sub Branch 

Kingsgrove RSL Women’s Auxiliary 

Korean Lions Club 

Ladies Auxiliary Summer Hill 

A Lalak 

J Laws 

E Lazzaro 

Edith Lemke

WMP Leung

D Libling 

Lin Corporate Pty Ltd

Lions Club City of Ryde

Lions Club of Parramatta

R Loblay

V Loblay 

J Lumby 

G Looby 

Lymphoma Group Inc 

Manildra Group 

C McDonald Pty Ltd

AWD McIntyre

CJ McLean Kaye 

JS McMillan Printing

Merck Sharp and Dohme 

A M Middleton 

Millennium Hotel Pty Ltd

Minter Ellison Solicitors 

Mitterdorfer 

S Moding 

Mulligan Practice Pty Ltd

FM Musty

A Napoletana

M Ng

North Sydney Hotel 

R & A Norton 

Novartis Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd

Marcel Novelton

NSW College of Nursing 

NSW Department of Community Services 

NSW Police Service

Organon Australia Pty

Pacific Dunlop Limited 

Pammissemnian Society 

C Parnell 

J Paviour-Smith

Payne Family Group of Companies 

Pearl Construction Pty

A Penney

SJ & JG Penney

Penshurts RSL Club

T Perkins

Permanent Trustee Foundation 

RF & J Perry

Petersham Bowling Club

Karen Peterson

S Pettinato 

M Phillips

A Ploskodniak

R Potter 

Punchbowl Ex-Services and Community Club 

Quirindi Bootscooters

RAAF Bankstown Association 

RAAF St George Branch

W Ragg

DJ Ramik Pty

Rhone-Poulenc Rorer Australia Pty Ltd

S Richards 

Robertson Support Group 

Roche 

W Roe

Roselands Bowling Club 

Roselands VIP Association 

H Rovolas 

Schering-Plough Pty Ltd 

L T Schiemer

H Schneiders

C Seeto

W Seeto

Selby Medical Trust

Serviced Office Holdings Trade

E St John 

J St John

S Stenning 
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Sunbeam Electric 

Sunshine Foundation 

S Swan 

Sydney Orchid Society

R Thomas

B Tong

DP Tornaros

Trinity Grammar School 

Tucker Seabrook Australia Pty Ltd 
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CSAHS Appendices  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 114



glossglossary

ACAT Aged Care Assessment Team

Accrual accounting recognises revenues and expenses in the

accounting period in which goods and services are provided or

consumed, rather than in periods where cash is received or paid.

In addition, it provides information on the assets and liabilities of

an economic entity

ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards

ACLS Advanced Cardiac Life Support

Adjusted daily average is a comprehensive measure of the average

daily patient workload of a healthcare facility.  It is the daily

average of admitted patients plus an equivalent conversion factor

for non-inpatient occasions of service and neonatal activity

Admission is the process by which a person commences a period of

hospital inpatient care

AFCHSE Associate Fellow Australian College of Health Service

Executives

Ambulatory care is any form of care other than as a hospital

inpatient

AM Member of the Order of Australia

AMI Acute Myocardial Infraction

AMS Aboriginal Medical Service

ANCARD Australian National Council on AIDS Related Diseases

ANDRG Australian National Diagnosis Related Grouping

ANLTU Australian National Liver Transplantation Unit 

AO Officer of the Order of Australia

ASMOF Australian Salaried Medical Officers Federation

Average length of stay is the average number of days each

admitted patient stays in hospital. This is calculated by dividing the

total number of occupied bed days for the period by the number of

actual separations in the period

BDS Bachelor of Dental Surgery

Bed days are the total number of bed days of all admitted patients

accommodated during the period being reported taken from the

count of the number of inpatients at midnight (approximately) each

day. Details for same-day patients are also recorded as occupied

bed days where one occupied bed day is counted for each same-

day patient

Best practice is identifying and matching the best performance 

of others

BS Bachelor of Surgery

BSc (Med) Bachelor of Science (Medicine)

Casemix builds useful classifications of patient care episodes and

makes use of patient care classifications to manage healthcare

CCIS Central Sydney Area Health Service clinical information

system

CDH community dental health

CEIDA Centre for Education and Information on Drugs and Alcohol

CERA Centre for Education and Research on Ageing

Chargeable patients are any admitted patient or registered non-

inpatient for whom a charge can be raised by a hospital or area

health service for the provision of healthcare

CHATA Community Health and Anti-Tuberculosis Association

CHD coronary heart disease

CHERE Centre for Health Economic Research and Evaluation

CISC Clinician Information System Consortium project

CJD Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease

Clinical pathways are a systematic approach to achieving particular

outcomes for an inpatient, by identifing the resources required in

amount and sequence for each type of case

CQI continuous quality improvement is an organisational ethos of

continuous improvement by seeking users’ service requirements

and ensuring the organisation is capable of meeting them. Quality

management focuses on improving the processes by which services

or products are produced, as well as the quality of the service or

product itself

CSA community service announcement

115
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CSAHS Central Sydney Area Health Service

CSAMHS Central Sydney Area Mental Health Services

CSLS Central Sydney Laboratory Service

CSSS Central Sydney Supply Service

CT scanner computed tomography scanner

CVE cerebrovascular embolisation

DRGs diagnostic related groups are the best known Casemix

system. They are designed to classify every acute inpatient episode

from admission to discharge into one of approximately 500 coding

classes. Each group contains only patients who have similar clinical

conditions and treatment costs

DObstRCOG Diploma Royal College of Obstetricians and

Gynaecologists

DPhil Doctor of Philosophy

DSA digital subtraction angiography

EAPS Ethnic Affairs Priority Statement

ED emergency department

EEO equal employment opportunity

ENIOOS equivalent non-inpatient occasions of service

ENT ear, nose and throat

EQuIP evaluation and quality improvement program

FAA Fellow Australian Academy of Science

FAFPHM Fellow Australian Faculty of Public Health Medicine

FAOrthA Fellow Australian Orthopaedic Association

FICD Fellow International College of Dentists

FOI Freedom of Information

FRACMA Fellow Royal Australian College of Medical

Administrators

FRACOG Fellow Royal Australian College of Obstetricians and

Gynaecologists

FRACP Fellow Royal Australasian College of Physicians; Fellow

Royal Australian College of Pathologists

FRACR Fellow Royal Australasian College of Radiologists

FRACS Fellow Royal Australian College of Surgeons

FRANZCP Fellow Royal Australian and New Zealand College of

Psychiatrists

FRCOG Fellow Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

FRCP Fellow Royal College of Physicians

FRCPA Fellow Royal College of Pathologists Australasia

FRCR Fellow Royal College of Radiologists

FTS Fellow Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and

Engineering

GDC gugliemi detatchable coil

GGRM General, Geriatric and Rehabilitation Medicine

GIT gastrointestinal tract

GPC General Practice Casualty

HCIS Health Care Interpreter Service

HERC Health Economic Reform Committee

HIV/AIDS Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immune

Deficiency Syndrome

HRDS Human Resource Development Service

HREA Health and Research Employees Association

HRIS Human Resources Information System

ICAC Independent Commission Against Corruption

ICU intensive care unit

Inpatient a person who is admitted to hospital

ISD Information Systems Division

ISIS Imaging Services Information System

IVF in-vitro fertilisation

JRRU Joint Replacement and Rheumatology Unit

JSN John Spence Nursery
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LGA local government area

LTO life threatening only

KGV King George V Memorial Hospital for Mothers and Babies

MB Bachelor of Medicine

MD Doctor of Medicine

MDAAC Medical and Dental Appointments Advisory Committee

MHCASC Mental Health Classification and Service Costs project

MHP Master of Health Planning, University of NSW

MONAHP Medical Officer Nursing and Allied Health Science

Training Project (PNG)

MRI magnetic resonance imaging

MS Master of Surgery

MSc(Soc) Master of Science and Society

NAHOU Needs Assessment and Health Outcomes Unit

NDEMS Neurodegenerative Disorders Education and 

Management Service

NESB non-English speaking background

NETS neonatal and paediatric emergency transport services

NGO non-government organisation

NHMRC National Health and Medical Research Council

NHTAP National Health Technology Assessment Panel

NIOOS non-inpatient occasions of service. Services provided to

clients/patients without being admitted to hospital, such as

emergency and outpatient departments and community health 

NRCAHI Nursing Research Centre for Adaptation in Health 

and Illness

NSAHS Northern Sydney Area Health Service

NSWNA New South Wales Nurses’ Association

ODEOPE Office of the Director of Equal Opportunity in 

Public Employment

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

OHS&R Occupational Health, Safety and Rehabilitation

OPSCA orientation programs to specialty clinical areas

PADP provision of appliances for disabled people

PANOC physical abuse and neglect of children

PAS Patient Administration System/Priority Access Strategy

PC personal computer

PET positron emission tomography

PhD Doctor of Philosophy

PHO public health officer

PHRDC Public Health Research Development Committee

PND post natal depression

PSA Public Service Association

Quality indicator a measure of performance that reflects how well

a process is delivering a service to a customer and meeting their

needs

RACO Royal Australian College of Ophthalmologists

RACOG Royal Australian College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists

RF Rachel Forster Hospital

RPA Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

RTP Resource Transition Program

SCC Sydney Cancer Centre

SNAP National Sub-Acute and Non-Acute Classification Project

Staff EFT Equivalent full-time staff (or FTE)

TAPA Tobacco Advertising Prohibition Act 1991

TB Tuberculosis

TSSU Theatres Sterilising Supply Service

UAP unstable angina pectoris

UDH United Dental Hospital

UWS University of Western Sydney 

WHO World Health Organisation

YIPI Year 2000 Integrated Patient Information

Source: NSW Health, Who’s Who in Australia 1999
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Aboriginal mental health services 36,37

Aboriginal health 10,12,22,39,78

admissions 5,18-22,26-29,32,33,36,38,40,41,93

adolescent and family care 8

Aged care services 8,14,18,43,45

Allied Health 42,45

ANZAC Foundation 17,68,76,79,106

area health services 1,4,8,22,23,31,43,46,56,60,72-74,76

asset management 15

asthma 40

Australian Council on Healthcare Standards 4,18,21,29,47,95

available beds 5,18-22,26,93

awards 23,36,39,49,50,55

Balmain Hospital 7,8,18,33,34,51,56,91,103

bed capacity 5,93

bed occupancy rate 5,18-22,26,93

board 6,7,10,11,43,47,48,55,97

Bone, Joint & Connective Tissue Service 7,27

BreastScreen NSW Central and Eastern Sydney 28

budget 6,16,28,47,59-62,72,73,88,95

Burns Unit 50

Cancer Service 7,13,28,95

Canterbury Hospital 4,7,8,11,18,19,22,30-35,38,41,49,50,51,

55,56,92,95,96,111

capital works 6,16,96

cardiology 19,20,29

cardiovascular disease 29

Cardiovascular Services 29

Casemix 42

Centre for Education and Information on Drugs and Alcohol 

(CEIDA) 7,8,24,76

Cellblock Youth Health Centre 8,31

Central Clinical School 4

Central Sydney Laboratory Service 4,30,58

Central Sydney Supply Service (CSSS) 56,57,95

chairman 6,10,11

chief executive officer 6,7,10,54,55,61,95

Clinical Education Centre 45

clinical groups 16,27-41,47

community health facilities 8,92

Community Health Services 22,33,39,42,56

Concord Repatriation General Hospital 4,6-8,17-19,24,56-58,91,

95,96,105-109,111

Connexions 24

Corporate Services 52-57

corporate objectives 12-15

CSAHS executive 7,55

Dame Eadith Walker Hospital 8,17,21,55,91

day-stay 26,41

Dental Services 7,31

deputy chief executive officer 7,95

dermatology 28

diabetes 18,24,29,34

disability services 44

disaster plan 96

Division of General Practice 7,18,24,25,34,44,101

Division of Population Health 7,22,23,56

Drug & Alcohol Services 7,13,15,39

early childhood health 8,23

elective surgery 4,6,14

emergency department 4,14,18,40

Employee Recognition Program 55

endocrinology 27,29,30,41

equal employment opportunity 52,96,116

EQuIP 12,43,47,116

equity of access 14

Ethnic Affairs Priority Statement 43

Eversleigh Hospital 69,75
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executive staff 7,95,96

faciomaxillary surgery 27

Faculty of Medicine 11,19

financial statements 50,59-94

Freedom of Information 55-57,116

fundraising 49-51,59,62,86,88

future objectives 12

Gastroenterology and Liver Services 7,32

General Practice 11,13,18,24,25,34,44,95,102

general manager 7,18-22,25

General, Geriatric and Rehabilitation Medicine 33,55,116

Gladstone Hall 8

Glebe Annexe 33

glossary 115-117

gynaecological oncology 28

head and neck surgery 21,28,38

Health Care Interpreter Service (HCIS) 43

Health Promotion 3,5,8,22,23,25,39,43,46,101

Health Services Development and Planning 46

HealthQuest 7,8,25,56,76

Hepatitis C 13,20,23,32,39,46,95,102,108

HIV/AIDS 5,23,27,37,43,46,116

honour roll of donors 112-114

Human Resources 12,116

Imaging Services 7,35,116

immunology 27,30,45,99,100

Industrial Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) 55,116

Infection control 31,48,108,109

infectious diseases 13,40

Information Systems 15,35,58,116

inpatients 5,13,37,41,78,93,115

Institute of Dental Research 44,109,110

internal audit 7,54,55

key indicators 18-36,38-42

King George V Hospital (KGV) 4,6,8,21,41,51,117

length of stay 18-22,26,28,41,48

medical oncology 28

Mental Health Services 7,10,12,21,36,37,39,46,92,95,101,103,104

mission 2,12

multicultural health 14,22,39,43

NAHOU 22,39,117

Neurosciences 7,38,45

newsworks 50,55

non-government organisations 46,56,75,94,96

NSW Institute of Forensic Medicine 7,8,20,56,91

NSW Institute of Sports Medicine 27

NSW Minister for Health 7,10,18,26,31,50

NSW Health 2,4,7,12,13,15,18,30,34,35,38,39,46-50,

53-55,61,68,69,71-73,81,82,85,87,94,101,102,117

NSW Government 10,43

nursing 5,10,11,14,20,23,38,45,93,95,96,101,103,108,117

occasions of service 5,14,23,27-33,35,38,40-42,93

occupational health & safety 18,53,96,117

operating theatres 5,17,18,27,50

operations 11,57,62,90

organisation structure 7

Our Lady of Loreto Nursing Home 25,33,49,54,69,75

outcomes 12-15,22,28,41,46,48,101-105,115

outpatients 5,51,78,93

paediatrics 19,32,41,45,49

palliative care 28,49

patient details 93

performance indicators 30,47,48

plastic and reconstructive surgery 27

Population Health and Drug & Alcohol Services 7,39,44,56,101,102

Priority Access Strategy 117

Public Affairs & Marketing 49,50

Public Health Unit 22,23,39

CSAHS Appendices  11/29/99  4:24 PM  Page 119



indexindex120

Quality Improvement 12,38,43,47,48

Rachel Forster Hospital 5,8,17,21,27,55,56,91,117

radiation oncology 28,50

rehabilitation 18,25,27,33,36,37,78,96

renal 21,29,30,108

research 3,4,6,17,20-22,24,28-30,33,36,38-42,44-46,50,51,

78,86,95,98-110

Resource Transition Program (RTP) 1,4-6,15,16,22,23,28,29,31,

40,45,49,57,58,60,70,96,116

RTP News 49,50

Respiratory and Critical Care Services 7,40

rheumatology 5,16,17,21,27

Rivendell 8,12,36,37

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (RPA) 6-8,16,17,20,21,28-30,32,42,

45,49,50,56,91,95,97-100,111,117

Rozelle Hospital 7,8,12,21,22,24,31,36,37,56,91,101

RPA series 21,49

sexual health 5,13,41,46,55,95,102

sleep disorders clinic 40

smoking 4,13,23,44,100,102,103

staff 1,3-6,10,13,16-36,38-43,45,47-55,69,74,86,93,95,103,104,117

stroke 24,33,38,106,107

students 19,20,22,31,45

Sydney Breast Cancer Foundation 51

Sydney Breast Cancer Institute 28

Sydney Cancer Centre 28,49-51,117

Sydney Melanoma Unit 28

teaching 28,31,78

teaching hospitals 36,44

telemedicine 106

Thomas Walker Hospital 8,17,36

Torres Strait Islander 5,8,12,46,52

trauma 27

Tresillian Family Care Centres 7,25,26,56,69,75

Treasurer’s Report 60

tuberculosis 23,40,99,102,115,117

United Dental Hospital 5,7,8,17,22,31,35,57,68,91,95-97,109,

110,117

University of Sydney 4,11,19,20,22,28,31,38,42,45

University of Western Sydney 26,117

urology 13,28

veterans 19,21,27,33,44,105,107

vision 2,12

volunteers 6,50,51

waiting lists 4,6,14

water conservation 111

Women’s and Children’s Health 7,41,51

women’s health 22,39

year 2000 15,35,54,58,95,96,117

youth services 15,46,95
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1st floor, building 11

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital campus

Missenden Road

Camperdown NSW 2050

Telephone: +61 2 9515 9600

Facsimile: +61 2 9515 9611

E-mail: centreg@exec.cs.nsw.gov.au

CSAHS website: www.cs.nsw.gov.au
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The Cental Sydney Area Health Service 1998/99 Annual Report

seeks to present critical performance information in a candid,

transparent and reader-friendly manner.

Prepared against the criteria set out by NSW Health, and Annual

Report Awards Inc, it is benchmarked against reports from other

leading Australian businesses each year.
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cost of $6.60 per copy in accordance with the following NSW

Health guidelines:
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